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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Investors are cautioned that such 
forward-looking statements are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to our management and involve 
risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements include statements regarding our plans, strategies, objectives, expectations and intentions, which are 
subject to change at any time at our discretion. Forward-looking statements include our assessment from time to time of our competitive position, the 
industry environment, potential growth opportunities, the effects of regulation and events outside of our control, such as natural disasters, wars or health 
epidemics. Forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historical facts and can be identified by terms such as “anticipates,” “believes,” 
“could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “hopes,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “projects,” “should,” “will,” “would” or similar expressions.
 

Forward-looking statements are merely predictions and therefore inherently subject to uncertainties and other factors which could cause the actual 
results to differ materially from the forward-looking statement. These uncertainties and other factors include, among other things:
 
● unexpected technical and marketing difficulties inherent in major research and product development efforts;
  
● our ability to remain a market innovator, to create new market opportunities, and/or to expand into new markets;
  
● the potential need for changes in our long-term strategy in response to future developments;
  
● our ability to attract and retain skilled employees;
  
● our ability to raise sufficient capital to support our operations and fund our growth initiatives;
  
● unexpected changes in significant operating expenses, including components and raw materials;
  
● any disruptions or threatened disruptions to our relations with our resellers, suppliers, customers and employees, including shortages in components 

for our products;
  
● changes in the supply, demand and/or prices for our products;
  
● the complexities and uncertainty of obtaining and conducting international business, including export compliance and other reporting and compliance 

requirements;
  
● the impact of potential security and cyber threats or the risk of unauthorized access to our, our customers’ and/or our suppliers’ information and 

systems;
  
● changes in the regulatory environment and the consequences to our financial position, business and reputation that could result from failing to 

comply with such regulatory requirements;
  
● our ability to continue to successfully integrate acquired companies into our operations, including the ability to timely and sufficiently integrate 

international operations into our ongoing business and compliance programs;
  
● failure to develop new products or integrate new technology into current products;
  
● unfavorable results in legal proceedings to which we may be subject;
  
● failure to establish and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting; and
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● general economic and business conditions in the United States and elsewhere in the world, including the impact of inflation.
 

You should refer to Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of important factors that may cause our 
actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking statements. As a result of the risks, uncertainties and assumptions 
described under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere, we cannot assure you that the forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K will prove to 
be accurate. Furthermore, if our forward-looking statements prove to be inaccurate, the inaccuracy may be material. In light of the significant uncertainties 
in these forward-looking statements, you should not regard these statements as a representation or warranty by us or any other person that we will achieve 
our objectives and plans in any specified time frame or at all.
 

You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the 
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, levels of activity, performance, or events and circumstances 
reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur. We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements for 
any reason after the date of this report to conform these statements to new information, actual results or changes in our expectations, except as required by 
law.
 

The forward-looking statements contained in this report are based on our current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments and their 
potential effects on us. There can be no assurance that future developments affecting us will be those that we have anticipated. These forward-looking 
statements involve a number of risks, uncertainties (some of which are beyond our control) or other assumptions that may cause actual results or 
performance to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but are 
not limited to, those factors described under the heading “Risk Factors.” Should one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should any of our 
assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary in material respects from those projected in these forward-looking statements. We undertake no 
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required 
under applicable securities laws.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.
 
Overview
 

DIH Holding US, Inc., a Delaware corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries  are referred to in this Form 10-K as "we," “our,” “us,” the 
“Company,” or “DIH.” DIH is a global provider of advanced robotic devices used in physical rehabilitation, which incorporate visual stimulation in an 
interactive manner to enable clinical research and intensive functional rehabilitation and training in patients with walking impairments, reduced balance 
and/or impaired arm and hand functions. We strive to serve the rehabilitation market by providing a broad array of  devices and services focused on the 
customer and patient recovery. DIH stands for our vision to “Deliver Inspiration & Health” to improve the daily lives of millions of people with disabilities 
and functional impairments.

DIH offers innovative, robotic-enabled rehabilitation devices in an interactive environment. These solutions allow for intensive rehabilitation across 
the spectrum of patient specific levels of care, while also tracking patients’ progress and providing a network of collaboration and encouragement. DIH is 
dedicated to restoring mobility and enhancing human performance through a broad array of devices that can enable the transformation of rehabilitation care 
at our customers. Our revenue is concentrated in Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) and Americas, with the remaining revenue in Asia Pacific 
(“APAC”).

 
Corporate History

DIH Technology Ltd. (“DIH Cayman”) was founded in 2014 by Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Jason Chen, with the belief that synergies 
could be created by integrating the niche players in the rehabilitation therapy and research markets to build a global leading growth platform. As part of this 
strategy, in April 2015, DIH Hong Kong, a wholly owned subsidiary of DIH Cayman, acquired Motek ForceLink B.V. and its subsidiaries (together 
“Motek" or "Motek Group"), a Netherlands-based technology leader in sophisticated VR-enabled movement platforms that set the standards for human 
movement research and treatment; and in September 2016 acquired Hocoma AG (“Hocoma”), a Switzerland-based global market leader in the 
development, manufacturing and marketing of robotic and sensor-based devices for functional movement therapy.

Subsequently, DIH Hong Kong organized Motek ForceLink and Hocoma under a global management framework, with the purpose of building a 
scalable global business blending the technical, product and market strengths of those two firms to create a scalable and fully aligned global growth and 
operational bases that can be leveraged for rapid growth.

Prior to the reverse recapitalization with Aurora Technology Acquisition Corp. (“ATAK”) and the reorganization, DIH Cayman owned 100% of DIH 
Hong Kong and DIH Hong Kong owned 100% of various operating entities including the manufacturing entities Hocoma AG and Motek Group. Hocoma 
AG was the sole owner of five commercial selling entities located in the United States, Chile, Slovenia, Germany, and Singapore.  The commercial entities 
had exclusive rights to distribute the goods produced by Hocoma AG and Motek Group. While the business under DIH Cayman historically functioned 
together, they maintained largely independent management teams and did not rely on corporate or other support functions from DIH Cayman.   

On October 6, 2020, Hocoma AG created a new wholly owned subsidiary, DIH US Corp, a Delaware entity. The purpose of DIH US Corp was to 
own 100% of the commercial selling entities. On May 31, 2021, Hocoma AG completed the share transfer of commercial entities to DIH US Corp.

On June 2, 2021, DIH Cayman formed a wholly owned subsidiary, DIH Holding US Inc., a Nevada Corporation (“Legacy DIH” or “DIH Nevada”). 
This entity was established to serve as a US-based holding company, to which assets could be transferred, setting the foundation for the future of the 
Company, which would eventually engage in the Business Combination with ATAK. 

On June 21, 2021, Hocoma AG formed another wholly owned subsidiary, Hocoma Medical GmbH.  The purpose of Hocoma Medical GmbH was to 
transfer the net assets of Hocoma AG, excluding intellectual property and non-transferable debt, and then sell the entity and its assets to DIH Nevada, for 
inclusion in the foundation of the future Company.
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On July 1, 2021, DIH Cayman completed a series of reorganization steps to transfer DIH US Corp and its subsidiaries from Hocoma AG to DIH 
Nevada, effectively creating the Company. Hocoma AG entered into the following transactions:

1. Hocoma AG sold 100% of its share ownership of DIH US Corp to DIH Nevada, for $7.8 million.

2. Hocoma AG sold its net assets, excluding third-party debt and intellectual property, to Hocoma Medical GmbH for a $10.5 million 
intercompany note between Hocoma AG and Hocoma Medical GmbH.

3. Hocoma AG sold its intellectual property to DIH Technology Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of DIH US Corp) for $1.6 million.

4. Hocoma AG then sold the share ownership of Hocoma Medical GmbH to DIH Nevada for $10.5 million.

However, on July 1, 2021, the former shareholders of Hocoma AG applied for and were granted an ex-parte preliminary injunctions by a Swiss 
district court. The injunctions prohibited Hocoma AG to transfer any business or assets to Hocoma Medical, and as well as the sale of Hocoma Medical 
from DIH Hong Kong to the Company. Consequently, Hocoma AG and its shareholders challenged these preliminary injunctions through their Swiss 
counsels at Homburger. On January 12, 2024, the court revoked the preliminary injunctions granted on July 1, 2021. Therefore, the injunctions no longer 
have any legal effect on the contribution of the business/assets of Hocoma AG to Hocoma Medical and the transfer of the ownership of Hocoma Medical 
GmbH to the Company. Hocoma Medical GmbH, including the business/assets transferred by Hocoma AG, became a wholly-owned subsidiary of DIH 
Nevada as of July 1, 2021. 

DIH Cayman intended to transfer Hocoma AG (remaining assets and liabilities) and Motek Group to DIH Nevada pursuant to the Business 
Combination Agreement. However, DIH Cayman was subject to a lien in Hong Kong related to DIH China, a company formed in the People’s Republic of 
China (“DIH China”) and a wholly owned subsidiary of DIH Hong Kong. The lien was filed on July 31, 2021 on the immediate parent company of 
Hocoma AG and Motek Group and prevented the transfer of Hocoma AG and Motek Group. This matter is currently under review by local authorities and 
DIH Cayman is working to facilitate the completion of the intended transfer.

While the Company’s businesses have historically functioned together with the other businesses controlled by DIH Cayman, the Company’s 
businesses are largely isolated and not co-dependent on corporate or other support functions.  DIH Hong Kong is a wholly-owned subsidiary of DIH 
Cayman and the Company was a wholly-owned subsidiary of DIH Cayman prior to closing of the Business Combination. 

In October 2022, DIH Nevada acquired the SafeGait 360 and SafeGait Active smart mobility trainer systems from Gorbel, an innovative United 
States-based developer and manufacturer of smart material handling and fall protection equipment. The SafeGait acquisition was accounted for as an asset 
acquisition based on an evaluation of the U.S. GAAP guidance for business combinations.

Organization structure immediately prior to the Business Combination

Immediately before closing of the Business Combination, DIH Nevada was a wholly owned subsidiary of DIH Cayman. DIH Nevada held 100% 
ownership of DIH US Corp, which in turn owned the commercial entities. Additionally, DIH Nevada held 100% ownership of Hocoma Medical GmbH, 
which contained the net assets transferred from Hocoma AG.

DIH maintained exclusive distributor agreements with Motek Group for its advanced human movement research and rehabilitation products and 
services designed to support efficient functional movement therapy within specified territories. Under the distribution agreements, Motek supplied the 
products and services to the Company at the prices detailed in the agreement, with the Company entitled to a distributor margin. 

 
Business Combination

On February 7, 2024 (the “Closing Date”), Aurora Technology Acquisition Corp. a Cayman Island exempted company which migrated and 
domesticated as a Delaware corporation (“ATAK”), Aurora Technology Merger Sub, a Nevada corporation and a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of ATAK 
(“Merger Sub”) and DIH Nevada consummated a previously announced business combination pursuant to a business agreement dated as of February 26, 
2023 (as 
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amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Business Combination Agreement,” and the transactions contemplated thereby, the 
“Business Combination”) following the receipt of the required approval by ATAK’s and DIH Nevada’s shareholders and the fulfillment or waiver of other 
customary closing conditions. In connection with the Closing, ATAK migrated and changed its domestication to become a Delaware corporation and 
changed its name to “DIH Holding US, Inc.” The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of DIH authorizes one class of common stock as 
Class A Common Stock ("Common Stock"). 

The historical financial results presented in the registration statements were prepared on a combined basis including Legacy DIH, Hocoma AG and
Motek Group pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement for the intended  Reorganization (as such term is defined in the Business Combination 
Agreement). Due to the lien on DIH Hong Kong related to DIH China, the Reorganization could not be completed as defined by the Business Combination 
Agreement, meaning that Motek Group and Hocoma AG ownership could not be transferred to the Company prior to the Closing.

In connection with the Closing of the Business Combination and in accordance with the terms of the Business Combination Agreement, ATAK 
agreed to waive the closing condition that the Reorganization be completed prior to Closing. The Company agreed to use its best efforts to complete the 
Reorganization as defined in the Business Combination Agreement as soon as possible thereafter. The Reorganization has not been completed as of the 
filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company has recast historical financial statements on a 
consolidated basis including only operations from Legacy DIH. Hocoma AG and the Motek Group remained with DIH Hong Kong and are excluded from 
the consolidation of the Company.

Upon closing of the Business Combination with ATAK, the Company owns 100% of DIH US Corp, which in turn owns the commercial entities. 
Additionally, the Company owns 100% ownership of Hocoma Medical GmbH, which contains the net assets transferred from Hocoma AG.  The Company 
maintains an exclusive distribution agreement with Motek Group as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  DIH Cayman owns approximately 
34.7% shares of common stock of the Company, including earn-out shares held in escrow account. Jason Chen, the Company's Chief Executive Officer and 
Chairman of the Board of Directors does not own any shares of DIH directly but may be deemed to have indirect ownership of DIH through his ownership 
of approximately 42% of the outstanding shares of DIH Cayman. 

The Company’s organizational chart as of the date of this report is as follows:
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Industry and Market Overview
 
Market Opportunity
 

The market for robotic devices for rehabilitation and human performance enhancement is rapidly growing. As populations age and the consequent 
demand for healthcare services increases, we expect there will be a growing need for innovative solutions that can help individuals recover from injuries 
and optimize their physical abilities. Additionally, there is a growing interest in the use of technology to enhance human performance, whether in sports or 
in everyday life.
 

DIH’s target market is composed of three major sub-markets:
 
 ■ Advanced Research Facilities (“ARFs”): which include advanced human performance labs or rehabilitation/biomedical research centers at universities 

and academic hospitals);
 ■ Inpatient rehabilitation facilities (“IRFs”) which include free standing rehabilitation hospitals and rehabilitation units in acute care hospitals);
 ■ Outpatient rehabilitation facilities (“ORFs”) which include outpatient rehabilitation clinics, skilled nursing or long-term care facilities). We are 

currently focused on the North American and European markets to accelerate market penetration, while seeking early-stage opportunities in other 
international markets for future expansion

 

For the ARF (or Research Market), our products enable thought-provoking and sophisticated simulation and evaluation of general human 
performance, and specifically focuses on dynamic gait and balance-focused movement research, through our industry-leading interactive VR platform.  The 
platform is empowered by motion capture hardware, couple with advanced human body modeling software, that creates real time visualization of the active 
participant. The integration of this technology with advanced robotics and other smart systems expands imaginative research interests. Most of the top 50 
global leading research centers in human performance and rehabilitation have adopted our technologies as the key base of their research exploration. We 
believe that by integrating leading products in biomechanical research we sourced through Motek (with which we have an exclusive distribution agreement) 
with our advanced robotics and other AI-based innovative products we could leverage clinical results with data insights to help transform protocols and 
processes in the industry related to human performance and movement disorders leading to solid growth potential in this important market segment in the 
next 5-10 years.   

For IRFs (or Hospital Market), our products enable intensive functional training in patients with walking impairments, reduced balance and/or 
impaired arm and hand functions. Functional training is the backbone of rehabilitation and aims to restore lost abilities and enhance performance through 
learning mechanisms and neuroplasticity, and thereby increase independence in daily living and quality of life. Intensive rehabilitative therapy induces 
stronger and faster functional recovery. Our advanced rehabilitation robots enable intensive therapy, even in high acuity patients, by providing physical 
assistance and mobilization to patients as needed and relieving therapists from manual workload. Gamified exercises and feedback motivating patients 
during movement therapy, interactive reports and data integration further enhance the clinical value of our advanced rehabilitation solutions.
 

For the vast ORFs (or Clinical market), we enable modern specialty rehabilitation care models that differentiate and deliver high value with better 
and consistent outcomes due to the 3i intervention approach empowered by our technology. By blending technology with innovative care models, such 
modern specialty ORFs can deliver superior values to patients and their therapists by enabling one therapist to treat multiple patients with better outcomes 
due to the intensive, interactive, and integral approach enabled by our smart solutions. By leveraging the treatment protocol established by our advanced 
robots and movements platform, we are re-configuring our solutions through modularization and further acquisitions to exploit this vast and diverse market.

 
Our Strategy
 

Physical disabilities and impairments represent significant global challenges, due to the rapid aging, increasingly severe chronic diseases, and 
prevailing traumatic injuries from accidents and wars. According to the Company’s internal analysis, each year, approximately 20 million people suffer 
from new disabilities, and it is estimated that over 300 million people are currently suffering from some form of functional impairments or disabilities 
globally. Those functional impairments or disabilities may ultimately result in multiple functional health problems, including 
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cognitive, physical, emotional and spiritual issues, imposing severe burdens to health systems and significant costs to society. Adding to this, the number of 
people aged 65 and older globally is currently approximately 1 billion, and is estimated to grow to over 1.7 billion by 2040. Approximately 87% of elders 
suffer from chronic diseases, and over 25% are exposed to additional disability risks according to the Company’s estimate.

 
According to an online article dated October 14, 2022 by Grandview Research, the global rehabilitation care market is estimated to be over $100 

billion and is extremely reliant upon manual therapies, with therapists’ payroll costing more than $50 billion. We believe that such a manually dominant
approach not only imposes a huge labor burden to therapists, but also may result in inconsistent outcomes due to a lack of consistent intensity, integration, 
standardization and optimization throughout the weeks or months of long intervention processes. Unlike a machine which can be calibrated thereby 
producing consistent therapy, we believe that manual therapy is likely to vary therapist to therapist or even patient to patient. Measurements of progress 
may also be subjective, varying from therapist to therapist which may result in a patient requiring a longer period of therapy to achieve the desired results.

 
The rapidly aging and increased chronic-suffering population trend will generate more demand for high quality rehabilitation care, while reducing the 

supply of therapists, thus adding increasing pressure and tension to the current model.
 

We believe the way out of such a undesirable and increasingly high pressure state is to transform the rehabilitation care model through integrated 
solutions empowered by our advanced technologies. The core benefits we strive to deliver to customers from our core products and solutions include:

 
1) Enhancing customers’ strategic positioning as leading rehabilitation facilities to attract higher paying patient groups by enabling them to 

attract and treat high severity and acuity patient groups, especially neurological patients;
 
2) Reducing total therapy costs by enabling the therapist to concurrently treat multiple patients, improve therapy outcome with the same time of 

stay or reduce time of stay without losing clinical efficacy;
 
3) Providing streamlined intervention processes with data insights and potential network effects;
 
4) Enabling replication and franchise established treatment protocols and best practices across chains of rehabilitation facilities;
 
5) Reducing total health system costs.
 

To build on our unique position as a global robotic and VR-enabled smart technologies and solution provider to the rehabilitation market, our 
strategic plan is to continue to expand our leadership through sustaining innovation, selective acquisitions, with continued focus on delivering superior 
value to our customers, partners, patients and other stakeholders.

 
Our strategic focus is on the following three areas:

 
 ●Leveraging our strengths in technologies and core products to continuously expand our market leadership, drive market penetration and accelerate 

growth by building intensive market penetration capability in strategic markets in the United States and Europe, enriching our product offering with 
innovative financing solution to accelerate customers adoption, and sustain our product and technology leadership with continued innovation and 
integration efforts.

   
 ●Leveraging our market leadership and global platform and infrastructure and consolidating the fragmented marketplace to drive standardization and 

economy of scale and scope. The breadth and depth of our business model and the scale advantage enables us, not only to sustain our market leadership, 
but also empowers us to act as active consolidators in the highly fragmented rehabilitation market. By complementing our organic innovation and core 
product leadership, DIH envisions executing 2-3 acquisition with the goal to acquire proven products and technologies from sub-optimal regional 
players to exploit global synergies and to accelerate the growth of DIH’s integrated solution offerings.
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 ●Leveraging our thought-provoking industry influence backed by leading brands and products, passionate people and organizational capability; DIH 

strives to develop transformative Total Solutions that will fundamentally enhance the therapy and business model of our customers and enable industry-
wide transformation which is expected to eventually benefits millions of people, from therapists to patients.

 
Core Product Overview
 

DIH offers innovative, robotic-enabled devices in an augmented and interactive environment. These devices focus on restoring different functional 
impairment issues, while using software thereby tracking patients’ progress and providing a network of collaboration and encouragement.
 

We currently offer 17 robotic rehabilitation and VR-based movement systems within three major product categories through the hospital, clinical and 
research markets. Our objective is to establish ourselves as a product and technology leader in each of the three categories, that correspond to three key 
functional impact issues, i.e. 1) upper extremity devices for arm and hand functional improvement; 2) lower extremity devices for gait and balance 
intervention; and 3) full body integrated intervention for strength and endurance enhancement. Through software networks, we aim not only to maximize 
the benefits from each of the devices itself, but also to deliver multi-dimensional clinical, economic, process and administrative benefits to therapists, 
patients and management by connecting and integrating these various devices into cohesive and integrated caring processes and models, enabling 
transformative change in therapies and business models.

 

 
 
 
Upper Extremity Product Categories
 

To address differing clinical and economic needs, while providing consistent therapeutic interventions with similar treatment concepts and protocols, 
we have developed three different device models, ArmeoPower, ArmeoSpring, and ArmeoSenso. All follow the same modular Armeo Therapy Concept, 
that covers the “Continuum of Rehabilitation” with one software platform throughout the different stages of rehabilitation; from the early stage 
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where the patient is very weak and needs sophisticated power-assisted dynamic intervention to help rewire the neural pattern in a safe environment which 
ArmeoPower provides, to self-initiated interactive ArmeoSpring which follows a similar treatment protocol of ArmeoPower for patients who have gained 
certain muscle power and need to transition from controlled patterns to an open environment. ArmeoSenso is for patients to apply what they learned from 
those self-initiated but still structurally controlled movement patterns to completely open movement environments, further expanding the patient transfer
skills. The economic costs of devices, and the ratio of one therapist for multiple patients also improves dramatically, thus allowing service providers and 
health systems to gain significant benefits of learning curves, i.e. the learning patient picks up from early acute expensive interventions, which will be 
increasingly beneficial for later stages, generating a win-win, both economically and clinically.

 
ArmeoPower is the backbone robot within our Upper Extremity portfolio; it has been specifically designed for arm and hand therapy in an early 

stage of rehabilitation. It enables patients with even severe motor impairments to perform exercises with a high number of repetitions. It assists the patient’s 
arm on an “as needed” basis to enable the patient to successfully reach the goal of the exercise. The robotic arm assistance can be adapted to the 
individual’s needs and the changing abilities of each patient – from full assistance for patients with very little activity to no assistance at all for more 
advanced patients. Such adjustable robotic assistance while exercising, enables and motivates patients to actively participate in their training, while 
providing weight support to enable extensive training. ArmeoPower supports 1D (joint-specific), 2D and 3D movements, with extensive game-emerged 
Augmented Performance Feedback ("APF") exercises simulating tasks and activities essential for daily living, while enhancing strength and range of 
motion. Immediate performance feedback motivates patients and helps to improve their motor abilities. It improves efficiency of the therapy session by 
reducing the therapist’s physical effort and the need for continuous therapeutic guidance. Moreover, it enables therapists to make better use of their clinical 
know-how and expertise, by focusing on the optimal exercise planning, instead of manually delivering many repetitions.
 

ArmeoPower precisely records how patients perform during their therapy sessions. Standardized Assessment Tools evaluate a patient’s motor 
functions such as joint range of motion and forces. The results can be used to analyze and document the patient’s state and therapy progress. Results can 
then be shared with the patient and other clinicians. ManovoPower as an add-on module for ArmeoPower enables hand opening and closing exercises.
 

ArmeoSpring is targeted for less severe patients; it provides self-initiated repetitive arm and hand therapy in an extensive workspace. By providing 
arm weight support, it encourages the patients to achieve a higher number of arm and hand movements based on specific therapy goals. It also allows 
simultaneous arm and hand training in an extensive workspace. This enables patients to practice the movements important for their therapy progress. 
ArmeoSpring also supports 1D (joint-specific), 2D and 3D movements. An extensive library of motivating game-like APF exercises has been designed to 
train strength and range of motion needed for activities of daily living. Immediate performance feedback motivates patients and helps to improve their 
motor abilities. The ArmeoSpring enables therapists to deliver higher training efficiency (more hours per day) due to self-directed therapy. Furthermore, 
self-directed therapy enables patients to reach an even higher therapy intensity through extra training during after-hours and weekends.

 
Lower Extremity Product Categories
 

Similar to the Armeo Therapy Concept for arm and hand, we have also developed 3+1 Robotics + VR devices to address the different clinical and 
economic needs of patients across different stages of the patient journey, while providing consistent therapeutic interventions with similar treatment 
concepts and protocols. The Erigo Robot is designed for patients right after ICU who have none or very weak muscle power, with the goal to speed up the 
circulation and initiate early mobilization and prepare patients for intensive therapy, while preventing or reducing secondary further impairment. LokoMat 
is designed to provide maximum intensive therapy to rewire the broken neuro pathway to restricted functional capabilities through Neuroplasticity effect. 
Andago is designed to assist patients in walking in a real environment to maximize patient transfer skills after the patient’s functional pattern has been 
rewired by LokoMat. C-Mill is designed to enhance the patient’s adaptability, coordination and balancing skills in a challenging and integrative 
environment.
 

Erigo is uniquely designed to provide therapy intervention to the most severe patient even at a high acute and critical post-ICU stage. It uniquely 
combines gradual verticalization, leg mobilization, and intensive sensorimotor stimulation through cyclic leg loading.
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The main benefits include:
 
 ■ Early and safe mobilization even in acute care
 ■ Cardiovascular stabilization
 ■ Improved orthostatic tolerance using the Erigo functional stimulation.
 ■ Helping to reduce patient’s length of stay, improving efficiency and outcome
 

Lokomat provides robot-assisted therapy that enables effective and intensive training to increase the strength of muscles and the range of motion of 
joints in order to improve walking. The physiological movement of the lower extremities is ensured by the individually adjustable patient interface. 
Additionally, the hip and knee joint angles can be adjusted during training to the patient’s specific needs. During rehabilitation, patients need to be 
challenged. Therapists can help patients reach their goals by setting the training parameters according to their performance. Lokomat motivates patients to 
reach their goals with various game-like exercises. This Augmented Performance Feedback, or APF, maximizes the effect of Lokomat training. Lokomat 
allows therapists to focus on the patient and the actual therapy. It enhances staff efficiency and safety, leading to higher training intensity, more treatments 
per therapist, and consistent, superior patient care.
 

Lokomat is available in two models, LokomatNanos and LokomatPro, and has other modules such as for pediatric use available. To date, we have 
installed over 1,085 Lokomat systems in over 650 facilities worldwide.
 

Andago is designed to assist patients in walking naturally which consequently triggers continuous physiological afferent input, due to its built-in 
dynamic support. With its robotics smart control system, it enables patient to walk seamlessly and freely due to its robotic system. Andago bridges the gap 
between treadmill-based gait training and free overground walking. No dedicated space is needed as it can be used flexibly in different spaces. Its intuitive 
workflow allows for a quick and easy therapy start and simple integration into clinical routine. The display of key training results and export of data via 
USB enables training progress documentation for clinical decision-making and for health insurance providers. No infrastructure modification, meaning 
flexible use from room to room.
 

C-Mill is a powerful tool that allows for more efficient rehabilitation. Besides objective assessment of balance and gait, the C-Mill provides a safe
and comfortable training environment using a treadmill, augmented reality and VR. Using our technology, patients are able to train foot placement with the 
C-Mill, work through balance and dual-tasks with C-Mill VR or use C-Mill VR+ for early to late rehabilitation with body weight support. It is a complete, 
advanced gait-lab and training center on a compact space.

 
CAREN, “Computer Assisted Rehabilitation Environment”, is the most advanced and sophisticated VR-enabled real time movement platform, that 

targets all aspects of balance and locomotion with visualization of full body participation empowered by Human Body Modeling. CAREN provides 
researchers with the tools to efficiently study advanced human movement by collecting objective human performance data in real time and functionally 
challenging environments. CAREN enables the most versatile human movement research as a result of its dual-belt instrumented treadmill mounted on a 6 
degree-of-freedom movable platform, motion capture system, immersive and interactive environments and dedicated real-time and offline software 
packages; the CAREN is the most advanced system for your human movement research, training, and assessment. We believe CAREN will enable 
pioneering research in many fields of application, such as: motor control and learning, dual-tasking and feedback, balance assessment and therapy, gait 
analysis and adaptability, real-time human body modeling, virtual reality and integrated smart systems like robot integration. We believe CAREN is 
considered as the world’s most advanced biomechanics lab.
 

GRAIL, “Gait Real-time Analysis Interactive Lab”, the total package solution for gait analysis training and research, employs an instrumented dual-
belt treadmill and motion capture system combined with virtual reality and video cameras. GRAIL provides analysis and therapy in challenging conditions 
to improve gait, while real-time feedback enables analysis and training during the same session. 

 

The Total Solution

DIH’s vision includes providing a Total Solution option for our customers and their patients. The Total Solution is a product package specifically designed 
for our customer and is aimed at maximizing the benefits of DIH's products 
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and solutions to achieve optimal rehabilitation outcomes. This offering includes DIH’s clinical integration approach, that emphasizes three key factors:

• A consultative sales process to guide customers in selecting advanced technologies from the company's extensive product portfolio, 
enhancing their market positioning.

• Clinical integration to align these technologies with therapeutic processes, offering comprehensive training and service programs to maximize 
their clinical value.

• Identifying workflow and productivity enhancement opportunities to help customers achieve operational savings.

Customer Overview

Research Market 

Due to the powerfulness of our technology platform and products, and the versatile applications they enable; there are six major customer groups that 
are actively employing our CAREN, GRAIL and MGAIT, etc. in their leading research efforts. Universities purchase them to build modern biomedical labs 
and initiate systemic training, research hospitals and military purchase them to assess and define innovative interventions to restore and enhance human 
functions and performance, scientific and technological corporations purchase them to establish an integrated testing foundation to evaluate new concepts 
and accelerate new product or intervention modalities; and athletic institutions purchase them to accelerate the recovery of athletes and enhance their core 
performance foundations.

Hospital Market

Hospital Markets, or Inpatient rehabilitation facilities (IRFs), include free standing rehabilitation hospitals and rehabilitation units in acute care 
hospitals. 

Our products and solutions benefit both the rehabilitation units in acute care hospitals and free standing rehabilitation hospitals. Given our limited 
sales resources, our primary focused customer group are rehabilitation hospitals and acute care hospitals which have a high number of neurological 
patients.

Within rehabilitation hospitals, it can by further broken down by 1) academic or leading national rehabilitation hospitals, 2) new modern 
rehabilitation hospitals, 3) neurological patient focused rehabilitation hospitals, 4) leading regional rehabilitation hospital, 5) conventional or me-too 
rehabilitation hospitals. Our target markets are the first two groups. Our main objective is to increase our market penetration in those groups from an 
estimated 25% current penetration to 66% in focused countries. 

Clinical Market 

The Clinical Market, or outpatient rehabilitation facilities (ORFs), include outpatient rehabilitation clinics, skilled nursing or long-term care facilities 
(SNF and LTC).

Given there are hundreds of thousands of facilities in these massive and diverse markets and we have limited resources, our primary focus is on the 
modern outpatient rehabilitation clinics (M-Clinics) and top SNFs with a focus on neurological patients (SNF-N) in our target countries. Our products can 
provide strategic, clinical and operational value to the M-Clinics and SNF-N, as in the hospital market.

Manufacturing and Supply Chain
 

Our manufacturing and supply chain strategy is founded on a commitment to blending Swiss quality mindset with Dutch agility, utilizing lean 
manufacturing and supply chain practices, leveraging an the Oracle ERP system implemented, ensuring efficient order fulfillment to global markets, and 
delivering exceptional value and commitment to our customers and patients.
 

Manufacturing
 

We manufacture the Lokomat, Andago, Erigo, Armeo Power, Armeo Spring and Armeo Senso devices at Hocoma Medical GmbH in Switzerland ). 
The product line we distribute for hospitals and clinics, C-Mill, is manufactured at Motek Medical B.V. in The Netherlands together with all research 
products (RYSEN, M-GAIT, GRAIL and CAREN).
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For the SafeGait 360 and Active product line that we acquired from Gorbel, those two products currently are only sold in the United States and are 

manufactured through our manufacturing facility in Leeds, Alabama.
 

Supply Chain
 

For standardized products (for hospitals and clinics) DIH conducts production planning based on the sales budget (yearly) and sales forecast 
(quarterly). To have the correct alignment between all stakeholders, there is a monthly standard operating procedures (“S&OP”) meeting in place. In this 
meeting, all relevant stakeholders are involved, such as planning, procurement, production, order fulfillment, sales, finance, operational engineering, 
service and product management. Additionally, we have the inputs from regulatory and quality as well. In the S&OP the forecast and the
production/procurement planning for the quarters are set and the current fulfillment situation is monitored.
 

Our research products are generally fairly differentiated, which makes it difficult to manage supply chain dynamics far in advance. Many of the parts 
are completely customized, and inputs are only known during the project phase when the order has been received. Basic parts such as treadmills, drives and 
motors can be planned and procured accordingly. For these research projects, there is also an S&OP in place limited to the research group.

 
Facilities
 

Our executive offices are located at 77 Accord Drive, Suite D-1 Norwell, MA. We do not own any properties, rather we lease properties to meet our 
needs. Currently, we have a research and development and operational campus that we lease for Hocoma operation in Switzerland located at 
Industriestrasse 2 and 4a in 8604 Volketswil.
 

Beside the main campuses, we also lease five commercial offices space at the following locations to house the regional Sales & Marketing, Clinical 
Application & Training, Technical Services, Finance, Logistics, Administration and other local market support functions.
 
 ■ DIH Technology Inc. leases commercial office for the American team at 77 Accord Park Dr., Suite D-1, Norwell, MA 02061, United States
 ■ DIH Technology d.o.o leases commercial office for EMEA Indirect sales team at Letališka 29a, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia
 ■ DIH GmbH leases commercial office for the Direct Sales team in DACH region, at Konrad-Adenauer Strasse 13, 50996 Köln, Germany
 ■ DIH Pte Ltd leases commercial office for APAC team at 67 Ubi Avenue 1, #06-17 Starhub Green, Singapore 408942
 ■ DIH SpA leases commercial office for LATAM team at Pdte. Kennedy Lateral 5488, Oficina 1402; Vitacura, Santiago, Chile
 
Human Capital
 

As of April 30, 2024, we employed 192 employees, of which approximately 78 percent were outside the U.S. Our employees are the Company’s 
most valued asset and the driving force behind our success. For this reason, we aspire to be an employer that is known for cultivating a positive and 
welcoming work environment and one that fosters growth, provides a safe place to work, supports diversity and embraces inclusion. 
 

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion
 

We are committed to fostering, cultivating and preserving a culture of diversity, equity and inclusion (DE&I). We recognize that a diverse, extensive 
talent pool provides the best opportunity to acquire unique perspectives, experiences, ideas, and solutions to drive our business forward. We believe that 
diverse teams solving complex problems leads to the best business results. We promote diversity by developing policies, programs, and procedures that 
foster a work environment where differences are respected, and all employees are treated fairly.

 
Employee Health and Safety
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During the fiscal year ending March 31, 2024, there have been no OSHA recordable or lost time injuries in the United States and zero injuries at our 
other global sites.

 
Intellectual Property
 

We have over 20 different trademark families registered, including our most prominent product family names such as Lokomat, Armeo, Andago, and 
RYSEN. These trademarks are registered in 18 strategically important countries, resulting in a total of 411 registrations. The latest registration was made in 
2020, and the earliest in 2004.
 
Name/Description of Patent  Status  Owned or 

Licensed
 Type of patent 

protection
 Expiration Date  Jurisdictions

US8834169/Method and apparatus for automating arm and 
grasping movement training for rehabilitation of patients with 
motor impairment

 Issued  Licensed  Utility  24.11.2030  US

           
US8192331/Device for adjusting the prestress of an elastic 
means around a predetermined tension or position

 Issued  Owned  Utility  10.09.2028  US, DE, FR, UK, 
IT, CH, CN, RU

           
US9017271/System for Arm therapy  Issued  Licensed  Utility  10.02.2031  US, DE, FR
           
US8924010 /Method to Control a Robot Device and Robot 
Device

 Issued  Owned  Utility  06.10.2031  US, DE, FR, NL, 
CH, UK

           
US9987511/Gait training apparatus  Issued  Owned  Utility  19.09.2034  US, DE, FR, UK, 

IT, CH, CN, PL, 
KR

           
EP3095430/Gait training apparatus (Div)  Issued  Owned  Utility  09.11.2032  DE, FR, UK, CH
           
US10780009/Apparatus for locomotion therapy  Issued  Owned  Utility  06.01.2037  US, DE, FR, UK, 

CH, CN, RU
           
EP3100707/Apparatus for locomotion therapy (Div)  Issued  Owned  Utility  16.11.2032  DE, FR, UK, IT, 

CH TR, PL, CN
           
US9808668/Apparatus for automated walking training  Issued  Owned  Utility  10.08.2034  US, DE, FR, UK, 

IT, CH, CN, PL, 
TR, NL, FI, ES

           
EP3035901/ Hand motion exercising device  Issued  Owned  Utility  14.08.2034  DE, FR, UK, NL, 

SI, CH, CN
           
US10349869/Method and system for an assessment of a 
movement of a limb-related point in a predetermined 3D 
space

 Issued  Owned  Utility  16.02.2036  US, DE, FR, UK, 
CH, AU, IT, CN

           
US10500122/Apparatus for gait training  Issued,  Owned  Utility  20.08.2037  US, DE, FR, UK, 

CH, CN, 
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    Pending for 
KR

              TR, NL, SE, ES, 
RU, KR

           
US10925799/ Suspension device for balancing a weight  Issued  Owned  Utility  27.06.2037  US, AU, CH, DE, 

FR, UK, IT, NL, 
PL, CN, KR

           
US-20230039187-A1/Leg Actuation Apparatus and Gait 
Rehabilitation Apparatus

 Pending  Owned  Utility    US, IN, CN, RU, 
EP, KR

           
US-2023-0039187-A1/User Attachment for Gait and Balance 
Rehabilitation Apparatus

 Pending  Owned  Utility    US, CN, EP, KR

           
DM/091 450/Wheeled walking frame  Issued  Owned  Design  08.06.2041  CH, EM, US, UK
           
DM/221 948/ArmeoSpring Pro-Design  Issued  Owned  Design  01.07.2047  CH, EM, US, UK
 

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with the other information in this Annual Report, including our 
financial statements and the related notes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” before making 
an investment in our securities. We cannot assure you that any of the events discussed in the risk factors below will not occur. These risks could have a 
material and adverse impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and growth prospects. If that were to happen, the trading price of 
our securities could decline. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial also may impair our 
business operations or financial condition. In this section, we first provide a summary of the principal risks and uncertainties we face and then provide a 
full set of risk factors and discuss them in greater detail.
 
Risks Related to Our Business and Our Industry
 
We have not fully completed our planned corporate reorganization
 

In connection with the Business Combination, we had anticipated completing a corporate reorganization in which, among other changes, Motekforce 
Link BV and its subsidiaries and Hocoma AG were to become wholly owned subsidiaries of DIH Holding US, Inc. The parties were unable to complete 
this corporate reorganization prior to the Business Combination and, as previously disclosed, the parties opted to close the Business Combination and waive 
the condition to close that this reorganization be completed. These entities are owned by DIH Technology, Inc., our largest stockholder.

 
The products produced by Motek remain a key part of our product line and we operate with Motek pursuant to the terms of an exclusive contract 

which obligates Motek to provide these products to us. While we do not believe this arrangement currently has a material adverse effect on our results of 
operations, there can be no assurance that Motek will not begin to sell its products to our competitors which would have an adverse impact on us.

 
There can be no assurance that the complete reorganization will be completed

 
We are substantially dependent on the commercial success of our current key product lines
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Our success is substantially dependent on our ability to continue to generate and grow revenue from the sales of our current key product lines, 
LokoMat, Erigo, Armeo, C-Mill and CAREN/Grail, which represent approximately 90% of our revenue. Our success will depend on many factors 
including, but not limited to, our ability to:
 
 ● develop and execute our sales and marketing strategies and maintain and manage the necessary sales, marketing and other capabilities and 

infrastructure that are required to successfully commercialize our products;
 
 ●achieve, maintain and grow market acceptance of, and demand for our current products;
   
 ●establish or demonstrate in the medical community the safety and efficacy of our rehabilitation products and their potential advantages over in 

comparison to, existing competing products and devices and products currently in development;
   
 ●offer our products at competitive prices as compared to alternative options, and our ability to achieve a suitable profit margin from the sales of our 

products;
   
 ●comply with applicable legal and regulatory requirements, including medical device compliance;
   
 ●maintain our distribution and supply arrangements with third parties; and
   
 ●enforce our intellectual property rights related to current and future products, if any.
 

If we do not achieve one or more of these factors, many of which are beyond our control, in a timely manner or at all, we may not be able to continue 
to generate and grow revenue from the sales of our current products, which may materially impact the success of our business.
 
We rely on sales from certain key products and markets, any disruptions to those products or markets due to change of market environment, regulatory 
requirements, or personal and sales practices, could generate adverse effects to our sales and business performance.
 

One of our key product lines, LokoMat accounts for more than 45% of our revenue; our other key products, Erigo, Armeo, C-Mill and CAREN/Grail 
collectively account for 55% of our revenues. In addition, approximately 80% of our revenue is concentrated in Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”) 
and Americas, with the remaining portion in Asia Pacific (“APAC”). Any disruptions to those key products and/or markets due to changes in market 
conditions, regulatory requirements, or personal and sales practices, could generate adverse effects to our sales and business performance.
 
Global, regional, and local economic weakness and uncertainty could adversely affect our demand for our products and services and our business and 
financial performance.
 

Our business and financial performance depends on worldwide economic conditions and the demand for our products and services in the markets in 
which we compete. Ongoing economic weakness, including an economic slowdown or recession, uncertainty in markets throughout the world and other 
adverse economic conditions, including inflation, changes in monetary policy and increased interest rates, may result in decreased demand for our products 
and services and increased expenses and difficulty in managing inventory levels and accurately forecasting revenue, gross margin, cash flows and expenses.
 

Prolonged or more severe economic weakness and uncertainty could also cause our expenses to vary materially from our expectations. Any financial 
turmoil affecting the banking system and financial markets or any significant financial services institution failures could negatively impact our treasury 
operations, as the financial condition of such parties may deteriorate rapidly and without notice.
 
War, geopolitical factors, and foreign exchange fluctuations could adverse effect the performance of our business.
 

Due to our significant presence in Europe, and emerging needs from South East Asia and the Middle East, war or geopolitical instability in those 
regions could adversely affect demand and supply chain disruptions from those 
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regions; and foreign exchange, especially the Euro’s depreciation versus the US dollar would adversely depress our US dollar-denominated revenue and
profitability We believe that an increasing percentage of our future revenue will come from international sales as we continue to expand our operations and 
develop opportunities in additional territories. International sales are subject to a number of additional risks, including:
 
 ● difficulties in staffing and managing our foreign operations;
   
 ● difficulties in penetrating markets in which our competitors’ products are more established;
   
 ● reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;
   
 ● export restrictions, trade regulations and foreign tax laws;
   
 ● fluctuating foreign currency exchange rates;
   
 ● obtaining and maintaining foreign certification and compliance with other regulatory requirements;
   
 ● customs clearance and shipping delays; and
   
 ● political and economic instability.
 

If one or more of these risks were realized, we could be required to dedicate significant resources to remedy the situation, and if we are unsuccessful 
at finding a solution, our revenue may decline.
 
Geopolitical risks associated with the ongoing conflict in Israel and Palestine could result in increased market volatility and uncertainty, which could 
negatively impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
 

The uncertain nature, scope, magnitude, and duration of hostilities stemming from recent events in Israel and Palestine have disrupted global 
markets and contributed to increased market volatility and uncertainty, which could have an adverse impact on macroeconomic and other factors that affect 
our business and supply chain. Any disruption in our supply chain could reduce our revenue and adversely impact our financial results. Such a disruption 
could occur as a result of any number of events, including, but not limited to, military conflicts, geopolitical developments, war or terrorism, including the 
ongoing conflict in Israel and Palestine, regional or global pandemics, and disruptions in utility and other services. Any inability to obtain adequate 
deliveries or any other circumstance that would require us to seek alternative sources of supply or to manufacture, assemble, and test such components 
internally could significantly delay our ability to ship our products, which could damage relationships with current and prospective customers and could 
harm our reputation and brand and could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

 
We may not have sufficient funds to meet certain future operating needs or capital requirements, which could impair our efforts to develop and 
commercialize existing and new products, and as a result, we may in the future consider one or more capital-raising transactions, including future 
equity or debt financings, strategic transactions, or borrowings which may also dilute our shareholders.
 

We may need to raise additional capital to fund our growth, working capital and strategic expansion. Given the turbulent global environment and 
volatile capital market, we may not be able to secure such financing in a timely manner and with favorable terms. Any such capital raise involving the sale 
of equity securities would result in dilution to our shareholders. If we cannot raise the required funds, or cannot raise them on terms acceptable to us or 
investors, we may be forced to curtail substantially our current operations and scale down our growth plan.
 
The market for robotics and VR-enabled smart rehabilitation systems are in the early growth stage, and important assumptions about the potential 
market for our current and future products may not be realized.
 

Although the market for robotics and VR-enabled “smart” rehabilitation systems has enjoyed increasing recognition from our customers, to date, the 
market is small. Significant market development efforts are still required 
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to cross in order for us to enjoy accelerating growth. As such, it is difficult to predict the future size and rate of growth of the market; and we cannot assure 
you that our estimate regarding our current products is achievable or that our estimate regarding future products profile will remain the same. If our 
estimates of our current or future addressable market are incorrect, our business may not develop as we expect, and the price of our securities may suffer.
 
Currently, most of our products are purchased by customers as capital equipment, funded by our customers’ own capital budgets, government grants, 
or charitable organizations’ donations. There is a risk that such grants or donations may not be secured timely or at all or capital budgets reduced; 
which could adversely impact our sales forecasts.
 

While we have seen significant interest in our products to support our growth plan, due to limited sales and clinician application personnel that are 
instrumental to our efforts to convert such interest into sales orders, at any quarter we can only focus on a fraction of the total sales opportunities. 
Accordingly, if there are delays or disruptions to potential customers’ budgeting processes due to customers’ internal capital budget limitations, delays in 
funding of government grants or charitable organizations’ donations, our sales opportunities may not be realized.
 

In the future, we may develop operational leasing or vendor-enabled financing to expand our growth beyond capital budget limitations, as part of our 
efforts to enrich and expanding our business models. There can be no assurance that we will have adequate working capital to do so after the Business 
Combination.
 
If we are unable to train customers on the safe and appropriate use of our products, we may be unable to achieve our expected growth.
 

It is critical to the success of our commercialization efforts to train a sufficient number of customers and provide them with adequate instruction in 
the safe and appropriate use of our products. This training process may take longer than expected and may therefore affect our ability to increase sales. 
Following completion of training, we rely on the trained customers to advocate the benefits of our products in the marketplace. Convincing our customers 
to dedicate the time and energy necessary for adequate training is challenging, and we cannot assure you that we will be successful in these efforts. If we 
cannot attract potential new customers to our education and training programs, we may be unable to achieve our expected growth. If our customers are not 
properly trained, they may misuse or ineffectively use our products. This may also result in, among other things, unsatisfactory patient outcomes, patient 
injury, negative publicity or lawsuits against us, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business and reputation.
 
If customers misuse our products, we may become subject to prohibitions on the sale or marketing of our products, significant fines, penalties, 
sanctions, or product liability claims, and our image and reputation within the industry and marketplace could be harmed.
 

Our customers may also misuse our devices, or our future products or use improper techniques, potentially leading to adverse results, side effects or 
injury, which may lead to product liability claims. If our current or future products are misused or used with improper techniques or are determined to cause 
or contribute to consumer harm, we may become subject to costly litigation by our customers or their patients. Product liability claims could divert 
management’s attention from our core business, be expensive to defend, result in sizable damage awards against us that may not be covered by insurance 
and subject us to negative publicity resulting in reduced sales of our products. Furthermore, the use of our current or future products for indications other 
than those cleared by the FDA may not effectively treat such conditions, which could harm our reputation in the marketplace among physicians and 
consumers. Any of these events could harm our business and results of operations and cause our stock price to decline.
 
If we are unable to educate clinicians on the safe, effective and appropriate use of our products, we may experience increased claims of product liability 
and may be unable to achieve our expected growth.
 

Certain of our products require the use of specialized techniques and/or product-specific knowledge. It is critical to the success of our business to 
broadly educate clinicians who use or desire to use our products in order to provide them with adequate instructions in the appropriate use of our products. 
It is also important that we educate our other customers and patients on the risks associated with our products. Failure to provide adequate training and 
education could result in, among other things, unsatisfactory patient outcomes, patient injury, negative publicity or increased product liability claims or 
lawsuits against us, any of which could have a material and adverse effect on our business 
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and reputation. We make extensive educational resources available to clinicians and our other customers in an effort to ensure that they have access to 
current treatment methodologies, are aware of the advantages and risks of our products, and are educated regarding the safe and appropriate use of our 
products. However, there can be no assurance that these resources will successfully prevent all negative events and if we fail to educate clinicians, our other 
customers and patients, they may make decisions or form conclusions regarding our products without full knowledge of the risks and benefits or may view 
our products negatively. In addition, claims against us may occur even if such claims are without merit and/or no product defect is present, due to, for 
example, improper surgical techniques, inappropriate use of our products, or other lack of awareness regarding the safe and effective use of our products. 
Any of these events could harm our business and results of operations.
 
As an emerging leader in a fragmented industry, we need time and efforts to develop talent, expertise, competencies, process and infrastructure; if we 
lose key employees or fail to replicate and leverage our sales, marketing, and training infrastructure, our growth would suffer adverse effects.
 

A key element of our long-term business strategy is the continued leveraging of our sales, marketing, clinical training and services infrastructure, 
through the training, retention, and motivation of skilled sales, marketing, clinical applications training, and services representatives with industry 
experience and knowledge. In order to continue growing our business efficiently, we need coordinate the development of our sales, marketing, clinical
training and services infrastructure with the timing of market expansion, new product launch, regulatory approvals, limited resources consideration and 
other factors in various geographies. Managing and maintaining our sales and marketing infrastructure is expensive and time consuming, and an inability to 
leverage such an organization effectively, or in coordination with regulatory or other developments, could inhibit potential sales and the penetration and 
adoption of our products into both existing and new markets.
 

Newly hired sales representatives require training and take time to achieve full productivity. If we fail to train new hires adequately, or if we 
experience high turnover in our sales force in the future, we cannot be certain that new hires will become as productive as may be necessary to maintain or 
increase our sales. In addition, if we are not able to retain existing and recruit new trainers to our clinical staff, we may not be able to successfully train 
customers on the use of our sophisticated products, which could inhibit new sales and harm our reputation. If we are unable to expand our sales, marketing, 
and training capabilities, we may not be able to effectively commercialize our products, or enhance the strength of our brand, which could have a material 
adverse effect on our operating results.
 
The health benefits of our products have not yet been substantiated by long-term large randomized clinical data, which could limit sales of such 
products.
 

Although there have been numerous published research studies supporting the benefits of our products and users of our products have reported 
encouraging health benefits of our products, currently there is no large scale, randomized clinical trial establishing the long-term health benefits of our or 
competitors’ products due to the relatively small size of the applicable user population, and the fragmented application practice that we are still in the early 
stage to change through consolidation and integration. While many of the top rehabilitation hospitals have purchased some of our products, many potential 
conservative customers and healthcare providers may be slower to adopt or recommend our products.
 
Our success depends largely upon consumer satisfaction with the effectiveness of our products.
 

In order to generate repeat and referral business, consumers must be satisfied with the effectiveness of our products. If consumers are not satisfied 
with the benefits of our products, our reputation and future sales could suffer.
 
For certain of our products, we rely on sole source third parties to manufacture and supply certain raw materials. If these manufacturers are unable to 
supply these raw materials or products in a timely manner, or at all, we may be unable to meet customer demand, which would have a material adverse 
effect on our business.
 

We currently depend on sole source, third party manufacturers, to manufacture and supply certain raw materials and products. We cannot assure you 
that these manufacturers will be able to provide these raw materials, and products in quantities that are sufficient to meet demand in a timely manner, or at 
all, which could result in decreased revenues and loss of market share. There may be delays in the manufacturing process over which we have no control, 
including 
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shortages of raw materials, labor disputes, backlogs and failure to meet FDA standards. We are aware that certain of our sole source manufacturers also rely 
on sole source suppliers with respect to materials used in our products. We rely on our third-party manufacturers to maintain their manufacturing facilities 
in compliance with applicable international, FDA and other federal, state and/or local regulations including health, safety and environmental standards. If 
they fail to maintain compliance with critical regulations, they could be ordered to suspend, curtail or cease operations, which would have a material 
adverse impact on our business. Increases in the prices we pay our manufacturers, interruptions in our supply of raw materials or products, or lapses in 
quality, such as failures to meet our specifications and other regulatory requirements, could materially adversely affect our business. Any manufacturing 
defect or error discovered after our products have been produced and distributed could result in significant consequences, including costly recall procedures 
and damage to our reputation. Our ability to replace an existing manufacturer may be difficult, because the number of potential manufacturers is limited. 	
If we do undertake to negotiate terms of supply with another manufacturer or other manufacturers, our relationships with our existing manufacturers could 
be harmed. Any interruption in the supply of raw materials or products, or the inability to obtain these raw materials or products from alternate sources in a 
timely manner, could impair our ability to meet the demands of our customers, which would have a material adverse effect on our business.
 
We utilize independent distributors who are free to market other products that compete with our products for sales.
 

While we have proportionally more influence on the independent distributors we are using to cover majority of the global markets due to our limited 
direct sales force, considering the fact that the rehabilitation technology market is very fragmented, we generally do not sign mutual exclusive distribution 
agreement with distributors. Consequently, our distribution partners could indirectly compete against our interests by promoting alternative technologies to 
prospective customers in lieu of ours. We believe that as we assemble more and integrated offering through our consolidation and integration strategy, the 
influence and motivation we may impose on our distribution partners to dedicate on selling and promoting our products and solution shall increase and such 
kind of competition risk would be better addressed.
 

To ensure credibility and enforce the effective genesis of our distributor management, we may terminate a distributor who has not demonstrated its 
best efforts and/or interests in selling and promoting our products and solutions, albeit such termination may adversely affect our sales performance in the 
market covered by such distributor.
 
Due to the nature of market fragmentation, our product and solution offerings may not always deliver the targeted sales amount, or may take longer 
than expected to establish itself in customers minds, and accepted by mainstream.
 

The fragmented market reflects both opportunity for consolidation and challenges of overcoming customers’ mindsets used to using alternative 
approaches as well as fragmented clinical practices. Change and acceptance of new idea and solution normally happens over time and in multiple wave-
shaped phases instead of a straight line progression. Consequently, our new innovative product and solution offerings may not deliver the targeted sales 
amount or face uncertain time periods for customers to accept due to various dynamic factors that may influence the perceptions and consensus formation 
among prospective customers. Consequently, such judgments and self-reinforcing efforts may cause the actual results to deviate from our planned results 
for a sustained period, which may have adverse effect on our performance.
 
We may enter into collaborations, in-licensing arrangements, joint ventures, strategic alliances, business acquisitions or partnerships with third parties 
that may not result in the development of commercially viable products, the generation of significant future revenue, or consistent realization of deal 
economics.
 

In the ordinary course of our business, we may enter into collaborations, in-licensing arrangements, joint ventures, strategic alliances, business 
acquisitions, partnerships or other arrangements to develop our products and to pursue new geographic or product markets. Proposing, negotiating, and 
implementing collaborations, in-licensing arrangements, joint ventures, strategic alliances, or partnerships may be a lengthy and complex process.
 

We may not identify, secure, or complete any such transactions or arrangements in a timely manner, on a cost-effective basis, on acceptable terms or 
at all. We have limited institutional knowledge and experience with respect to 
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these business development activities, and we may also not realize the anticipated benefits from some of those transactions or arrangements.
 

Additionally, as we pursue these arrangements and choose to pursue other collaborations, in-licensing arrangements, joint ventures, strategic 
alliances, or partnerships in the future, we may not be in a position to exercise sole decision-making authority regarding the transaction or arrangement. 
This could create the potential risk of creating impasses on decisions, and our collaborators may have economic or business interests or goals that are, or 
that may become, inconsistent with our business interests or goals. It is possible that conflicts may arise with our collaborators. Our collaborators or any 
future collaborators may act in their self-interest, which may be adverse to our best interest, and they may breach their obligations to us. Disputes between 
us and our collaborators or any future collaborators may result in litigation or arbitration which would increase our expenses and divert the attention of our 
management. Further, these transactions and arrangements are contractual in nature and may be terminated or dissolved under the terms of the applicable 
agreements. Our collaborators or any future collaborators may allege that we have breached our agreement with them, and accordingly seek to terminate 
such agreement, which could adversely affect our competitive business position and harm our business prospects.
 

Furthermore, due to the fragmentation nature and the fact that most acquisition targets are at sub-optimal immature organization stage with less than 
$10 million in revenue, the risk of integrating such organizations and products can also be higher than acquisitions and consolidations in a mature industry. 
Consequently, there are risks that some of those acquisitions may fail to deliver the expected deal economics and could have adverse effect on our financial 
condition and business results.
 
We may not successfully integrate newly acquired product lines into our business operations or realize the benefits of our partnerships with other 
companies, acquisitions of complementary products or technologies or other strategic alternatives.
 

Historically we have acquired or gained the rights to our product lines through acquisitions and other strategic alternatives. As a result of these 
acquisitions, we have undergone substantial changes to our business and product offerings in a short period of time. Additionally, in the future, we may 
consider other opportunities to partner with or acquire other businesses, products or technologies that may enhance our product platform or technology, 
expand the breadth of our markets or customer base or advance our business strategies.
 

Although we have previously been successful in integrating such products and technologies into our business and operations, there can be no 
assurances that we will continue to do so in the future. If we fail to successfully integrate collaborations, assets, products or technologies, or if we fail to 
successfully exploit acquired product or distribution rights, our business could be harmed. Furthermore, we may have to incur debt or issue equity securities 
in connection with proposed collaborations or to pay for any product acquisitions or investments, the issuance of which could be dilutive to our existing 
shareholders. Identifying, contemplating, negotiating or completing a collaboration or product acquisition and integrating an acquired product or 
technology could significantly divert management and employee time and resources.

 
Moreover, integrating new product lines with that of our own is a complex, costly and time-consuming process, which requires significant 

management attention and resources. The integration process may disrupt our existing operations and, if implemented ineffectively, would preclude 
realization of the full benefits that are expected. Our failure to meet the challenges involved in successfully integrating our acquisitions in order to realize 
the anticipated benefits may cause an interruption of, or a loss of momentum in, our operating activities and could adversely affect our results of operations. 
Potential difficulties, costs, and delays we may encounter as part of the integration process may include:
 
 ● distracting management from day-to-day operations;
   
 ● an inability to achieve synergies as planned;
   
 ● risks associated with the assumption of contingent or other liabilities;
   
 ● adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers or customers;
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 ● inheriting and uncovering previously unknown issues, problems and costs from the acquired product lines;
   
 ● uncertainties associated with entering new markets in which we have limited or no experience;
   
 ● increased legal and accounting costs relating to the product line or compliance with regulatory matters;
   
 ● delays between our expenditures to acquire new products, technologies or businesses and generating net sales from those acquired products, 

technologies or businesses; and
   
 ● increased difficulties in managing our business due to increased personnel, increased data and information to analyze, and the potential addition of 

international locations.
 

Any one or all of these factors may increase operating costs or lower anticipated financial performance. Many of these factors are also outside of our 
control. In addition, even if new product lines or businesses are integrated successfully, we may not realize the full benefits of the acquisition, including the 
synergies, cost savings or sales or growth opportunities that we expect or within the anticipated time frame. Additional unanticipated costs may be incurred 
in the integration of product lines or businesses. All of these factors could decrease or delay the expected accretive effect of the transaction, and negatively 
impact the price of our common stock. The failure to integrate any acquired product line or business successfully would have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
We may pursue acquisitions, which involve a number of risks, and if we are unable to address and resolve these risks successfully, such acquisitions 
could harm our business.
 

We may in the future acquire businesses, products or technologies to expand our offerings and capabilities, user base and business. We have 
evaluated, and expect to continue to evaluate, a wide array of potential strategic transactions; however, we have limited experience completing or 
integrating acquisitions. Any acquisition could be material to our financial condition and results of operations and any anticipated benefits from an 
acquisition may never materialize. In addition, the process of integrating acquired businesses, products or technologies may create unforeseen operating 
difficulties and expenditures. Acquisitions in international markets would involve additional risks, including those related to integration of operations 
across different cultures and languages, currency risks and the particular economic, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries.
 

The process of integrating an acquired business, product or technology can create unforeseen operating difficulties, expenditures and other challenges 
such as:
 
 ● potentially increased regulatory and compliance requirements;
   
 ● implementation or remediation of controls, procedures and policies at the acquired company;

 
 
 ● diversion of management time and focus from operation of its then-existing business to acquisition integration challenges;
   
 ● coordination of product, sales, marketing and program and systems management functions;
   
 ● transition of the acquired company’s users and providers onto our systems;
   
 ● retention of employees from the acquired company;
   
 ● integration of employees from the acquired company into our organization;
   
 ● integration of the acquired company’s accounting, information management, human resources and other administrative systems and 

operations into our systems and operations;
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 ● liability for activities of the acquired company prior to the acquisition, including violations of law, commercial disputes and tax and other 
known and unknown liabilities; and

   
 ● litigation or other claims in connection with the acquired company, including claims brought by terminated employees, providers, former 

stockholders or other third parties.
 

We may not be able to address these risks successfully, or at all, without incurring significant costs, delays or other operational problems and if we 
were unable to address such risks successfully our business could be harmed.
 
We may have difficulty managing our growth which could limit our ability to increase sales and cash flow.
 

We anticipate experiencing significant growth in our operations and the number of our employees if our current and future products are successful. 
This growth will place significant demands on our management, as well as our financial and operational resources. In order to achieve our business 
objectives, we will need to grow our business. Continued growth would increase the challenges involved in:
 
 ● implementing appropriate operational and financial systems;
   
 ● expanding our sales and marketing infrastructure and capabilities;
   
 ● ensuring compliance with applicable FDA, and other regulatory requirements;
   
 ● providing adequate training and supervision to maintain high quality standards; and
   
 ● preserving our culture and values.
 

Our growth will require us to continually develop and improve our operational, financial and other internal controls. If we cannot scale and manage 
our business appropriately, we will not realize our projected growth and our financial results could be adversely affected.
 
Risks Related to Government Regulation
 
We are subject to extensive and dynamic medical device regulation, which may impede or hinder the approval or sale of our products and, in some 
cases, may ultimately result in an inability to obtain approval of certain products or may result in the recall or seizure of previously approved products.
 

Our products, marketing, sales and development activities and manufacturing processes are subject to extensive and rigorous regulation by various 
regulatory agencies and governing bodies. Under the US Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, medical devices must receive FDA clearance or approval or an 
exemption from such clearance or approval before they can be commercially marketed in the United States. In the European Union, we are required to 
comply with applicable medical device directives (including the Medical Devices Directive and the European Medical Device Regulation) and obtain CE 
Mark (European Conformity) certification in order to market medical devices. In addition, exported devices are subject to the regulatory requirements of 
each country to which the device is exported. Many countries require that product approvals be renewed or recertified on a regular basis, generally every 
four to five years. The renewal or recertification process requires that we evaluate any device changes and any new regulations or standards relevant to the 
device and conduct appropriate testing to document continued compliance. Where renewal or recertification applications are required, they may need to be 
renewed and/or approved in order to continue selling our products in those countries. There can be no assurance that we will receive the required approvals 
for new products or modifications to existing products on a timely basis or that any approval will not be subsequently withdrawn or conditioned upon 
extensive post-market study requirements.
 

The European Union regulatory bodies finalized a new Medical Device Regulation (“MDR”) in 2017, which replaced the existing directives and 
provided three years for transition and compliance. The MDR changes several aspects of the existing regulatory framework, such as updating clinical data 
requirements and introducing new ones, such as Unique Device Identification. We and those who will oversee compliance to the new MDR face 
uncertainties 
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as the MDR is rolled out and enforced by the Commission and EEA Competent Authorities, creating risks in several areas, including the CE Marking 
process and data transparency, in the upcoming years.
 

Regulations regarding the development, manufacture and sale of medical devices are evolving and subject to future change. We cannot predict what
impact, if any, those changes might have on our business. Failure to comply with regulatory requirements could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product or manufacturer could result in 
fines, delays or suspensions of regulatory clearances or approvals, seizures or recalls of products, physician advisories or other field actions, operating 
restrictions and/or criminal prosecution. We may also initiate field actions as a result of a failure to strictly comply with our internal quality policies. The 
failure to receive product approval clearance on a timely basis, suspensions of regulatory clearances, seizures or recalls of products, physician advisories or 
other field actions, or the withdrawal of product approval by regulatory authorities could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
or results of operations.
 
If we fail to obtain regulatory approvals in the United States or foreign jurisdictions for our products, or any future products, we will be unable to 
market our products in those jurisdictions.
 

In addition to regulations in the United States, we are subject to a variety of foreign regulations governing manufacturing, clinical trials, commercial 
sales and distribution of our future products. Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product, we must obtain approval of the product by the 
comparable regulatory authorities of foreign countries before commencing clinical trials or marketing in those countries. The approval procedures vary 
among countries and can involve additional clinical testing, or the time required to obtain approval may differ from that required to obtain FDA approval. 
Clinical trials conducted in one country may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other countries. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by 
regulatory authorities in other countries, and approval by one or more foreign regulatory authorities does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in 
other foreign countries or by the FDA. The foreign regulatory approval process may include all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval.
 
Due to the fact that more than 95% of our revenue comes from health-regulated medical device products, if we do not obtain or maintain necessary 
regulatory clearances or approvals, or if clearances or approvals for future medical products or modifications to existing medical products are delayed 
or not issued, our commercial operations and sales targets would be adversely affected.
 

We operate under highly regulated global health markets and must register and maintain effectiveness and compliance of such registration, with each 
of our medical devices with every markets’ relevant authority either directly or through our agent or distributors. Any missing or failure to comply with 
such registrations may disrupt any sales activities in that particular market, and result in adverse effects.
 
We may be subject to adverse medical device reporting obligations, voluntary corrective actions or agency enforcement actions.
 

The FDA and similar foreign governmental authorities have the authority to require the recall of commercialized products in the event of material 
deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture of a product or in the event that a product poses an unacceptable risk to health. The FDA’s authority to 
require a recall must be based on an FDA finding that there is reasonable probability that the device would cause serious injury or death. Manufacturers 
may also, under their own initiative, recall a product if any material deficiency in a device is found or withdraw a product to improve device performance or 
for other reasons. The FDA requires that certain classifications of recalls be reported to the FDA within 10 working days after the recall is initiated. A 
government-mandated or voluntary recall by us or one of our distributors could occur as a result of a perceived or actual unacceptable risk to health, 
component failures, malfunctions, manufacturing errors, design or labelling defects or other deficiencies and issues. Regulatory agencies in other countries 
have similar authority to recall devices because of material deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture that could endanger health. Any recall would 
divert management attention and financial resources and could cause the price of our stock to decline, expose us to product liability or other claims and 
harm our reputation with customers. Such events could impair our ability to produce our products in a cost-effective and timely manner in order to meet 
customer demands. A recall involving our silicone gel breast implants could be particularly harmful to our business, financial and operating results. 
Companies are required to maintain certain records of recalls, even if 

21



Table of Contents

 

they are not reportable to the FDA or similar foreign governmental authorities. We may initiate voluntary recalls involving our products in the future that 
we determine do not require notification of the FDA or foreign governmental authorities. If the FDA or foreign governmental authorities disagree with our 
determinations, they could require us to report those actions as recalls. A future recall announcement could harm our reputation with customers and 
negatively affect our sales. In addition, the FDA or a foreign governmental authority could take enforcement action for failing to report the recalls when 
they were conducted.
 

In addition, under the FDA’s medical device reporting regulations, we are required to report to the FDA any incident in which our product may have 
caused or contributed to a death or serious injury or in which our product malfunctioned and, if the malfunction were to recur, would likely cause or 
contribute to death or serious injury. Repeated product malfunctions may result in a voluntary or involuntary product recall. We are also required to follow 
detailed record-keeping requirements for all self-initiated medical device corrections and removals, and to report such corrective and removal actions to the 
FDA if they are carried out in response to a risk to health and have not otherwise been reported under the medical device reporting regulations. Depending 
on the corrective action we take to address a product’s deficiencies or defects, the FDA may require, or we may decide, that we need to obtain new 
approvals or clearances for the device before marketing or distributing the corrected device. Seeking such approvals or clearances may delay our ability to 
replace the recalled devices in a timely manner. Moreover, if we do not adequately address problems associated with our devices, we may face additional 
regulatory enforcement action, including FDA warning letters, product seizure, injunctions, administrative penalties, or civil or criminal fines. We may also 
be required to bear other costs or take other actions that may have a negative impact on our sales as well as face significant adverse publicity or regulatory 
consequences, which could harm our business, including our ability to market our products in the future.
 

Any adverse event involving our products, whether in the United States or abroad, could result in future voluntary corrective actions, such as recalls 
or customer notifications, or agency action, such as inspection, mandatory recall or other enforcement action. Any corrective action, whether voluntary or 
involuntary, will likely oblige us to defend ourselves in resulting lawsuits, and will require the dedication of our time and capital, distract management from 
operating our business and may harm our reputation and financial results.
 
Legislative or regulatory healthcare reforms in the United States and other countries may make it more difficult and costly for us to obtain regulatory 
clearance or approval of any future product candidates and to produce, market, and distribute our products after clearance or approval is obtained.
 

Recent political, economic and regulatory influences are subjecting the health care industry to fundamental changes. Both the federal and state 
governments in the United States and foreign governments continue to propose and pass new legislation and regulations designed to contain or reduce the 
cost of health care, improve quality of care, and expand access to healthcare, among other purposes. Such legislation and regulations may result in 
decreased reimbursement for medical devices and/or the procedures in which they are used, which may further exacerbate industry-wide pressure to reduce 
the prices charged for medical devices. This could harm our ability to market and generate sales from our products.
 

In addition, regulations and guidance are often revised or reinterpreted by governmental agencies, including the FDA, CMS, and the Department of 
Health and Human Services Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) and others, in ways that may significantly affect our business and our products. Any 
new regulations, revisions or reinterpretations of existing regulations may impose additional costs or lengthen review times of our products.
 

In the future there may continue to be additional proposals relating to the reform of the United States. healthcare system. Certain of these proposals 
could limit the prices we are able to charge for our products or the amount of reimbursement available for our products, and could limit the acceptance and 
availability of our products, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
 
United States and foreign privacy and data protection laws and regulations may impose additional liabilities on us.
 

While we do not store patient data at our premises or DIH-managed data center, United States, federal and state privacy and data security laws and 
regulations regulate how we and our partners collect, use and share certain information. In addition to HIPAA, certain state laws govern the privacy and 
security of health information in certain 

22



Table of Contents

 

circumstances, some of which are more stringent than HIPAA and many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same 
effect, thus complicating compliance efforts. Failure to comply with these laws, where applicable, can result in the imposition of significant civil and/or 
criminal penalties and private litigation. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, went into effect January 1, 2020. The CCPA, among 
other things, creates new data privacy obligations for covered companies and provides new privacy rights to California residents, including the right to opt 
out of certain disclosures of their information. The CCPA also creates a private right of action with statutory damages for certain data breaches, thereby 
potentially increasing risks associated with a data breach. The CCPA was recently amended by the California Privacy Rights Act or CPRA, expanding 
certain consumer rights such as the right to know. It remains unclear what, if any, additional modifications will be made to these laws by the California 
legislature or how these laws will be interpreted and enforced. The California Attorney General has issued clarifying regulations and initiating enforcement 
activity. The potential effects of the CCPA and CPRA are significant and may cause us to incur substantial costs and expenses to comply. The CCPA has 
prompted a wave of proposals for new federal and state privacy legislation, some of which may be more stringent than the CCPA, that, if passed, could 
increase our potential liability, increase our compliance costs, and adversely affect our business.
 

We may also be subject to or affected by foreign laws and regulations, including regulatory guidance, governing the collection, use, disclosure, 
security, transfer, and storage of personal data, such as information that we collect about customers and patients in connection with our operations abroad. 
The global legislative and regulatory landscape for privacy and data protection continues to evolve, and implementation standards and enforcement 
practices are likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. This evolution may create uncertainty in our business, result in liability, or impose 
additional costs on us. The cost of compliance with these laws, regulations and standards is high and is likely to increase in the future.
 

For example, the European Union implemented the General Data Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) a broad data protection framework that expands 
the scope of European Union data protection law to include certain non-European Union entities that process the personal data of European Union 
residents, including clinical trial data. The GDPR increases our compliance burden with respect to data protection, including by mandating potentially 
burdensome documentation requirements and granting certain rights to individuals to control how we collect, use, disclose, retain and protect information 
about them. The processing of sensitive personal data, such as information about health conditions, leads to heightened compliance burdens under the 
GDPR and is a topic of active interest among European Union regulators. In addition, the GDPR provides for breach reporting requirements, more robust 
regulatory enforcement and fines of up to the greater of 20 million euros or 4% of annual global revenue. The GDPR increases our responsibility and 
liability in relation to personal data that we process, and we may be required to put in place additional mechanisms to ensure compliance with the GDPR, 
which could divert management’s attention and increase our cost of doing business.
 

A data security breach or other privacy violation that compromises the confidentiality, integrity or availability of the personal information of our 
customers, clinical trials participants, collaborators or employees could harm our reputation, compel us to comply with United States. or international 
breach notification laws, subject us to mandatory corrective action, and otherwise subject us to liability under United States. or foreign laws and 
regulations. Data breaches or other security incidents could also compromise our trade secrets or other intellectual property. If we are unable to prevent 
such data security breaches and security incidents or implement satisfactory remedial measures, our operations could be disrupted, and we may suffer 
reputational harm, financial loss or other regulatory penalties. In addition, such events can be difficult to detect, and any delay in identifying them may lead 
to increased harm.
 

Finally, it is possible that these privacy laws may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our practices. Any failure or 
perceived failure by us to comply with federal, state, or foreign laws or self-regulatory organization’s rules or regulations could result in an expense or 
liability to us.
 
Changes in law or regulation could make it more difficult and costly for DIH and its subsidiaries to manufacture, market and distribute its products or 
obtain or maintain regulatory approval of new or modified products.
 

The experience with the transition to the EU MDR showed how complex, time-consuming and expensive a change in Medical Device Legislation can 
be. Progression on innovations and new products could be significantly delayed during the work on compliance with new legislations.
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We may fail to comply with regulations of the United States and foreign regulatory agencies which could delay, or prevent entirely, and the 
commercialization of our products.
 

Given the non-invasive and lower risk nature of rehabilitation products, similar to other rehabilitation technology providers, most of our products are 
in FDA risk class 1 and this class is not subject to mandatory scrutiny by the U.S. authorities. There is the possibility that, in the future, the FDA may not 
agree with our classification. We might have to register if disagreement arises, and consequently we would have to stop distributing the device in the U.S. 
Under such a scenario, possible alternatives registration pathways might be 510(k)s or PMAs, which amount to an increase in the registration time from six 
months to multiple years; result in significant suspension of our sales activity for products in question in the US.
 
In some instances, in our advertising and promotion, we may make claims regarding our product as compared to competing products, which may 
subject us to heightened regulatory scrutiny, enforcement risk, and litigation risks.
 

The FDA applies a heightened level of scrutiny to comparative claims when applying its statutory standards for advertising and promotion, including 
with regard to its requirement that promotional labelling be truthful and not misleading. There is potential for differing interpretations of whether certain 
communications are consistent with a product’s FDA-required labelling, and FDA will evaluate communications on a fact-specific basis.
 

In addition, making comparative claims may draw attention from our competitors. Where a company makes a claim in advertising or promotion that 
its product is superior to the product of a competitor (or that the competitor’s product is inferior), this creates a risk of a lawsuit by the competitor under 
federal and state false advertising or unfair and deceptive trade practices law, and possibly also state libel law. Such a suit may seek injunctive relief against 
further advertising, a court order directing corrective advertising, and compensatory and punitive damages where permitted by law.
 

Any such lawsuit or threat of lawsuit against us will likely oblige us to defend ourselves in court, and will require the dedication of our time and 
capital, distract management from operating our business and may harm our reputation and financial results. If any such lawsuit against us is successful, we 
would suffer additional losses of time and capital in taking any required corrective action and would suffer harm to our reputation, all of which would have 
an adverse effect on our business.
 
If we fail to obtain or maintain the necessary ISO 13485 certification or the certification according to (EU) 2017/745 (MDR), our commercial 
operations in the EU and some other countries will be harmed.
 

As the certifications according to ISO 13485 and (EU) 2017/745 constitute the legal basis for any commercial activity in the European Union and 
many other countries, these certifications and maintenance of such certifications is a vital task for us. Failure to certify will lead to a disruption of device 
sales not only in the European Union, but also in the United States and many other countries, as these usually consider a certification a prerequisite for any 
device registrations.
 

The majority of our products are classified as medical devices and are regulated by the FDA, the European Union and other governmental authorities 
both inside and outside of the United States. These agencies enforce laws and regulations that govern the development, testing, manufacturing, labeling, 
advertising, marketing and distribution, and market surveillance of our medical products. Our failure to comply with these complex laws and regulations 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Even after regulatory clearance or approval 
has been granted, a cleared or approved product and its manufacturer are subject to extensive regulatory requirements relating to manufacturing, labeling, 
packaging, adverse event reporting, storage, advertising and promotion for the product. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements of the FDA or 
other non-U.S. regulatory authorities, or if previously unknown problems with our products or manufacturing processes are discovered, we could be subject 
to administrative or judicially imposed sanctions, including restrictions on the products, manufacturers or manufacturing process; adverse inspectional 
observations (Form 483), warning letters, non-warning letters incorporating inspectional observations; civil or criminal penalties or fines; injunctions; 
product seizures, detentions or import bans; voluntary or mandatory product recalls and publicity requirements; suspension or withdrawal of regulatory 
clearances or approvals; total or partial suspension of production; imposition of restrictions 
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on operations, including costly new manufacturing requirements; refusal to clear or approve pending applications or premarket notifications; and import 
and export
 
Modifications to our products may require re-registration, new 510(k) clearances or premarket approvals, or may require us to renew existing 
registrations in non-European Union countries.
 

Product modifications consisting either of changes to hardware or software or in expanding or restricting indications or contraindications can have an 
impact on the validity of our registrations. Thus, a product modification may lead to regulatory change projects, which will consume time and resources. A 
delay in marketing activities for the respective products may result. Many of these changes are beyond our control, as they are initiated by suppliers of 
components. Often those changes cannot be predicted, as their announcement happens on short notice, thus increasing the risk of business disruption.
 
The innovative development of our products may lead to the application of new laws, regulations, standards, etc. not considered until now.
 

Developing our products further in the direction of increasingly independent acting devices might bring those products into the scope of standards or 
regulations for robotic devices or artificial intelligence, or other similar areas. As this requires further competencies, resources and time, a potential delay or 
disruption of our commercial activities could result.
 
Any negative publicity concerning our products could harm our business and reputation and negatively impact our financial results.
 

The reactions of potential patients, physicians, the news media, legislative and regulatory bodies and others to information about complications or 
alleged complications of our products could result in negative publicity and could materially reduce market acceptance of our products. These reactions, or 
any investigations and potential resulting negative publicity, may have a material adverse effect on our business and reputation and negatively impact our 
financial condition, results of operations or the market price of our common stock. In addition, significant negative publicity could result in an increased 
number of product liability claims against us.
 
United States or European healthcare reform measures and other potential legislative initiatives could adversely affect our business.
 

Europe and the United States are our major markets, and any major healthcare reform that may change the health industry landscape or 
reimbursement environment, may have a significant impact on our sales performance and growth projects in the affected markets.
 

Any political changes in the United States or in Europe could result in significant changes in, and uncertainty with respect to, legislation, regulation, 
global trade, and government policy that could substantially impact our business and the medical device industry generally. The FDA and European Union 
Commission’s policies may also change, and additional government regulations may be issued that could prevent, limit, or delay regulatory approval of our 
future products, or impose more stringent product labeling and post-marketing testing and other requirements.
 
Risks Related to War in Ukraine and Israel and Palestine
 

The credit and financial markets have experienced extreme volatility and disruptions due to the current conflict between Ukraine and Russia. The 
conflict is expected to have further global economic consequences, including but not limited to the possibility of severely diminished liquidity and credit 
availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in inflation rates and uncertainty about economic and political 
stability. In addition, the United States and other countries have imposed sanctions on Russia which increases the risk that Russia, as a retaliatory action, 
may launch cyberattacks against the United States, its government, infrastructure and businesses. Any of the foregoing consequences, including those we 
cannot yet predict, may cause our business, financial condition, results of operations and the price of our Common Stock to be adversely affected.
 
Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property and Information Technology
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We depend on computer and information systems we do not own or control and failures in our systems or a cybersecurity attack or breach of our IT 
systems or technology could significantly disrupt our business operations or result in sensitive information being compromised which would adversely 
affect our reputation and/or results of operations.
 

We have entered into agreements with third parties for hardware, software, telecommunications, and other information technology services in 
connection with the operation of our business. It is possible we or a third party that we rely on could incur interruptions from a loss of communications, 
hardware or software failures, a cybersecurity attack or a breach of our IT systems or technology, computer viruses or malware. Though most of those 
information systems and platforms are provided by well-established multinational firms like Oracle and Microsoft, any interruptions to our arrangements 
with third parties, to our computing and communications infrastructure, or to our information systems or any of those operated by a third party that we rely 
on could significantly disrupt our business operations.
 

In the current environment, there are numerous and evolving risks to cybersecurity and privacy, including criminal hackers, hacktivists, state-
sponsored intrusions, industrial espionage, employee malfeasance and human or technological error. A cyberattack of our systems or networks that impairs 
our information technology systems could disrupt our business operations and result in loss of service to customers, including technical support for our 
robotics and VR-enabled devices.
 
Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain protection for the intellectual property relating to or incorporated into our products.
 

Our success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain protection for the intellectual property relating to or incorporated into our products. 
We seek to protect our intellectual property through a combination of patents, trademarks, confidentiality, and assignment agreements with our employees 
and certain of our contractors, as well as confidentiality agreements with certain of our consultants, scientific advisors, and other vendors and contractors. 
In addition, we rely on trade secrets law to protect our proprietary software and product candidates/products in development.
 

The patent position of robotic and VR-enabled inventions can be highly uncertain and involves many new and evolving complex legal, factual, and 
technical issues. Patent laws and interpretations of those laws are subject to change and any such changes may diminish the value of our patents or narrow 
the scope of our right to exclude others. In addition, we may fail to apply for or be unable to obtain patents necessary to protect our technology or products 
from copycats or fail to enforce our patents due to lack of information about the exact use of technology or processes by third parties. Also, we cannot be 
sure that any patents will be granted in a timely manner or at all with respect to any of our patent pending applications or that any patents that are granted 
will be adequate to exclude others for any significant period of time or at all. Given the foregoing and in order to continue reducing operational expenses in 
the future, we may invest fewer resources in filing and prosecuting new patents and on maintaining and enforcing various patents, especially in regions 
where we currently do not focus our market growth strategy.
 

Litigation to establish or challenge the validity of patents, or to defend against or assert against others infringement, unauthorized use, enforceability, 
or invalidity, can be lengthy and expensive and may result in our patents being invalidated or interpreted narrowly and restricting our ability to be granted 
new patents related to our pending patent applications. Even if we prevail, litigation may be time consuming, force us to incur significant costs, and could 
divert management’s attention from managing our business while any damages or other remedies awarded to us may not be valuable.
 

In addition, we seek to protect our trade secrets, know-how, and confidential information that is not patentable by entering into confidentiality and 
assignment agreements with our employees and certain of our contractors and confidentiality agreements with certain of our consultants, scientific advisors, 
and other vendors and contractors. However, we may fail to enter into the necessary agreements, and even if entered into, these agreements may be 
breached or otherwise fail to prevent disclosure, third-party infringement, or misappropriation of our proprietary information, may be limited as to their 
term and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure or use of proprietary information. Enforcing a claim that a third party 
illegally obtained or is using our trade 
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secrets without authorization may be expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. Some of our employees or consultants may own 
certain technology which they license to us for a set term. If these technologies are material to our business after the term of the license, our inability to use 
them could adversely affect our business and profitability.
 
We are not able to protect our intellectual property rights in all countries.
 

Filing, prosecuting, maintaining, and defending patents on each of our products in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively 
expensive, and thus our intellectual property rights outside the United States and Europe are limited. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries, 
especially developing countries, such as China, do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States. It 
may not be possible to effectively enforce intellectual property rights in some countries at all or to the same extent as in the United States and other 
countries. Consequently, we are unable to prevent third parties from using our inventions in all countries, or from selling or importing products made using 
our inventions in the jurisdictions in which we do not have (or are unable to effectively enforce) patent protection. Copycats may use our technologies in 
jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop, market or otherwise commercialize their own products, and we may be unable to 
prevent those copycats from importing those infringing products into territories where we have patent protection, but enforcement may not be as strong as 
in the United States. These products may compete with our products and our patents and other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient 
to prevent them from competing in those jurisdictions.
 
We may be subject to patent infringement claims, especially for products acquired through acquisitions, which could result in substantial costs and 
liability and prevent us from commercializing such acquired products.
 

The medical device industry is characterized by competing intellectual property, given the existence of large number of patents, the rapid rate of new 
patent issuances, and the complexities of the technology involved; and patent infringement assessments require costly due diligence and extensive resources 
to cope with the complexity to assess infringement risks in a complex world of regulations and intellectual property filings. As a result, we may choose not 
to conduct extensive and expensive intellectual property due diligence, especially for small deal value; as a consequence, we might be vulnerable to certain 
unknown intellectual property infringement claims, especially related to products we acquired from others. Determining whether a product infringes a 
patent involves complex legal and factual issues and the outcome of patent litigation is often uncertain. Even though we have conducted research of issued 
patents, no assurance can be given that patents containing claims covering our products, technology or methods do not exist, have not been filed or could 
not be filed or issued. In addition, because patent applications can take years to issue and because publication schedules for pending applications vary by 
jurisdiction, there may be applications now pending of which we are unaware, and which may result in issued patents that our current or future products 
infringe.
 

Infringement actions and other intellectual property claims brought against us, whether with or without merit, may cause us to incur meaningful costs 
and could place a significant strain on our financial resources, divert the attention of management, and harm our reputation.
 
We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that our employees or we have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former 
employers.
 

Some of our employees were previously employed at other medical device companies, including our competitors or potential competitors, and we 
may hire employees in the future that are so employed. We could in the future be subject to claims that these employees, or we, have inadvertently or 
otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former employers. If we fail in defending against such claims, a court 
could order us to pay substantial damages and prohibit us from using technologies or features that are found to incorporate or be derived from the trade 
secrets or other proprietary information of the former employers. If any of these technologies or features that are important to our products, this could 
prevent us from selling those products and could have a material adverse effect on our business. Even if we are successful in defending against these 
claims, such litigation could result in substantial costs and divert the attention of management.
 
Risks Related to Ownership of DIH Common Stock
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Future sales of a substantial number of shares of DIH Common Stock by us or our large stockholders, certain of whom may have registration rights, or
dilutive exercises of a substantial number of warrants by our warrant holders could adversely affect the market price of our Common Stock.
 

Sales by us or our stockholders of a substantial number of shares of DIH Common Stock in the public market following the Business Combination, 
or the perception that these sales might occur, could cause the market price of the DIH Common Stock to decline or could impair our ability to raise capital 
through a future sale of our equity securities. Additionally, dilutive exercises of a substantial number of warrants by our warrant-holders, or the perception 
that such exercises may occur, could put downward price on the market price of our Common Stock.
 
Future grants of shares of DIH Common Stock under our equity incentive plan to our employees, non-employee directors and consultants, or sales by 
these individuals in the public market, could result in substantial dilution, thus decreasing the value of your investment in DIH Common Stock. In 
addition, stockholders will experience dilution upon the exercise of outstanding warrants.
 

Shareholders approved an equity incentive plan which provides for the issuance of up to 4,300,000 additional shares of New DIH Common Stock. 
Additionally, to the extent registered on a Form S-8, shares of DIH Common Stock granted or issued under our equity incentive plans will, subject to 
vesting provisions  and Rule 144 volume limitations applicable to our “affiliates,” be available for sale in the open market immediately upon registration. 
Further, as of March 31, 2024, there were 13,355,000  shares of DIH Common Stock underlying issued and outstanding warrants, which if exercised, could 
decrease the net tangible book value of our DIH Common Stock and cause dilution to our existing stockholders. Sales of a substantial number of the above-
mentioned shares of DIH Common Stock in the public market could result in a significant decrease in the market price of the DIH Common Stock and have 
a material adverse effect on your investment.
 
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about DIH’s business, or if they issue an adverse opinion regarding its stock, its 
stock price and trading volume could decline.
 

The trading market for DIH Common Stock is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about DIH or its 
business. DIH does not currently have and may never obtain research coverage by securities and industry analysts. Since DIH became public through a 
merger, securities analysts of major brokerage firms may not provide coverage of DIH since there is no incentive to brokerage firms to recommend the 
purchase of its common stock. If no or few securities or industry analysts commence coverage of DIH, the trading price for its stock would be negatively 
impacted. In the event DIH obtains securities or industry analyst coverage, if any of the analysts who cover it issues an adverse opinion regarding DIH, its 
business model, its intellectual property or its stock performance, or if its clinical trials and operating results fail to meet the expectations of analysts, its 
stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of DIH or fail to publish reports on it regularly, DIH could lose visibility in 
the financial markets, which in turn could cause its stock price or trading volume to decline.
 
We are emerging growth company and a “smaller reporting company” and the reduced reporting requirements applicable to such companies may make 
our DIH Common Stock less attractive to investors.
 

DIH is an emerging growth company, as defined in the JOBS Act. For as long as DIH continues to be an emerging growth company, it may take 
advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies,
including not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations 
regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements and exemptions from the requirements of holding nonbinding advisory 
stockholder votes on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. DIH cannot predict if 
investors will find its common stock less attractive because DIH may rely on these exemptions. If some investors find DIH Common Stock less attractive 
as a result, there may be a less active trading market for DIH Common Stock and its stock price may be more volatile.
 

DIH will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1) the last day of the fiscal year (a) following February 7, 2027 (the fifth 
anniversary of the closing of ATAK’s IPO), (b) in which it has total annual gross revenue of at least $1.235 billion, or (c) in which it is deemed to be a large
accelerated filer, which requires the market value 
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of its common stock that is held by non-affiliates to equal or exceed $700 million as of the last business day of the second fiscal quarter of such year, and 
(2) the date on which DIH has issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the prior three-year period.
 

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting standards until such time as those standards 
apply to private companies. DIH has opted to continue to take advantage of the benefits of the extended transition period, although it may decide to early 
adopt such new or revised accounting standards to the extent permitted by such standards. This may make it difficult or impossible to compare DIH’s 
financial results with the financial results of another public company that is either not an emerging growth company or is an emerging growth company that 
has chosen not to take advantage of the extended transition period exemptions because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.
 

Additionally, DIH is a “smaller reporting company” as defined in Item 10(f) of Regulation S-K, which allows us to take advantage of certain scaled 
disclosure requirements available specifically to smaller reporting companies. For example, we may continue to use reduced compensation disclosure 
obligations, and we will not be obligated to follow the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We will remain a smaller 
reporting company until the last day of the fiscal year in which we have at least $100 million in revenue and at least $700 million in aggregate market value 
of our shares held by non-affiliated persons and entities (known as “public float”), or, alternatively, if our revenue exceeds $100 million, until the last day of 
the fiscal year in which our public float was at least $250.0 million (in each case, with respect to public float, as measured as of the last business day of the 
second quarter of such fiscal year). For the year ended March 31, 2024, DIH recorded revenue of approximately $64 million.
 

We cannot predict or otherwise determine if investors will find our securities less attractive as a result of our reliance on exemptions as a smaller 
reporting company and/or “non-accelerated filer.” If some investors find our securities less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market 
for our  Common Stock and the price of our Common Stock may be more volatile.
 
The price of our Common Stock may be volatile, and you may lose all or part of your investment.
 

The market price of our Common Stock is volatile and may fluctuate substantially as a result of many factors. In addition, because the warrants are 
exercisable into shares of our Common Stock, volatility, or a reduction in the market price of our Common Stock could have an adverse effect on the 
trading price of the warrants. Factors which may cause fluctuations in the price of our Common Stock include, but are not limited to:
 
 ●actual or anticipated fluctuations in our growth rate or results of operations or those of our competitors;
   
 ●customer acceptance of our products;
   
 ●announcements by us or our competitors of new products or services, commercial relationships, acquisitions, or expansion plans;
   
 ●announcements by us or our competitors of other material developments;
   
 ●our involvement in litigation;
   
 ●changes in government regulation applicable to us and our products;
   
 ●sales, or the anticipation of sales, of our Common Stock, warrants and debt securities by us, or sales of our Common Stock by our insiders or other 

shareholders, including upon expiration of contractual lock-up agreements;
   
 ●developments with respect to intellectual property rights;
   
 ●competition from existing or new technologies and products;
   
 ●changes in key personnel;
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 ●the trading volume of the Common Stock;
   
 ●changes in the estimation of the future size and growth rate of our markets;
   
 ●changes in our quarterly or annual forecasts with respect to operating results and financial conditions;
   
 ●general economic and market conditions and
   
 ●Announcements regarding business acquisitions.
 

In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. Broad market and industry factors may materially harm the 
market price of our Common Stock, regardless of our operating performance. Technical factors in the public trading market for Common Stock may 
produce price movements that may or may not comport with macroeconomic, industry or DIH-specific fundamentals, including, without limitation, the 
sentiment of retail investors (including as may be expressed on financial trading and other social media sites), the amount and status of short interest in our 
securities, access to margin debt, trading in options and other derivatives on our Common Stock and any related hedging or other technical trading factors. 
In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against 
that company. If we become involved in any similar litigation, we could incur substantial costs and our management’s attention and resources could be 
diverted.
 
General Risks
 
Exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. dollar, the Euro and the Swiss Franc may negatively affect our revenue and earnings.
 

The U.S. dollar is our functional and reporting currency. However, more than 50% of our sales orders come from Europe in euros; and we pay a 
significant portion of our expenses in euro and Swiss Francs; and we expect this to continue. As a result, we are exposed to exchange rate risks that may 
materially and adversely affect our financial results. Accordingly, any depreciation of the euro relative to the U.S. dollar would adversely impact our
revenue, and any appreciation of Swiss Franc against U.S. dollar will adversely impact net loss or net income, if any.
 

Our operations also could be adversely affected if we are unable to effectively hedge against currency fluctuations in the future.
 
We are subject to certain regulatory regimes that may affect the way that we conduct business internationally, and our failure to comply with applicable 
laws and regulations could materially adversely affect our reputation and result in penalties and increased costs.
 

We are subject to a complex system of laws and regulations related to international trade, including economic sanctions and export control laws and 
regulations. We also depend on our distributors and agents for compliance and adherence to local laws and regulations in the markets in which they operate. 
Significant political or regulatory developments in the jurisdictions in which we sell our products, such as those stemming from the presidential 
administration in the United States or the U.K.’s exit from the E.U. (known as “Brexit”), are difficult to predict and may have a material adverse effect on 
us. For example, in the United States, the Trump administration-imposed tariffs on imports from China, Mexico, Canada, and other countries, and 
expressed support for greater restrictions on free trade and increase tariffs on goods imported into the United States. Changes in U.S. political, regulatory, 
and economic conditions or in its policies governing international trade and foreign manufacturing and investment in the United States could adversely 
affect our sales in the United States.
 

We are also subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and may be subject to similar worldwide anti-bribery laws that generally prohibit 
companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Despite our 
compliance and training programs, we cannot be certain that our procedures will be sufficient to ensure consistent compliance with all applicable 
international trade and anti-corruption laws, or that our employees or channel partners will strictly follow all policies 
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and requirements to which we subject them. Any alleged or actual violations of these laws may subject us to government scrutiny, investigation, debarment, 
and civil and criminal penalties, which may have an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and reputation.
 
If there are significant disruptions in our information technology systems, our business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely 
affected.
 

The efficient operation of our business depends on our information technology systems like Oracle’s ERP and Microsoft 360 Office Platforms. We 
rely on our information technology systems to effectively manage sales and marketing data, accounting and financial functions, inventory management, 
product development tasks, research and development data, customer service and technical support functions. Our information technology systems are 
vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, fires, floods and other natural disasters, terrorist attacks, attacks by computer viruses or hackers, 
power losses, and computer system or data network failures. In addition, our data management application is hosted by a third-party service provider whose 
security and information technology systems are subject to similar risks, and our products’ systems contain software which could be subject to computer 
virus or hacker attacks or other failures.
 

The failure of our or our service providers’ information technology systems or our products’ software to perform as we anticipate or our failure to 
effectively implement new information technology systems could disrupt our entire operation or adversely affect our software products and could result in 
decreased sales, increased overhead costs, and product shortages, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial 
condition, and operating results.
 
If we fail to properly manage our anticipated growth, our business could suffer.
 

Our growth and product expansion has placed, and we expect that it will continue to place, a significant strain on our management team and on our 
financial resources. Failure to manage our growth effectively could cause us to misallocate management or financial resources, and result in losses or 
weaknesses in our infrastructure, which could materially adversely affect our business. Additionally, our anticipated growth will increase the demands 
placed on our suppliers, resulting in an increased need for us to manage our suppliers and monitor for quality assurance. Any failure by us to manage our 
growth effectively could have an adverse effect on our ability to achieve our business objectives.
 
We are highly dependent on the knowledge and skills of our global leadership team, and if we are not successful in attracting and retaining highly 
qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy.
 

Our ability to continue to lead in this fragmented industry depends upon our ability to attract, develop and retain highly qualified managerial, 
scientific, sales and medical personnel. We are highly dependent on our global leadership team and have benefited substantially from the leadership and 
performance of our global leadership team. The loss of the services of any of our executive officers and other key global leadership team member, and our 
inability to find suitable replacements could result in delays in product development and harm the smooth operation of our business.
 
DIH’s management team has limited experience managing a public company.
 

Members of our management team have limited experience managing a publicly traded company, interacting with public company investors, and 
complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies. We may not successfully or efficiently manage our transition to being a 
public company that is subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations under the federal securities laws and the continuous scrutiny of 
securities analysts and investors. These new obligations and constituents will require significant attention from our senior management and could divert 
their attention away from the day-to-day management of our business, which could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
 
We have identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. These material weaknesses could continue to adversely affect 
our ability to report our results of operations and financial condition accurately and in a timely manner .
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Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Our 
management is likewise required to evaluate the effectiveness of our internal controls and to disclose any changes and material weaknesses identified 
through such evaluation in those internal controls. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial 
reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or 
detected on a timely basis.
 

We identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting with respect to our accounting personnel. Specifically, the Company 
concluded that it had limited accounting personnel and other resources with which to address its internal control over financial reporting in accordance with 
requirements applicable to public companies. Historically, the Company has not retained a sufficient number of professionals with an appropriate level of 
accounting knowledge, training and experience to appropriately analyze, record and disclose accounting matters under U. S. GAAP.
 

Any failure to maintain such internal control could adversely impact our ability to report our financial position and results from operations on a 
timely and accurate basis. If our financial statements are not accurate, investors may not have a complete understanding of our operations. Likewise, if our 
financial statements are not filed on a timely basis, we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq or any other exchange on which our 
Common Stock are listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities. In either case, there could result a material adverse effect on our business. Ineffective 
internal controls could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price 
of the Common Stock.
 

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity. 
Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy
 

We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity risk management program intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of 
our critical systems and information.
 

We design and assess our program based on the National Institute of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity Framework Special Publication 800-
53, 800-61, rev 2 (“NIST CSF). This does not imply that we meet any particular technical standards, specifications, or requirements. We use the NIST CSF 
as a guide to help us identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity risks relevant to our business.
 

Our cybersecurity risk management program is integrated into our overall enterprise risk management program and shares common methodologies, 
reporting channels, and governance processes that apply across the enterprise risk management program to other legal, compliance, strategic, operational,
and financial risk areas.
 

Our cybersecurity risk management program includes the following:
 
 ● risk assessments designed to help identify material cybersecurity risks to our critical systems, information, products, services, and our broader 

enterprise IT environment;
   
 ● a security team principally responsible for managing (1) our cybersecurity risk assessment processes, (2) our security controls, and (3) our 

response to cybersecurity incidents;
   
 ● the use of external service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test, or otherwise assist with aspects of our security controls;
   
 ● cybersecurity awareness training of our employees, incident response personnel, and senior management; and
   
 ● a cybersecurity incident response plan that includes procedures for responding to cybersecurity incidents.
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There can be no assurance that our cybersecurity risk management program and processes, including our policies, controls or procedures, will be 

fully implemented, complied with or effective in protecting our systems and information.
 

We have not identified risks from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected 
or are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition
 
Cybersecurity Governance
 

Our Board considers cybersecurity risks as part of its risk oversight function of cybersecurity and other information technology risks.
 

The Chief Financial Officer oversees our information security programs, including cybersecurity initiatives, and is integrated into our Cybersecurity 
Incident response process. We assess and prioritize risks based on potential impact, implement technical controls, and monitor third-party vendors’ security 
practices.
 

The Audit Committee oversees management’s implementation of our cybersecurity risk management program and receives updates on the 
cybersecurity risk management program from management at least annually. In addition, management updates the Audit Committee regarding any material 
or significant cybersecurity incidents, as well as incidents with lesser impact potential as necessary. The Audit Committee oversees cybersecurity risk 
management activities, supported by Company management, the Board of Directors, and external consultants.
 

The Audit Committee reports to the full Board annually regarding cybersecurity. The full Board also receives annual briefings from external experts 
on cybersecurity as part of the Board’s continuing education on topics that impact public companies.
 
Ongoing Risks
 

We have not experienced any material cybersecurity incidents. We have not identified risks from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of 
any prior cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition.
 
Risk Management and Strategy
 

The Company recognizes the critical importance of cybersecurity in safeguarding sensitive information, maintaining operational resilience, and 
protecting stakeholders’ interests. This cybersecurity policy is designed to establish a comprehensive framework for identifying, assessing, mitigating, and 
responding to cybersecurity risks across the organization.
 

The Company is in the process of establishing a cybersecurity policy which will implement protocols to evaluate, recognize, and address significant 
risks, including those posed by cybersecurity threats. This strategy encompasses the utilization of standard traffic monitoring tools, educating personnel to 
identify and report abnormal activities, and partnering with reputable service providers capable of upholding security standards equivalent to or exceeding 
our own.
 

These measures are to be seamlessly integrated into our broader operational risk management framework aimed at minimizing exposure to 
unnecessary risks across our operations. For cybersecurity, we collaborate with expert consultants and third-party service providers to implement industry-
standard strategies aimed at identifying and mitigating potential threats or vulnerabilities within our systems. Additionally, the policy will have a 
comprehensive cyber crisis response plan to manage high severity security incidents, ensuring efficient coordination across the organization.
 

Cybersecurity threats haven’t significantly impacted our operations, and we don’t anticipate such risks materially affecting our business, strategy, 
financial condition, or results of operations. However, given the escalating 
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sophistication of cyber threats, our preventive measures may not always suffice. Despite well-designed controls, we acknowledge the inability to foresee all 
security breaches, including those stemming from third-party misuse of AI technologies, and the potential challenges in implementing timely preventive 
measures.
 

Item 2. Properties.
 
Our executive offices are located at 77 Accord Drive, Suite D-1 Norwell, MA. We do not own any properties, instead we lease properties to meet our 

needs. Currently, we have one main R&D and Operational campus that we lease for Hocoma Medical operation in Switzerland. The leased property is 
located at Industriestrasse 2 and 4a in 8604 Volketswil. Beside the main campuses, we also lease five commercial offices space at the following locations to 
house the regional Sales & Marketing, Clinical Application & Training, Technical Services, Finance, Logistics, Administration and other local market 
support functions.
 
 ■ DIH Technology Inc. leases commercial office for American team at 77 Accord Park Dr., Suite D-1, Norwell, MA 02061, United States
 ■ DIH Technology d.o.o leases commercial office for EMEA Indirect sales team at Letališka 29a, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia
 ■ DIH GmbH leases commercial office for the Direct Sales team in DACH region, at Konrad-Adenauer Strasse 13, 50996 Köln, Germany
 ■ DIH Pte Ltd leases commercial office for APAC team at 67 Ubi Avenue 1, #06-17 Starhub Green, Singapore 408942
 ■ DIH SpA leases commercial office for LATAM team at Pdte. Kennedy Lateral 5488, Oficina 1402; Vitacura, Santiago, Chile

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
 

There is no material litigation, arbitration or governmental proceeding currently pending against us or any members of our management team in their 
capacity as such, and we and the members of our management team have not been subject to any such proceeding in the 12 months preceding the date of 
this Annual Report.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
 

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
 
Market Information 
 

Our Common Stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Market  under the symbol “DHAI,” and our Public Warrants are listed on the Nasdaq Capital 
Market under the symbol “DHAIW.”
 
Holders of Record
 

As of the date of May 31, 2024, there were 119 holders of record of our Common Stock, and 2 holders of record of our Public Warrants.
 
Dividend Policy
 

We have not paid any cash dividends on shares of our Common Stock to date and do not intend to pay cash dividends. The payment of cash 
dividends in the future will be dependent upon our revenues and earnings, if any, capital requirements and general financial condition. The payment of any 
dividends will be within the discretion of our board of directors. It is the present intention of our board of directors to retain all earnings, if any, for use in 
our business operations and, accordingly, our board of directors does not anticipate declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future.
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities 
 

In connection with the consummation of the Business Combination, DIH issued 229,796 shares of its Common Stock to Maxim Group LLC and to 
other vendors as partial payment of expenses owed.
 

On June 6, 2024, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with the purchasers named therein (the 
“Purchasers”), pursuant to which the Company sold on June 7, 2024, in a private placement, an aggregate of $3,300,000 in principal amount of 8% 
Original Issue Discount Senior Secured Convertible Debentures (the “Debentures”), initially convertible into an aggregate of 660,000 shares of the 
Company’s Common Stock, par value $0.0001 (the “Common Stock”) at a conversion price of $5.00 (the “Conversion Price”). The Debentures have an 
aggregate face value of $3,300,000 and were issued with an original issue discount of $300,000. In connection with the purchase of the Debentures, each 
Purchaser received warrants to purchase shares of Common Stock (the “Warrants”) equal to 50% of such Purchaser’s Conversion Shares or an aggregate of 
330,000 Warrants. Each Warrant has an exercise price of $5.00 and a five year term.
 

The Debentures and the Warrants were sold pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities 
Act”), available under Section 4(a)(2) and Rule 506(b) of Regulation D promulgated thereunder. The Conversion Shares and the Warrant Shares will be 
issued pursuant to the same exemption or pursuant to the exemption provided by Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act. Accordingly, the securities issued in 
the private placement may not be offered or sold in the United States except pursuant to an effective registration statement or an applicable exemption from 
the registration requirements of the Securities Act and such applicable state securities laws.
 
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
 

None.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF DIH

The following discussion and analysis should be read together with the historical audited annual consolidated financial statements and related notes 
that are included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The following discussion may contain forward-looking statements. Actual results could differ materially 
from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those factors discussed below 
and elsewhere in this Form 10-K, particularly in sections therein entitled “Cautionary Note Concerning Forward Looking Statements” and “Risk 
Factors.” .

Our fiscal year ends on March 31. “Fiscal 2024” and “fiscal 2023” refer to the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Overview

DIH is a global solution provider in blending innovative robotic and VR technologies with clinical integration and insights. DIH has a focused 
portfolio of rehabilitation solutions, which includes both technology and products designed for the hospital, clinic, and research markets.

In fiscal 2024, DIH generated revenue of $64.5 million compared to $54.1 million in fiscal 2023. 

DIH’s net loss for fiscal 2024 was $8.4 million, compared to $1.0 million in fiscal 2023. The net loss increased $7.4 million which was primarily 
driven by total transaction costs of $7.1 million to close the Business Combination with ATAK, which included a non-cash financial advisory fee of $3.5
million paid with 700,000 shares of Common Stock. The increase in net loss was also driven by an increase in the cost of goods sold, which was largely due 
to higher device sales volume, direct cost inflation, and an increase in the inventory reserve for slow moving parts, as well as, elevated costs related to 
professional service and IT costs related to audit, legal and other professional services to close the business combination discussed in more detail below. 
The increase in costs and expenses is offset by an increase in revenue as the Company is emerging from the COVID-19 pandemic period that depressed 
global sales volume due to social distancing measures, and the current year was free of additional non-recurring expenditures for the European Union 
Medical Device Regulation (EU MDR) and other large scale projects.

Recent Developments

Business Combination 

On February 7, 2024, ATAK, Aurora Technology Merger Sub (“Merger Sub”) and DIH Nevada consummated a previously announced business 
combination pursuant to the Business Agreement dated as of February 26, 2023 following the receipt of the required approval by ATAK’s and DIH 
Nevada’s shareholders and the fulfillment or waiver of other customary closing conditions. ATAK agreed to waive the closing condition that the 
Reorganization be completed prior to Closing.  As a result, at Closing of the Business Combination, the Company includes Hocoma Medical that holds 
assets transferred from Hocoma AG as well as other commercial entities controlled by the Company. Whereas, Hocoma AG and Motekforce Link BV and 
its subsidiaries were excluded. The Company agreed to use its best efforts to complete the intended Reorganization to transfer Hocoma AG and Motek to 
the Company as soon as possible thereafter. 

In the interim, DIH continues its historical relationship with Motek as an exclusive distributor of the advanced human movement research and 
rehabilitation products and services designed to support efficient functional movement therapy within specified territories. DIH also intends to continue 
making periodic payments on notes payable to Hocoma AG, which arose from Hocoma AG transferring assets to the Company. 

 
Upon closing of the Business Combination, the Company received cash held in trust account of $899 thousand. In connection with the Closing of the 

Business Combination, ATAK migrated and changed its domestication to become a Delaware corporation and changed its name to “DIH Holding US, Inc.” 
Legacy DIH stockholders received 
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shares of Common Stock of DIH, as more fully described in the section in the proxy statement/prospectus entitled “The Business Combination Agreement.” 

The historical financial results presented in the registration statements were prepared on a combined basis including Legacy DIH, Hocoma AG and
Motek Group pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement for the intended Reorganization. In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company has 
recast historical financial statements on a consolidated basis including operations from Legacy DIH excluding Hocoma AG and the Motek Group that 
remained with DIH Hong Kong. The Merger was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization, in accordance with GAAP. Under this method of accounting, 
ATAK was treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. Accordingly, the Business Combination was treated as the equivalent of 
DIH Nevada issuing stock for the net assets of ATAK, accompanied by a recapitalization. The net assets of ATAK were stated at historical cost, with no 
goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. Operations prior to the Business Combination were those of Legacy DIH and its subsidiaries, excluding 
Hocoma AG and Motek Group. 

As a consequence of the Business Combination, the Company became the successor to an SEC-registered company, which requires DIH to hire 
additional personnel and implement procedures and processes to address public company regulatory requirements and customary practices. DIH expects to 
incur additional annual expenses as a public company for, among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees and additional 
internal and external accounting and legal and administrative resources, including increased audit and legal fees.

Key Factors Affecting the DIH’s Operating Results

DIH believes that its future success and financial performance depend on a number of factors that present significant opportunities for its business, 
but also pose risks and challenges, including those discussed below and in the Section of this Form 10-K entitled “Item 1a. Risk Factors.”

Supply Chain and Inflation

The global supply chain and logistics challenges continue to impact DIH and the industry. As a result of these challenges, DIH has experienced cost 
increases for freight and logistics, raw materials and purchased components as well as increased manufacturing conversion costs. These supply chain 
disruptions have not materially affected DIH’s business outlook and goals or its operating results, including its sales, revenue, or liquidity or capital 
resources and DIH has not implemented any mitigation efforts to date as a result. However, DIH cannot predict the impact to it of any future or prolonged 
supply chain disruptions or any mitigation efforts it may take going forward. For example as a result of these supply chain disruptions, DIH may be 
required to extend the overall shipment and installation timeline. In addition, DIH may consider additional or alternative third-party manufacturers and 
logistics providers, suppliers, vendors or distributors. Such mitigation efforts may result in cost increases and any attempts to offset such increases with 
price increases may result in reduced sales, increased customer dissatisfaction, or otherwise harm DIH’s reputation. Further, if DIH were to elect to 
transition or add manufacturers or logistics providers, suppliers, vendors or distributors, it may result in temporary or additional delays in shipments of 
products or risks related to consistent product quality or reliability. This in turn may limit DIH’s ability to fulfill customer sales orders and DIH may be 
unable to satisfy all of the demand for its products. DIH may in the future also purchase components further in advance, which in return can result in less 
capital being allocated to other activities such as marketing and other business needs. DIH cannot quantify the impact of such disruptions at this time or 
predict the impact of any mitigation efforts DIH may take in response to supply chain disruptions on its business, financial condition, and results of 
operations.

Input cost inflation historically has not been a material factor to our gross margin; however, beginning at the end of fiscal 2022 DIH began to 
experience increases in raw material and components costs due to inflation effects, which are expected to continue to remain at elevated levels for at least 
the near term.

Foreign Currency Fluctuations

DIH’s business operates in three different functional currencies (Euro, Swiss Franc, Singapore Dollar). DIH’s reporting currency is the U.S. Dollar. 
DIH’s results are affected by fluctuations in currency exchange rates that give rise to translational exchange rate risks. The extent of such fluctuations is 
determined in part by global economic conditions and macro-economic trends. Movements in exchange rates have a direct impact on DIH’s reported 
revenues. Generally, the impact on operating income or loss associated with exchange rate changes on reported 
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revenues is partially offset from exchange rate impacts on operating expenses denominated in the same functional currencies. As foreign currency exchange 
rates change, translation of the statements of operations of DIH’s international businesses into U.S. dollars may affect year-over-year comparability of 
DIH’s operating results.

EU MDR Implementation Costs

Changes in law or regulation could make it more difficult and costly for DIH and its subsidiaries to manufacture, market and distribute its products 
or obtain or maintain regulatory approval of new or modified products. DIH’s experience with the transition to the EU MDR, which it began in 2019, 
showed how complex, time-consuming and expensive a change in Medical Device Legislation can be. The EU MDR replaced the existing European 
Medical Devices Directive (MDD) and Active Implantable Medical Device Directive (AIMDD) regulatory frameworks, and manufacturers of medical 
devices were required to comply with EU MDR beginning in May 2021 for new product registrations and by May 2024 for medical devices which have a 
valid CE Certificate to the prior Directives (issued before May 2021). Updates to the legislative text of the EU MDR were adopted by the European 
Parliament and are currently being reviewed for adoption by the Council of the European Union, including an extension of the transitional period to 2027 
for class IIb and III and 2028 for class I and IIa medical devices which have a valid CE Certificate to the prior Directives (issued before May 2021).

Macroeconomic Uncertainties on Future Operations

DIH’s operations are exposed to and impacted by various global macroeconomic factors. DIH faces continuing market and operating challenges 
across the globe due to, among other factors, impact of conflict in Ukraine, conditions related to the COVID-19 pandemic, supply chain disruption, higher 
interest rates and inflationary pressures. Continued evolution of these conditions could lead to economic slowdowns.

Basis of Presentation

Refer to Note 2 of the Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the underlying basis used to prepare the consolidated 
financial statements.


 
Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

DIH generates revenue from the sale of medical rehabilitation devices and technology. DIH’s primary customers include healthcare systems, clinics, 
third-party healthcare providers, distributors, and other institutions, including governmental healthcare programs and group purchasing organizations. 
Shipping and handling costs charged to customers are included in net sales. DIH expects revenue to increase sequentially in future periods as it expects the 
demand for its products to expand in represented markets.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales primarily consists of direct materials, supplies, in-bound freight and labor-related costs, including salaries and benefits for our 
manufacturing personnel, technical support team, our professional consulting personnel and our training teams. Cost of sales also includes allocated 
overhead costs, including facilities costs, depreciation of manufacturing-related equipment and facilities and other direct costs. DIH expects cost of sales to 
increase in absolute dollars in future periods as it expects orders for its products to continue to grow and expects cost of sales per unit to decrease as 
leverage improves behind expected growth.

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

Selling, general and administrative expense primarily consists of personnel related expenses for DIH’s corporate, executive, finance and other 
administrative functions, expenses for outside professional services, including legal, audit and advisory services as well as expenses for facilities, 
depreciation, amortization, and marketing costs. Personnel-related expenses consist of salaries and benefits.
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DIH expects selling, general and administrative expenses to increase for the foreseeable future as it scales headcount, expands hiring of engineers 
and designers, continues to invest in development of technology in order to drive the growth of the business, and as a result of operating as a public 
company, including compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, legal, audit, additional insurance expenses, investor relations activities and other 
administrative and professional services.

Research and Development 

Research and development primarily consists of research, engineering, and technical activities to develop a new product or service or make 
significant improvement to an existing product or manufacturing process. Research and development costs also include pre-approval regulatory and clinical 
trial expenses.

DIH expects research and development costs to increase as it continues to invest in product design and technology to drive the growth of the 
business.

Interest Expense

Interest expense primarily consists of interest expense associated with related party notes payable and bank charges.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net primarily consists of the non-service components of net periodic defined benefit plan income (costs) and certain non-
recurring costs in connection with the Business Combination.

Income Tax Expense

The income tax provision (benefit) consists of an estimate for U.S. federal, state and foreign income taxes based on enacted rates, as adjusted for 
allowable credits, deductions, uncertain tax positions, changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities and changes in the tax law.

Results of Operations
 

   Year ended March 31,              
(in thousands, except percentages)   2024     2023     $ Change     % Change  
Revenue   $ 64,473     $ 54,059     $ 10,414       19.3 %
Costs of sales     34,702       23,474       11,228       47.8 %
Gross Profit     29,771       30,585       (814 )     (2.7 )%
Operating expenses:                        

Selling, general and administrative expense     25,776       22,957       2,819       12.3 %
Research and development     6,609       6,919       (310 )     (4.5 )%

Total operating expenses     32,385       29,876       2,509       8.4 %
Operating loss     (2,614 )     709       (3,323 )     (468.7 )%
Other income (expense):                        

Interest expense     (693 )     (277 )     (416 )     150.2 %
Other income (expense), net     (3,890 )     572       (4,462 )     (780.1 )%

Total other income (expense)     (4,583 )     295       (4,878 )     (1653.6 )%
Profit (loss) before income taxes     (7,197 )     1,004       (8,201 )     (816.8 )%
Income tax expense     1,246       2,018       (772 )     (38.3 )%
Net loss   $ (8,443 )   $ (1,014 )   $ (7,429 )     732.6 %
 
Revenue

The following table presents net revenue by major source for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023: 
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   Year ended March 31,              
(in thousands, except percentages)   2024     2023     $ Change     % Change  
Devices   $ 51,125     $ 43,452     $ 7,673       17.7 %
Services     11,105       9,292       1,813       19.5 %
Other     2,243       1,315       928       70.6 %

   $ 64,473     $ 54,059     $ 10,414       19.3 %
 

Revenue for the year ended March 31, 2024 increased by $10.4 million, or 19.3%, to $64.5 million from $54.1 million for the year ended March 31, 
2023. The overall increase was primarily due to an increase in devices sold of $7.7 million, or 17.7%. The increase in devices revenue was driven by higher 
sales volume in Europe, the Americas and Asia. Services revenue represented an increase of $1.8 million, up 19.5% compared to the prior period. Other 
revenues represented an increase of $0.9 million, up 70.6% compared to the prior period.

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates had a favorable impact on our net sales for the year  ended March 31, 2024, resulting in an increase of 
approximately $1.7 million. This was mainly driven by fluctuations in Euro valuations throughout the period.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales for the year ended March 31, 2024 increased by $11.2 million, or 47.8%, to $34.7 million from $23.5 million for the year ended March 
31, 2023. The Cost of Goods for device sales increased by $7.3 million, which directly correlated to the increase in device sales with an incremental cost of 
$4.4 million for the additional volume and inflationary cost increases on direct costs of goods of approximately $2.2 million. The additional increase in cost 
of sales is mainly driven by an increase of $0.6 million in inventory reserve for slow moving parts and increased overhead and services parts costs of $3.9 
million. The impact due to foreign currency translation losses resulted in an increase of approximately $0.1 million. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expense

Selling, general and administrative expense for the year ended March 31, 2024 increased by $2.8 million, or 12.3%, to $25.7 million from $23.0 
million for the year ended March 31, 2023. The increase was primarily due to an increase in professional service costs of $1.5 million related to audit, legal 
and other professional services in preparation for the business combination and becoming a publicly listed company, and investment in finance capacity in 
preparation for public company reporting obligations. The increase was also attributable to personnel related expense primarily due to an $1 million 
increase in pension expense resulting from changes in market yields. The increase was partially offset by a decrease in credit loss provisions.

Research and Development 

Research and development costs for the year ended March 31, 2024 decreased by $0.3 million, or 4.5%, to $6.6 million from $6.9 million for the 
year ended March 31, 2023. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in the research and development material purchase and external consulting of 
$0.2 million and charges pertaining to the Gorbel acquisition of $0.4 million, that are not recurring in the current period. The decrease was offset by an 
increase in personnel expenses of $0.3 million. 

Interest Expense

Interest expense for the year ended March 31, 2024 increased by $416 thousand, or 150.2% in relates to interests on Related Party Notes and an 
increase in temporary bank charge.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net for the year ended March 31, 2024 was $3.9 million of expense compared to $0.6 million of income for the year ended 
March 31, 2023. The change was primarily driven by a $3.5 million financial advisory fee paid with 700,000 shares of Common Stock in connection with 
closing of the Business Combination as well as realized foreign exchange losses during the period.

Income Tax Expense
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Income tax expense for the year ended March 31, 2024 decreased by $0.8 million to $1.2 million. The change was primarily driven by changes in 
the net results of the underlying subsidiaries across jurisdictions. The tax expense for March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 is driven by pre-tax book income 
in certain jurisdictions while the benefit from pre-tax losses in other jurisdiction may not be realizable. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of March 31 2024 and 2023, DIH’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to $3.2 million and $3.2 million, respectively. DIH’s sources of liquidity 
have been predominantly from proceeds received from product sales and services provided. DIH’s sources of liquidity have enabled DIH to expand its 
installation base, capacity and grow its sales personnel to expand capabilities and enter new markets. For the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the 
Company has not used proceeds from external financing to support its operation and growth.

DIH’s operating losses began in fiscal 2020 and continued through the year ended March 31, 2024. DIH’s historical operating losses resulted in an 
accumulated deficit of $(35.2) million as of March 31, 2024. Operating losses were mainly driven by decreased sales during the COVID-19 pandemic due 
to social distancing measures that affected demand for rehabilitation services, increased expenditures in connection with its implementation of a new 
financial system (Oracle) and increased compliance costs associated with the EU MDR. Additionally, DIH had elevated costs related to efforts of adopting 
to public company standards. During the year ended March 31, 2024, DIH had positive cash flows from operating activities for $5.2 million and operating 
loss for $2.6 million. DIH anticipates achieving positive cash flow in the future. This transition towards profitability is attributable to DIH's ongoing efforts 
to streamline its organizational structure and cost management enabled by digitization investments such as the Oracle system implementation, alongside 
anticipated revenue growth. 

DIH’s gross revenue has increased by 19.3%, from $54.1 million to $64.5 million for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. DIH 
plans to continue to fund its growth through cash flows from operations and future debt and equity financings. Management expects that its cash and cash 
equivalents, together with cash provided by our operating activities and proceeds from future debt and equity financings, will be sufficient to fund its 
operating expenses and capital expenditures requirements for at least the next 12 months.

In connection with the transfer of Hocoma AG's business and assets to DIH, we incurred three related party notes payable to Hocoma AG as further 
discussed in Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The three Related Party Notes amounting to $10.47 million, $7.80 million and 
$1.57 million reflect transferring the assets, equity ownership in subsidiaries and IP rights it held to Legacy DIH. Each of the Related Party Notes Payable 
is due on June 30, 2026 with interest rate of 1.25%. The Company has made periodic payment on Related Party Notes payable with proceeds from its 
operations. The remaining balance on the Related Party Notes payable is  $11.5 million and $17.3 million as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. We 
expect to continue our growth and generate sufficient proceeds in payments of Related Party Notes payable. 

DIH’s other material contractual operating cash commitments at March 31, 2024 relate to leases and employee benefit plans. DIH’s employee 
benefit plans are discussed further in Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. DIH’s long-term lease obligations and future payments are 
discussed further in Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes DIH’s cash flow activities for the periods presented:
 

   Year ended March 31,  
(in thousands)   2024     2023  
Net cash (used in) / provided by operating activities   $ 5,192     $ 5,501  
Net cash (used in) / provided by investing activities     (202 )     (145 )
Net cash (used in) / provided by financing activities     (4,945 )     (4,053 )
Effect of currency translation on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash     5       (61 )
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   $ 50     $ 1,242  
 
Net Cash Provided by / (Used in) Operating Activities 
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Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended March 31, 2024 was in line with that for the year ended March 31, 2023 primarily 
driven by: 

• Decrease in net loss of $7.4 million. The primary driver was $3.5 million noncash fee recorded in other expense paid to Maxim in equity in 
connection with closing of the Business Combination. The decrease was also driven by operating loss of $2.6 million for the year ended 
March 31, 2024 compared to $0.7 million operating income for the year ended March 31, 2023. The change in operating loss is primarily due 
to increase in professional service costs in preparation for the business combination.

• Net increase of $6.1 million in non-cash charges pertains to a $3.5 million charge due to Maxim success fee paid in equity and a $2.3 million 
increase in change in inventory reserve as well a $1.0 million increase in foreign exchange gain / (losses), which is attributable to the change 
in Euro during the last part of fiscal year 2023 and the slight rebound and stabilization during fiscal year 2024. The increases in non-cash 
charges were offset by a decrease in allowance for doubtful accounts of $1.7 million.

• Net decrease of $2.3 million relating to changes in working capital was driven by increase in spend for inventory purchase of $3.8 million as 
the Company was preparing for FY25 production and aligning with customer schedules for order fulfillment. The decrease was also driven 
by a decrease in deferred revenue resulted from the difference in timing of payments received from our customers related to service contracts. 
In addition, during the period, the Company began paying accrued expenses related to costs in connection with Company becoming a 
publicly listed. 

This decrease in working capital was partially offset by increase of $2.2 million in advanced payments from customer for the year ended 
March 31, 2024 compared to the year ended March 31, 2023 primarily due to the timing of the order received. Many customers prepay a 
portion of each order, which supports the operations of the company in the production of the goods. We also observed a total increase of $5.2 
million in accounts receivable and accounts payable as we are managing our working capital. Working capital was impacted by favorable 
changes in due from and due to related parties balances driven by the Company’s purchase from the Motek Group and change in balance 
from Hocoma AG.

Net Cash (Used in) / Provided by Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities is consistent between the year ended March 31, 2024 compared to that for the year ended March 31, 2023. The 
cash used in investing activities primarily includes purchase of property and equipment. DIH expects to fund future cash flows used in investing activities 
with cash flow generated by operations.

Net Cash (Used in) / Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities increased by $0.8 million to $4.9 million for the year ended March 31, 2024 compared to $4.1 million for the 
year ended March 31, 2023. The increase was primarily due to increase of $1.8 million in payments on related party notes payable resulting from the asset 
transfer from Hocoma AG to the Company offset by proceeds received upon closing of the Business Combination. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

DIH’s financial statements are based on the selection and application of significant accounting policies, which require management to make 
significant estimates and assumptions. Management believes that the following are some of the more critical judgment areas in the application of 
accounting policies that currently affect DIH’s financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

Sales are recognized as the performance obligations to deliver products or services are satisfied and are recorded based on the amount of 
consideration DIH expects to receive in exchange for satisfying the performance obligations. DIH’s sales are recognized primarily when it transfers control 
to the customer, which can be on the date of shipment of the product, the date of receipt of the product by the customer or upon completion of any required 
product 
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installation service depending on the terms of the sales contracts and product shipping terms. The sales amount of warranties are deferred and recognized as 
revenue on a straight-line basis over the warranty period.

We provide a variety of products and services to our customers. Most of our contracts consist of a single, distinct performance obligation or promise 
to transfer goods or services to a customer. For contracts that include multiple performance obligations, we allocate the total transaction price to each 
performance obligation using our best estimate of the standalone selling price of each identified performance obligation.

Deferred revenue primarily represents service contracts and equipment maintenance, for which consideration is received in advance of when service 
for the device or equipment is provided, and a smaller component of product shipments where a residual installation service is to be completed. Revenue 
related to services contracts and equipment maintenance is recognized over the service period as time elapses. Revenues related to products containing an 
installation clause, are recognized once the item is confirmed installed. 

Employee Benefit Plans

DIH has defined contribution plans or benefit pension plans covering substantially all of its employees. We recognize a liability for the underfunded 
status of the single employer defined benefit plans. Actuarial gains or losses and prior service costs or credits are recorded within other comprehensive 
income (loss). The determination of our obligation and related expense for our sponsored pensions is dependent, in part, on management’s selection of 
certain actuarial assumptions in calculating these amounts.

The actuarial assumptions used for the defined benefit plans are based on the economic conditions prevailing in the jurisdiction in which they are 
offered. Changes in the defined benefit obligation are most sensitive to changes in the discount rate. The discount rate is based on the yield of high-quality 
corporate bonds quoted in an active market in the currency of the respective plan. A decrease in the discount curve increases the defined benefit obligation. 
DIH regularly reviews the actuarial assumptions used in calculating the defined benefit obligation to determine their continuing relevance. We utilized 
weighted discount rates of 1.50% and 2.10% for our pension plan expenses for fiscal 2024 and fiscal 2023, respectively.

Sensitivity to changes in the discount rate used in the calculation of our pension plan liabilities is illustrated below (dollars in millions).
 

  
Percentage


Point Change  

Projected

Benefit


Obligation

(Decrease)

Increase  

Service

Cost


(Decrease)

Increase

Discount rate   +/-1.00%   $(1.6) / 2.1   $(0.2) / 0.2
 
Income Taxes

DIH accounts for income taxes in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740, Income Taxes (Topic 740). Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and 
liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and other loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax 
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. DIH reviews its 
deferred income tax asset valuation allowances on a quarterly basis or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that a review is required. In 
determining the requirement for a valuation allowance, the historical and projected financial results of the legal entity or combined group recording the net 
deferred income tax asset is considered, along with any positive or negative evidence including tax law changes. Since future financial results and tax law 
may differ from previous estimates, periodic adjustments to DIH’s valuation allowances may be necessary. DIH has generated operating losses in each of 
the years presented.

DIH is subject to income taxes in the U.S. and numerous foreign jurisdictions These tax laws and regulations are complex and significant judgment 
is required in determining DIH’s worldwide provision for income taxes and recording the related deferred tax assets and liabilities.
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In the ordinary course of DIH’s business, there are transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Accruals for 
unrecognized tax benefits are provided for in accordance with the requirements of Topic 740. An unrecognized tax benefit represents the difference 
between the recognition of benefits related to items for income tax reporting purposes and financial reporting purposes. DIH’s tax returns are subject to 
regular review and audit by US and non-US tax authorities. Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain, DIH believes that it has appropriate 
support for the positions taken on its tax returns and that its annual tax provision includes amounts sufficient to pay any assessments. Nonetheless, the 
amounts ultimately paid, if any, upon resolution of the issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from the amounts accrued for each year 
and would be the obligation of Parent. DIH accrues interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a component of income tax expense. 

Refer to Note 15 of the Notes to Annual Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion regarding DIH’s income taxes.

Emerging Growth Company Status

The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and it may take 
advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies 
including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the independent registered public accounting firm attestation requirements of Section 404 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions 
from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not 
previously approved.
 

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial 
accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class 
of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that 
a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any 
such election to opt out is irrevocable. The Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period which means that when a standard is 
issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or 
revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of the Company’s financial statements with 
another public company which is either not an emerging growth company or an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended 
transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

Other than the recent accounting pronouncements disclosed in DIH’s Annual Consolidated Financial Statements, there have been no new accounting 
pronouncements or changes in accounting pronouncements during the year ended March 31, 2024 that are significant or potentially significant to DIH.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

As a “smaller reporting company” as defined by Item 10 of Regulation S-K, DIH is not required to provide this information.
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Phone  +41 44 444 35 55


www.bdo.ch


zurich@bdo.ch

BDO Ltd


Schiffbaustrasse 2


8031 Zurich

 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Stockholders and Board of Directors	 	
DIH Holding US, Inc.

Norwell, MA

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of DIH Holding US, Inc. (the “Company”) as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the related 
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively 
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company at March 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years then ended, in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the 
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not 
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or 
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis 
for our opinion.

 

Zurich, July 15, 2024 

 

BDO AG

 

/s/ Christoph Tschumi	 	 	 /s/ Philipp Kegele

Christoph Tschumi 		 	 	 Philipp Kegele 

 

 

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2022
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DIH HOLDING US, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
 
    March 31,  

    2024     2023  
Assets            
Current assets:            

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 3,225     $ 3,175  
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $667 and $1,683, respectively     5,197       5,998  
Inventories, net     7,830       4,850  
Due from related party     5,688       6,383  
Other current assets     5,116       4,855  

Total current assets     27,056       25,261  
Property, and equipment, net     530       742  
Capitalized software, net     2,131       2,019  
Other intangible assets, net     380       380  
Operating lease, right-of-use assets, net     4,466       2,604  
Other tax assets     267       1  
Other assets     905       772  
Total assets   $ 35,735     $ 31,779  
Liabilities and Deficit            
Current liabilities:            

Accounts payable   $ 4,305     $ 2,190  
Employee compensation     2,664       3,163  
Due to related party     10,192       6,841  
Current portion of deferred revenue     5,211       7,714  
Manufacturing warranty obligation     513       973  
Current portion of long-term operating lease     1,572       1,005  
Advance payments from customers     10,562       6,255  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities     9,935       8,631  

Total current liabilities     44,954       36,772  
Notes payable - related party     11,457       17,301  
Non-current deferred revenues     4,670       2,282  
Long-term operating lease     2,917       1,621  
Deferred tax liabilities     112       110  
Other non-current liabilities     4,171       2,647  

Total liabilities   $ 68,281     $ 60,733  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 16)            
Deficit:            

Preferred Stock, $0.00001 par value; 10,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding 
at March 31, 2024; no shares authorized, issued and outstanding at March 31, 2023     —       —  
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 34,544,935 shares issued and 
outstanding at March 31, 2024; 25,000,000 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at March 31, 
2023     3       2  
Additional paid-in-capital     2,613       (1,898 )
Accumulated deficit     (35,212 )     (26,769 )
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)     50       (289 )

Total deficit   $ (32,546 )   $ (28,954 )
Total liabilities and deficit   $ 35,735     $ 31,779  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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DIH HOLDING US, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

 (in thousands, except per share data)
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  

Revenue   $ 64,473     $ 54,059  
Cost of sales     34,702       23,474  
Gross profit     29,771       30,585  
Operating expenses:            

Selling, general, and administrative expense     25,776       22,957  
Research and development     6,609       6,919  

Total operating expenses     32,385       29,876  
Operating income (loss)     (2,614 )     709  
Other income (expense):            

Interest (expense)     (693 )     (277 )
Other income (expense), net     (3,890 )     572  

Total other income (expense)     (4,583 )     295  
Income (loss) before income taxes     (7,197 )     1,004  
Income tax expense     1,246       2,018  
Net loss   $ (8,443 )   $ (1,014 )
             

Net loss per share, basic and diluted   $ (0.32 )   $ (0.04 )
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted     26,382       25,000  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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DIH HOLDING US, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands)
 
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024   2023  
Net loss   $ (8,443 )   $ (1,014 )
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax            

Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax of $0 and $0     1,455       (503 )
Pension liability adjustments, net of tax of $0 and $0     (1,116 )     (421 )
Other comprehensive (loss) income     339       (924 )

Comprehensive loss   $ (8,104 )   $ (1,938 )
 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIH HOLDING US, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  

Cash flows from operating activities:            
Net loss   $ (8,443 )   $ (1,014 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:            

Depreciation and amortization     302       66  
Provision for credit losses     (1,016 )     669  
Allowance for inventory obsolescence     617       (1,639 )
Noncash business combination expense     3,514       -  
Pension contributions     (530 )     (569 )
Pension (income) expense     (75 )     (400 )
Foreign exchange (gain) loss     376       (584 )
Noncash lease expense     1,590       1,423  
Noncash interest expense     28       19  
Change in manufacturing warranty obligation estimate     (626 )     —  
Deferred and other noncash income tax expense     (304 )     58  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:            
Accounts receivable     1,853       (514 )
Inventories     (3,259 )     518  
Due from related parties     1,018       (969 )
Due to related parties     3,337       2,471  
Other assets     (229 )     (1,805 )
Operating lease liabilities     (1,782 )     (1,448 )
Accounts payable     2,920       38  
Employee compensation     (551 )     (151 )
Other liabilities     970       (96 )
Deferred revenue     (90 )     4,059  
Manufacturing warranty obligation     163       160  
Advance payments from customers     4,338       2,083  
Accrued expense and other current liabilities     1,071       3,126  

Net cash provided by operating activities     5,192       5,501  
Cash flows from investing activities:            

Purchases of property and equipment     (202 )     (145 )
Net cash used in investing activities     (202 )     (145 )
Cash flows from financing activities:            

Proceeds from reverse recapitalization     899       —  
Payments on related party notes payable     (5,844 )     (4,053 )

Net cash used in financing activities     (4,945 )     (4,053 )
Effect of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents     5       (61 )
Net increase in cash, and cash equivalents, and restricted cash     50       1,242  
Cash, and cash equivalents, and restricted cash - beginning of year     3,175       1,933  
Cash, and cash equivalents, and restricted cash - end of year   $ 3,225     $ 3,175  

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year   $ 3,225     $ 3,175  
Restricted cash - end of year     —       —  
Total cash, and cash equivalents, and restricted cash - end of year   $ 3,225     $ 3,175  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:            
Interest paid   $ 665     $ 258  
Income tax paid   $ —     $ 210  

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activity:            
Accrued liability related to asset acquisition   $ —     $ 533  
Accounts payable settled through escrow account upon reverse recapitalization  $ 1,439     $ —  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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DIH HOLDING US, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT

(in thousands, except share data)
 
  Common Stock                  

  Shares   Amount  
Additional 

Paid-In Capital  
Accumulated 

Deficit  

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)  

Total Equity 
(Deficit)  

Balance, March 31, 2022   25,000,000   $ 2   $ (1,776 ) $ (25,755 ) $ 635   $ (26,894 )
Net loss   —     —     —     (1,014 )   —     (1,014 )
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax   —     —     —     —     (924 )   (924 )
Net transactions with DIH Cayman   —     —     (122 )   —     —     (122 )
Balance, March 31, 2023   25,000,000   $ 2   $ (1,898 ) $ (26,769 ) $ (289 ) $ (28,954 )
                         
Net loss   —     —     —     (8,443 )   —     (8,443 )
Issuance of common stock upon 
reverse recapitalization   9,544,935     1     4,511     —     —     4,512  
Other comprehensive income, net of 
tax   —     —     —     —     339     339  
Balance, March 31, 2024   34,544,935   $ 3   $ 2,613   $ (35,212 ) $ 50   $ (32,546 )
 

(1). All outstanding share and per-share amounts have been restated to reflect the reverse recapitalization as established in the Business Combination Agreement as described in Note 1.
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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DIH HOLDING US, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Business and Organization

Description of Business

DIH Holding US, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company” or “DIH”) (formerly known as Aurora Technology Acquisition Corp. a 
Cayman Island exempted company which migrated and domesticated as a Delaware corporation, “ATAK”) , is a global solution provider in blending 
innovative robotic and virtual reality (“VR”) technologies with clinical integration and insights. Built through the mergers of global-leading niche 
technologies, DIH is positioning itself as a transformative total smart solutions provider and consolidator in a largely fragmented and manual-labor-driven 
industry. The Company’s fiscal year ends on March 31.

Merger / Business Combination with Aurora Tech Acquisition Corp.

On February 7, 2024 (the "Closing Date"), ATAK, Aurora Technology Merger Sub (“Merger Sub”) and DIH Holding US, Inc., a Nevada corporation 
(“Legacy DIH” or "DIH Nevada") consummated a previously announced business combination pursuant to a business agreement dated as of February 26, 
2023 (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Business Combination Agreement,” and the transactions contemplated 
thereby, the “Business Combination”) following the receipt of the required approval by ATAK’s and DIH (Nevada)’s shareholders and the fulfillment or 
waiver of other customary closing conditions. Upon closing of the Business Combination, Legacy DIH received cash held in trust account of $899. Legacy 
DIH historically existed and functioned as part of the business of DIH Technology Ltd. (“DIH Cayman”). At Closing of the Business Combination, the 
Company owns 100% of DIH US Corp, which in turn owns the commercial entities. Additionally, the Company owns 100% ownership of Hocoma Medical 
GmbH, which contains the net assets transferred from Hocoma AG. Whereas, Hocoma AG and Motekforce Link BV and its subsidiaries ("Motek Group") 
that remained with the DIH Cayman were excluded as discussed in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company agreed to use its best 
efforts to complete the reorganization as defined in the Business Combination Agreement as soon as possible thereafter. The reorganization has not been 
completed as of the date the financial statements were issued. 

In connection with the Closing of the Business Combination, (a) ATAK migrated and changed its domestication to become a Delaware corporation 
and changed its name to “DIH Holding US, Inc.” (b) each issued and outstanding ATAK Class A Ordinary Share was converted, on a one-for-one basis, 
into one share of DIH Class A Common Stock; (c) each issued and outstanding Class B Ordinary Share was converted, on a one-for-one basis, into one 
share of Domesticated Class B Common Stock; (d) each issued and outstanding ATAK Public Warrant, ATAK Private Warrant and ATAK Right was 
converted, on a one-for-one basis, into a DIH Public Warrant, DIH Private Warrant and DIH Right, respectively; and (e) the governing documents of ATAK 
were replaced by governing documents for the Delaware corporation. The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes one class of 
common stock as Class A Common Stock ("Common Stock").
 

On the Closing date, (a) Stockholders of Legacy DIH received $250,000,000 in aggregate consideration (the “Aggregate Base Consideration”) in the 
form of newly-issued shares of DIH Common Stock, calculated based on a price of $10.00 per share; (b) DIH’s financial advisor received 700,000 shares of  
DIH Common Stock valued at the closing price of $5.02 as payment for the financial advisory fee due to it; (c) the 20,200,000 outstanding  DIH Rights 
were converted into 2,020,000 shares of  DIH Common Stock; (d) each outstanding share of DIH Class B Common Stock was converted into a share of 
DIH Common Stock. (e) in connection with the closing of the Business combination, additional 532,796 shares were issued to various ATAK service 
providers, including ATAK's underwriter, for services rendered in related to the transaction. The shares were issued as partial payments to those providers, 
whereas certain service providers forewent all or partial receipt of Common Stock.

In addition to the Aggregate Base Consideration, Legacy DIH stockholders as of the effective date of the merger may be entitled to receive up to 
6,000,000 Earnout Shares, as additional consideration upon satisfaction of the following milestones, during the period beginning on the Closing Date and 
expiring on the fifth anniversary of the closing date (the “Earnout Period”): 
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• 1,000,000 Earnout Shares if the volume-weighted average price (“VWAP”) of DIH Common Stock is equal to or exceeds $12.00 for any 20 
trading days during the Earnout Period; 

• 1,333,333 Earnout Shares if the VWAP of DIH Common Stock is equal to or exceeds $13.50 for any 20 trading days during the Earnout 
Period; 

• 1,666,667 Earnout Shares if the VWAP of DIH Common Stock is equal to or exceeds $15.00 for any 20 trading days during the Earnout 
Period; and 

• 2,000,000 Earnout Shares if the VWAP of DIH Common Stock is equal to or exceeds $16.50 for any 20 trading days during the Earnout 
Period. 

 
The Earnout Founder Shares are accounted for as equity-classified equity instruments and recorded in additional paid-in capital as part of the 

Business Combination.
 
On February 8, 2024, the Company entered into a subscription agreement with OrbiMed, an existing shareholder of DIH Cayman. Pursuant to the 

agreement, the Company will issue 150,000 shares of Common Stock at a purchase price of $10.00 per share for aggregate purchase price of $1.5 million 
together with warrants to purchase an additional 300,000 shares of DIH Common Stock with an exercise price of $10.00. The transaction is not closed as of 
the date the financial statements were issued. 

The Business Combination was accounted for as a reverse recapitalization, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). Under this method of accounting, ATAK was treated as the acquired company and Legacy DIH was treated as 
the acquirer for financial reporting purposes. The net assets of ATAK were stated at carrying value, with no goodwill or other intangible assets recorded. 
The consolidated and combined assets, liabilities and results of operations prior to the Business Combination are those of Legacy DIH and the assets, 
liabilities and results of operations of ATAK were consolidated with Legacy DIH beginning on the Closing Date. The shares and net loss per common share 
prior to the Business Combination have been retrospectively restated as shares reflecting the 25.0 million shares issued to the Legacy DIH shareholders 
pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement. Legacy DIH was determined to be the accounting acquirer based on evaluation of the following facts 
and circumstance:

• Legacy DIH’s existing stockholders have the largest voting interest in the Company;

• Legacy DIH’s executive management makes up the management of the Company;

• Legacy DIH nominated a majority of the initial members of the Company's board of Directors;

• the post-combination company assumed the name “DIH Holding US, Inc.”; and

• Legacy DIH is the larger entity based on historical operating activity and employee base.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

As of March 31, 2024, the Company had $3,225 in cash and cash equivalents. The Company’s sources of liquidity have been predominantly from 
proceeds received from product sales and services provided. The Company’s sources of liquidity have enabled the Company to expand the installation base 
and grow its market share.

The Company’s net losses began in 2020 and continued through the twelve months ended March 31, 2024. The Company’s historical operating 
losses resulted in an accumulated deficit of $35.2 million as of March 31, 2024. Operating losses were mainly driven by decreased sales during the 
COVID-19 pandemic due to social distancing measures that affected demand for rehabilitation services, increased expenditures in connection with its 
implementation of a new financial system (Oracle) and increased compliance costs associated with the European Union Medical Device Regulation (EU 
MDR). Additionally, DIH had elevated costs related to efforts of adopting to public company standards. During the year ended March 31, 2024, the 
Company had positive cash flows from operating activities and negative operating results. The Company continues to take steps to streamline its 
organization and cost structure as well as improve future revenue growth. 
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The Company’s gross revenue has increased by 19.3%, from $54,059 to $64,473, for the year ended March 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively. The 
Company plans to continue to fund its growth through cash flows from operations and future debt and equity financing. The Company believes that its 
current cash and cash equivalents, together with cash provided by operating activities will provide adequate liquidity through one year from the date that 
these consolidated financial statements are issued. 

The Company has three notes payable to a related party which are included in "Notes payable - related party". Each note is due on June 30, 2026 
with an interest rate of 1.25% as further discussed in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The Company has made periodic payments on the 
principal and interests on the notes payable historically.

The Company’s future liquidity needs may vary materially from those currently planned and will depend on many factors, including the more 
aggressive and expansive growth plan, or for any unforeseen reductions in demand.
 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

On February 7, 2024, the Company consummated the Business Combination and became a publicly-traded company and its financial statements are 
now presented on a consolidated basis. Prior to the Business Combination, the Company's historical financial statements were prepared on a combined 
basis derived from DIH Cayman in the registration statement. 

In connection with the Closing of the Business Combination and in accordance with the terms of the Business Combination Agreement,  ATAK 
agreed to waive the closing condition that the reorganization be completed prior to Closing. The Company has recast historical financial statements filed in 
the registration statements to exclude assets, liabilities and results of operations of entities that are not controlled by the Company as of March 31, 2024.  
Control exists when the Company has the power, directly and indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity and be exposed to the 
variable returns from its activities. The financial statements for all periods presented, including historical periods prior to February 7, 2024, are now  
referred to as “Consolidated financial statements" and have been prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP. 

While the Company’s businesses have historically functioned together with the other businesses controlled by DIH Cayman, the Company’s 
businesses are largely isolated and not dependent on corporate or other support functions. DIH Cayman did not have significant corporate or operational 
activity and does not have shared services that it provides to its subsidiaries. The Company considered allocations from the DIH Cayman and its 
subsidiaries but they are insignificant because of the organizational structure such that the Company has been operating on a standalone basis historically.

As of March 31, 2023, legacy DIH and DIH International (“DIH Hong Kong”) were wholly owned subsidiaries of DIH Cayman. As of March 31, 
2024, DIH Cayman remains the largest shareholder of the Company and continues to own 100% interest in DIH Hong Kong. Transactions with DIH 
Cayman, DIH Hong Kong and its subsidiaries are disclosed as related party transactions in Note 13.

All intercompany balances, transactions and profits are eliminated in consolidation.

Foreign Currency Reporting

The functional currency for the Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries is their local currency. The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are 
translated into U.S. dollars using the exchange rate in effect as of the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the average exchange 
rates for each respective reporting period. Adjustments resulting from translating local currency financial statements into U.S. dollars are reflected in 
accumulated other comprehensive loss in equity (deficit).

Transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are remeasured based on the exchange rates at the time of the transaction. 
Foreign currency gains and losses arising primarily from changes in 
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exchange rates on foreign currency denominated intercompany transactions and balances between foreign locations are recorded in the consolidated 
statements of operations. Realized and unrealized gains (losses) resulting from transactions conducted in foreign currencies for the years ended March 31, 
2024 and 2023 were $(376) and $584, respectively.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported 
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates made by management in connection with the preparation of the
accompanying consolidated financial statements include the useful lives of long-lived assets, inventory valuations, the allocation of transaction price among 
various performance obligations, valuation of securities, the allowance for credit losses, the fair value of financial assets, liabilities, actuarial valuation of 
pensions and realizability of deferred income tax asset or liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk primarily consists of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable. 
The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents with highly-rated financial institutions and limits the amount of credit exposure to any one entity. We 
believe we do not have any significant credit risk on our cash and cash equivalents. For accounts receivable, the Company is exposed to credit risk in the 
event of nonpayment by customers which is limited to the amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheets. The risk associated with this concentration 
is mitigated by prepayment arrangement and our ongoing credit-review procedures and letters of credit or payment prior to shipment.

Major customers are defined as those individually comprising more than 10% of our trade accounts receivable or revenues. As of March 31, 2024, 
no customer represented more than 10% of total trade accounts receivables. As of March 31, 2023, one customer comprised 13.9% of total trade accounts 
receivables. For the year ended March 31, 2024, no customer comprised 10% of total revenue. For the year ended March 31, 2023, one customer comprised 
12.0% of total revenue.

Revenue Recognition

Sales are recognized as the performance obligations to deliver products or services are satisfied and are recorded based on the amount of 
consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for satisfying the performance obligations. The Company’s sales are recognized primarily when 
it transfers control to the customer, which can be on the date of shipment of the product, the date of receipt of the product by the customer or upon 
completion of any required product installation service depending on the terms of the sales contracts and product shipping terms. If a contract contains 
more than one performance obligation, the transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based upon a relative standalone selling price and 
recognizes the related revenue when or as control of each individual performance obligation is transferred to customers. The Company does not assess 
whether promised goods or services are performance obligations if they are immaterial in the context of the contract with the customer. Sales represent the 
amount of consideration the Company expects to receive from customers in exchange for transferring products and services. Net sales exclude sales tax, 
value added and other taxes the Company collects from customers. Sales for extended warranties are deferred and recognized as revenue on a straight-line 
basis over the warranty period. The Company extends terms of payment to its customers based on commercially reasonable terms for the markets of its 
customers, while also considering their credit quality. Shipping and handling costs charged to customers are included in net sales.

Certain of the Company’s products are sold through distributors and third-party sales representatives under standard agreements whereby 
distributors purchase products from the Company and resell them to customers. These arrangements do not provide stock rotation or price protection rights 
and do not contain extended payment terms. Rights of return are limited to repair or replacement of delivered products that are defective or fail to meet the 
Company’s published specifications. Provisions for these warranty costs are recognized in the same period that the related revenue is recorded similar to 
other assurance-type warranties.
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Deferred revenue primarily represents service contracts and equipment maintenance, for which consideration is received in advance of when service 
for the device or equipment is provided. Revenue related to services contracts and equipment maintenance is recognized over the service period as time 
elapses. Revenues related to products containing an installation clause, are recognized once the item is confirmed installed. See Note 3 for further 
information on the Company’s deferred revenue balances and remaining performance obligations.

Revenues exclude any taxes that the Company collects from customers and remits to tax authorities. Amounts billed to the customer for shipping 
and handling are included in revenue, while the related shipping and handling costs are reflected in cost of sales in the period in which revenue is 
recognized. The Company has elected a practical expedient under ASC 606 that allows for shipping and handling activities that occur after the customer 
has obtained control of a good to be accounted for as a fulfillment cost. The Company does not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects 
of a significant financing component, if, at contract inception, the Company expects the period between the time when the Company transfers a promised 
good or service to the customer and the time when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less.

The Company exercises judgment in determining the timing of revenue by analyzing the point in time or the period over which the customer has the 
ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits of the performance obligation. The Company primarily recognizes revenue 
from sales of products at the point in time that the customer obtains control, which is typically based upon the terms of delivery. The billing terms for these 
point-in time product contracts generally coincide with delivery to the customer and customer acceptance. When the Company receives customer advances, 
these are recognized as advance payments from customers in the consolidated balance sheet. The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of certain 
service contracts over time on a ratable basis consistent with the nature, timing and extent of services, which primarily relate to extended warranties. Our 
billing terms for these contracts vary and can occur in advance of or following the service period of service. The differences between the timing of our 
revenue recognized and customer billings (based on contractual terms) result in changes to our contract asset or contract liability positions. 

Warranties

The Company generally provides warranties for its products from manufacturing defects on a limited basis for a period of one year after purchase, 
but also has extended warranties that are separately priced for periods of up to four years. During the term of the warranty, if the device fails to operate 
properly from defects in materials and workmanship, the Company will fix or replace the defective product. If the customer does not allow the required 
scheduled maintenance of the product during the extended warranty contract terms, the contract is canceled.

The company estimates the costs that it may incur under its warranty programs based on the number of units sold, historical and anticipated rates of
warranty claims, and cost per claim, and records a liability equal to these estimated costs in cost of sales. The company assesses the adequacy of its 
recorded warranty liabilities on a quarterly basis and adjusts these amounts as necessary

 A reconciliation of the changes in manufacturing warranty obligation is as follows:

 
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024   2023  
Balance as of beginning of period   $ 973   $ 836  

Current-year provisions     1,139     973  
Reductions for settlements     (973 )   (836 )
Adjustments related to changes in estimates     (626 )   -  

Balance as of end of period   $ 513   $ 973  

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales is comprised of direct materials and supplies consumed in the manufacture of products, as well as manufacturing labor, depreciation 
expense and direct overhead expense necessary to acquire and convert the purchased materials and supplies into finished product. Cost of sales also 
includes the cost to distribute products to 
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customers, inbound freight costs, warehousing costs and other shipping and handling activity, excluding shipping and handling to customers.

Cost of service is comprised primarily of employee wages, benefits and related personnel expenses of our technical support team, our professional 
consulting personnel, and our training teams. It also includes costs related to travel and other associated expenses, as well as material and supplies 
consumed in providing services.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expense is comprised personnel related expenses for DIH’s sales and corporate functions and expenses for 
outside professional services as well as expenses for facilities, overhead, depreciation, amortization, and marketing costs. 

Research and Development

Research and development costs are expensed when incurred except for production stage software research and development costs. Research and 
development costs include costs of research, engineering, and technical activities to develop a new product or service or make significant improvement to 
an existing product or manufacturing process. Research and development costs also include pre-approval regulatory and clinical trial expenses.

Accounts Receivable, net

Accounts receivable, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are presented net of allowances for credit losses. The Company performs 
evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and, generally, requires no collateral from its customers. The standard terms and conditions include 
provisions of prepayments of up to 100% of the contract value prior to shipping the product to the customer. The Company evaluates the collectability of its 
accounts receivable based upon several factors, including historical experience, the likelihood of payment from its customers, and any other known specific 
factors associated with its customers. Allowances are made based upon a specific review of aged invoices as well as a review of the overall quality and age 
of those invoices not specifically reviewed. Each period, the allowance for credit losses is adjusted through earnings to reflect expected credit losses over 
the remaining lives of the assets. Uncollectible accounts are written-off against the allowance when it is deemed that a customer account is uncollectible.

The decrease in Accounts Receivable related to the application of the Current Expected Credit Loss (CECL) methodology is primarily due to the 
more forward-looking and comprehensive approach to estimating credit losses under CECL compared to the previous incurred loss model. 

The following table presents the allowance for credit loss and the changes therein:

 
Balance as of March 31, 2023   $ 1,683  

CECL implementation     (547 )
Recoveries     (704 )
Credit loss expense     279  
Write-offs     (44 )

Balance as of March 31, 2024   $ 667  

Fair Value Measurements

The Company uses any of three valuation approaches to measure fair value: the market approach, the income approach, and the cost approach in 
determining the appropriate valuation methodologies based on the nature of the asset or liability being measured and the reliability of the inputs used in 
arriving at fair value.

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, long-term related party 
notes payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities, and accrued employee benefits. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts 
receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities, and accrued employee benefits are representative of their respective fair values 
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due to the short-term maturity of these instruments. The Company's related party notes payable are due within two years and is classified as noncurrent in 
the consolidated balance sheet and the Company makes regular prepayments historically prior to the due date. Therefore the Company's related party notes 
payable's carrying value approximate the fair value due to the remaining duration. 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. These fair value measurements incorporate nonperformance risk (i.e., the risk that an obligation will not be fulfilled). 
In measuring fair value, the Company reflects the impact of credit risk on liabilities, as well as any collateral. The Company also considers the credit 
standing of counterparties in measuring the fair value of assets.

The Company follows the provisions of ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements (“ASC 820”) for non-financial assets and liabilities measured on a non-
recurring basis such as on a potential impairment loss related to long-lived assets and assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination.

The framework for measuring fair value provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. 
The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the 
lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

The three levels of the valuation hierarchy are defined as follows:

• Level 1 – Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 – Other inputs that are observable directly or indirectly such as quoted prices in markets that are not active, or inputs which are 
observable, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data and which the Company makes its own assumptions about how 
market participants would price the assets and liabilities.

A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. The Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment and 
considers factors specific to the asset or liability.
 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash and have an original maturity of three months or less at 
the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Inventories, net

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost determined on a weighted average cost basis. The Company reduces the 
carrying value of inventories for items that are potentially excess, obsolete, or slow-moving based on changes in customer demand, technology 
developments, or other economic factors. These reserves are included within the raw materials and spare parts, work in process, and finished and semi-
finished goods accounts.

Inventory costs for manufactured products consist primarily of direct labor and materials (including salary and fringe benefits, raw materials, and 
supplies) and indirect costs (including allocations of costs from departments that support manufacturing activities and facility allocations). The allocation of 
fixed production overhead costs is based on actual production levels, to the extent that they are within the range of the facility’s normal capacity. Inventory 
costs for products purchased for resale or manufactured under contract consist primarily of the purchase cost, freight-in charges, and indirect costs as 
appropriate.
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The Company regularly evaluates its inventory to determine if the costs are appropriately recorded at the lower of cost or market value. Lower of 
cost or market value write-downs are recorded if the book value exceeds the estimated net realizable value of the inventory, based on recent sales prices at 
the time of the evaluation.

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated over the useful lives of the assets using the straight- line method except for leasehold 
improvements which are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life or the lease term. Useful lives by asset category are as follows:
 

 Years
Computer software and hardware 3 years
Machinery and equipment 5-10 years
Vehicles 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 3-5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of remaining lease term or estimated useful life

Additions and improvements that extend the lives of the assets are capitalized, while expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as 
incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and any resulting 
gain or loss are reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the period.

Capitalized software, net 

Software development costs are capitalized in accordance with ASC 350-40, Internal Use Software Accounting and Capitalization. Software 
development costs related to preliminary project activities and post-implementation and maintenance activities are expensed as incurred. Direct costs 
related to application development activities that are probable to result in additional functionality are capitalized. Capitalized software development costs 
are amortized using the straight-line amortization method over the estimated useful life of the applicable software, 5 years, from which the expected benefit 
will be derived. 

Other intangible assets, net

Costs associated with the acquisition of patent and technology related intangibles are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful life of 10 years, from which the expected benefit will be derived. 

Demonstration Units

The Company utilizes product demonstration units that are used to display the product’s capabilities and demonstrate how it works to potential 
customers or for other appropriate applications. The Company records and carries the cost of these demonstration units as either inventory or property and 
equipment depending on several factors including the nature of the product, length of time the units are in the field prior to being sold, and whether 
management’s intent is to sell the units. If the product demonstration units are classified as property and equipment, the balance will be carried net of
accumulated depreciation.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets, including intangible assets

Long-lived assets include acquired property and equipment, subject to amortization. The Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets 
for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amount may not be recoverable. Such events and 
changes may include significant changes in performance relative to expected operating results, significant changes in asset use, significant negative 
industry or economic trends, and changes in the Company’s business strategy. Recoverability is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an 
asset or asset group to the undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset or asset group. When required, impairment losses on assets 
to be held and used are recognized based on the excess of the asset’s carrying amount over the fair value of the asset, while long-lived assets to be disposed 
of are reported at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. 
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Capitalized software costs and other intangible assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances that could impact 
recoverability occur. 

For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not record any impairment losses.
 

Leases

The Company adopted the provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 842 on 
April 1, 2021 using the modified retrospective approach and, as a result, did not restate prior periods. At the commencement of a contract, the Company 
determines if a contract meets the definition of a lease.  A lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to control the use of identified 
property or equipment (an identified asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Company determines if the contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time. The Company assesses throughout the period of use whether the Company has the following: (1) 
the right to obtain substantially all the economic benefits from use of the identified asset, and (2) the right to direct the use of the identified asset. This 
determination is reassessed if the terms of the contract are changed. Leases are classified as operating leases based on the terms of the lease agreement and 
certain characteristics of the identified asset. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are recognized at lease commencement date based on the present value 
of the minimum future lease payments. If the interest rate implicit in the Company’s leases is not readily determinable, in determining the weighted-average
discount rate used to calculate the net present value of lease payments, the Company utilizes an estimate of its incremental borrowing rate.

The Company leases office space, vehicles and office equipment under operating leases. The Company has elected several practical expedients 
permitted under ASC 842. The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and liability for leases with a term of 12 months or less unless the 
lease includes an option to renew or purchase the underlying asset that are reasonably certain to be exercised.  The Company has elected to account for 
lease and non-lease components as a single lease component for all of the Company's leases. The Company has elected to use hindsight relief in 
determining the lease term and assessing impairment of right-of-use assets when transitioning to ASC 842. The Company has elected to not re-evaluate 
existing or expired contracts containing a lease, the classification of leases, or the initial direct costs for any existing leases previously accounted for under 
ASC 840.

Most real estate leases contain clauses for renewal at the Company’s option with renewal terms that generally extend the lease term from six months 
to five years. Certain lease agreements contain options to purchase the leased property and options to terminate the lease. Payments to be made in option 
periods are recognized as part of the right-of-use lease assets and lease liabilities when it is reasonably certain that the option to extend the lease will be 
exercised or the option to terminate the lease will not be exercised or is not at the Company’s option. The Company determines whether the reasonably
certain threshold is met by considering all relevant factors, including company-specific plans and economic outlook.

Contingencies

The Company records a liability in the consolidated financial statements for loss contingencies when a loss is known or considered probable, and the 
amount may be reasonably estimated. If the reasonable estimate of a known or probable loss is a range, and no amount within the range is a better estimate 
than any other, the minimum amount of the range is accrued. If a loss is reasonably possible but not known or probable, and may be reasonably estimated, 
the estimated loss or range of loss is disclosed. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred.

Public and Private Placement Warrants

The Company assumed 20,200,000 warrants originally issued in ATAK's initial public offering (the “Public Warrants”) and 6,470,000 ATAK Private 
Placement Warrants. Each two warrants entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to 
adjustment

The Public Warrants are publicly traded and are exercisable for cash unless certain conditions occur, such as the failure to have an effective 
registration statement related to the shares issuable upon exercise or redemption by the Company under certain conditions, at which time the warrants may 
be cashless exercised at the option of the 
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Company. The Private Placement Warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to the Public Warrants except that the Private Placement Warrants 
holder can exercise their Private Placement Warrants for cash or on a cashless basis when the Company call the warrants for redemption at the option of 
private placement warrant holders and that the Private Placement Warrants were not transferable, assignable or salable until 30 days after the completion of 
the Business Combination.

The Company evaluated the Public and Private Placement Warrants under ASC 815-40, Derivatives and Hedging-Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity 
(“ASC 815-40”), and concluded they meet the criteria for equity classification as they are considered to be indexed to the Company’s own stock. Since the 
Public and Private Placement Warrants met the criteria for equity classification upon the consummation of the Business Combination, the Company 
recorded these warrants in additional paid-in capital as part of the Business Combination.

Segment Information

The Company operates in one operating and reportable segment. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate 
financial information is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), in deciding how to allocate resources and assess 
performance.  The Company’s Chief Executive Officer is the Company’s CODM. The CODM reviews revenue at the geographic region level, and gross 
profit, operating income and expenses, and net income at the Company wide level to allocate resources and assess the Company’s overall performance. 
Accordingly, decision-making regarding the Company’s overall operating performance and allocation of Company resources is assessed on an aggregate 
basis.

Defined Benefit Plan 

The Company sponsors defined a benefit pension plan (“pension plan”) for certain employees and retirees. The Company recognizes the funded 
status of its pension plan on the consolidated balance sheets based on the year-end measurements of plan assets and benefit obligations. When the fair value 
of plan assets is in excess of the plan benefit obligations, the amounts are reported in other current assets and other assets. When the fair value of plan 
benefit obligations is in excess of plan assets, the amounts are reported in accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities based on the amount by which 
the actuarial present value of benefits payable in the next twelve months included in the benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of plan assets. 

Net periodic pension benefit cost/(income) is recorded in the consolidated statements of operations and includes service cost, interest cost, expected 
return on plan assets, amortization of prior service costs/(credits) and (gains) losses previously recognized as a component of other comprehensive income 
(loss) and amortization of the net transition asset remaining in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The service cost component of net benefit 
cost is recorded in selling, general and administrative in the consolidated statements of operations. The other components of net benefit cost are presented 
separately from service cost within other income (expense) in the consolidated statements of operations.

(Gains) losses and prior service costs/(credits) are recognized as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive loss as they arise. Those (gains) losses and prior service costs (credits) are subsequently recognized as a component of net periodic cost 
(income) pursuant to the recognition and amortization provisions of applicable accounting guidance. (Gains) losses arise as a result of differences between 
actual experience and assumptions or as a result of changes in actuarial assumptions. Prior service costs (credits) represent the cost of benefit changes 
attributable to prior service granted in plan amendments.

The measurement of benefit obligations and net periodic cost/(income) is based on estimates and assumptions approved by the company’s 
management. These valuations reflect the terms of the plans and use participant-specific information such as compensation, age, and years of service, as 
well as certain assumptions, including estimates of discount rates, expected return on plan assets, rate of compensation increases, interest crediting rates and 
mortality rates. See Note 14 for further information.

Acquisitions

In conjunction with each acquisition transaction, the Company determines if the acquisition meets the criteria to be accounted for as a business
combination set forth in ASC 805, Business Combinations (“ASC 805”). The Company 
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evaluates the acquisition to assess whether or not the transaction should be accounted for as a business combination or asset acquisition by first applying a 
screen test to determine if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar 
identifiable assets. If the screen is met, the transaction is accounted for as an asset acquisition. If the screen is not met, further determination is required as 
to whether or not the Company has acquired inputs and processes that have the ability to create outputs which would meet the definition of a business. 

If the transaction is determined not to be a business combination, it is accounted for as an asset acquisition. For asset acquisitions, the Company 
allocates the purchase price and other related costs incurred to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on recent independent appraisals and 
management judgment. 

If the acquisition is determined to be a business combination, the Company records the fair value of acquired tangible assets and identified intangible 
assets and as well as any noncontrolling interest in accordance ASC 805. Any consideration paid in excess of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and 
liabilities acquired in a business combination is recorded to goodwill and acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

In October 2022, DIH acquired the SafeGait 360 and SafeGait Active smart mobility trainer systems from Gorbel, an innovative United States-based 
developer and manufacturer of smart material handling and fall protection equipment. The SafeGait acquisition was accounted for as an asset acquisition 
based on an evaluation of the U.S. GAAP guidance for business combinations.  The total cost of the asset acquisition was $0.8 million, of which $0.1 
million was paid upon closing. The Company made subsequent payments of $0.2 million in the first quarter of the year ending March 31, 2024. These 
subsequent payments and  the $0.5 million contingent consideration liability is presented within accrued expenses and other current liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2024. The Company determined that the contingent consideration was not subject to derivative accounting. 

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset-and-liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the 
future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities, as well as 
loss and tax credit carryforwards and their respective tax bases measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which 
those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in 
income in the period that includes the enactment date.

A valuation allowance is established if, based upon the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all the deferred tax assets will not 
be realized. The Company considers all available evidence, both positive and negative, including historical levels of income, expectations and risks 
associated with estimates of future taxable income in assessing the need for a valuation allowance.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are presented as noncurrent in a classified balance sheet.
 
 

The Company’s tax positions are subject to income tax audits by multiple tax jurisdictions throughout the world. The Company recognizes the tax 
benefit of an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not the position will be sustainable upon examination by the taxing authority, including 
resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes. This evaluation is based on all available evidence and assumes that the tax authorities have full 
knowledge of all relevant information concerning the tax position. The tax benefit recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit which is more 
likely than not (greater than 50% likely) to be realized upon ultimate settlement with the taxing authority. The Company recognizes interest accrued and 
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense (benefit). The Company adjusts these reserves in accordance with the income tax 
guidance when facts and circumstances change, such as the closing of a tax audit or the refinement of an estimate. To the extent that the final tax outcome 
of these matters is different from the amounts recorded, such differences will affect the provision for income taxes in the period in which such 
determination is made and could have a material impact on the Company’s financial condition and operating results.

Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income (“GILTI”) provisions impose a tax on foreign income in excess of a 
deemed return on tangible assets of foreign corporations. Under GAAP, companies are allowed to make an accounting policy election to either (i) account 
for GILTI as a period cost within income tax 
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expense in the period in which it is incurred or (ii) account for GILTI in a company’s measurement of deferred taxes. The Company elected to account for 
GILTI as a period cost.

Loss per share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the 
period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed based on the sum of the weighted average number of common shares and potentially dilutive common 
shares outstanding during the period.

For periods prior to the closing of the Business Combination, basic and diluted income (loss) per share was calculated based on the 25.0 million 
shares issued to DIH Nevada's shareholders at the Closing Date.

Emerging Growth Company

The Company is an “emerging growth company,” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act, and it may take 
advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies 
including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the independent registered public accounting firm attestation requirements of Section 404 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in its periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions 
from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments not 
previously approved.
 

Further, Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial 
accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class 
of securities registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that 
a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any 
such election to opt out is irrevocable. The Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period which means that when a standard is 
issued or revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or 
revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make comparison of the Company’s financial statements with 
another public company which is either not an emerging growth company or an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended 
transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Accounting Pronouncements Recently Adopted 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326):  Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 
Instruments ("ASC 326"). ASC 326 provides more decision-useful information about the expected credit losses on financial instruments, other 
commitments to extend credit held by a reporting entity at each reporting date, and requires the entity to estimate its credit losses as far as it can reasonably 
estimate. This update became effective for the Company on April 1, 2023. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-06, Debt – Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470- 20) and Derivatives and 
Hedging – Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity (“ASU 
2020-06”), which simplifies accounting for convertible instruments by removing major separation models required under current U.S. GAAP and simplifies 
the diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) calculation in certain areas. Under the new guidance there will be no separate accounting for embedded conversion 
features. It removes certain settlement conditions that are required for equity contracts to qualify for the derivative scope exception. The amendments in this 
update are effective for the Company on April 1, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. We do not expect the adoption to have a material impact on our 
financial position or results of operations.
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In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures. Update 
No. 2023-07 requires disclosure, on an annual and interim basis, of significant segment expenses that are regularly provided to the CODM and included 
within each reported measure of segment profit or loss in addition to disclosure of amounts for other segment items and a description of its composition. 
Update No. 2023-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2024. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2023-07.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09 (“ASU 2023-09”), Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. 
ASU 2023-09addresses investor requests for more transparency about income tax information through improvements to income tax disclosures primarily 
related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. This update also includes certain other amendments to improve the effectiveness of 
income tax disclosures. The provisions of ASU 2023-09 are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. 
We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting ASU 2023-09.

3. Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenues are derived from the sales of medical rehabilitation devices and technology services. The Company's primary customers 
include healthcare systems, clinics, third-party healthcare providers, distributors, and other institutions, including governmental healthcare programs and 
group purchasing organizations. 

Disaggregation of Revenue

The Company disaggregates its revenue with customers by category and by geographic region based on customer location, see Note 4 for further 
information. The following represents the net revenue for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, based on revenue category:
 
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
Devices   $ 51,125     $ 43,452  
Services     11,105       9,292  
Other     2,243       1,315  

Total revenue, net   $ 64,473     $ 54,059  
 

The revenue that is recognized at a point in time was primarily related to the revenues from devices and the revenue that is recognized over time was 
related to revenue from services. Other revenue primarily relates to freight and packaging on devices and recognized at a point in time.

Deferred Revenue and Remaining Performance Obligations

Deferred revenue as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 was $9,881 and $9,996, respectively. During the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the 
Company recognized $7,405 and $5,358 of revenue that was included in deferred revenue as of March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022, respectively. 
Remaining performance obligations include goods and services that have not yet been delivered or provided under existing, noncancelable contracts with 
minimum purchase commitments. As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the aggregate amount of the contracted revenue allocated to unsatisfied performance 
obligations with an original duration of one year or more was approximately $4,670 and $2,698, respectively. As of March 31, 2024, the Company expects 
to recognize revenue on the majority of these remaining performance obligations over the next 2 years.

Advance Payments From Customers

The Company receives advance payments related to customers from their orders to support the operation of the company in the production of the 
goods. The Company recognizes these prepayments as a liability under “Advance payments from customers” on the consolidated balance sheets when they 
are received. Revenue associated with the advance payments is recognized when performance obligation is fulfilled. Advance payments from customers 
was $10.6 million and $6.3 million as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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4. Geographical Information

The following represents revenue attributed to geographic regions based on customer location: 
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  

Europe, Middle East and Africa (“EMEA”)   $ 36,002     $ 31,454  
Americas     16,716       14,264  
Asia Pacific (“APAC”)     11,755       8,341  

Total revenue   $ 64,473     $ 54,059  
 

Long-lived assets shown below include property and equipment, net. The following represents long-lived assets where they are physically located:
 

    2024     2023  
EMEA   $ 276     $ 236  
Americas     206       390  
APAC     48       116  

Total property and equipment, net   $ 530     $ 742  
 

5. Net Loss Per Share

Basic income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the 
period. Diluted income (loss) per share is computed based on the sum of the weighted average number of common shares and dilutive common shares 
outstanding during the period. As described in Note 1 - Business and Organization earnout shares issued in connection with the Business Combination are 
subject to vesting based on the volume weighted average trading prices (“VWAP”) of common shares during the earnout period. The earnout shares are 
excluded from the calculation of basic and diluted weighted-average number of common shares outstanding until vested. For periods prior to the Business 
Combination, basic and diluted loss per share was calculated based on the 25.0 million shares issued to Legacy DIH shareholders at the Closing Date. 
Potential shares of common stock are excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share if their effect would have been anti-dilutive for the 
periods presented or if the issuance of shares is contingent upon events that did not occur by the end of the period.

As of March 31, 2024, there were 34,544,935 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding, excluding earnout shares.

Computation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, is as follows (in thousands, except share and per 
share amounts):

 
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
Net loss   $ (8,443 )   $ (1,014 )
Weighted-average shares outstanding, basic and diluted     26,382,190       25,000,000  
Net loss per share – basic and diluted   $ (0.32 )   $ (0.04 )
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The following table outlines dilutive common share equivalents outstanding, which are excluded in the above diluted net loss per share calculation, 
as the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive or the share equivalents were contingently issuable as of each period presented:
    March 31,  

    2024     2023  
Earnout shares     6,000,000       —  
Common Stock underlying Public Warrants     10,100,000       —  
Common Stock underlying Private Placement Warrants     3,235,000       —  

Total     19,335,000       —  
 

6. Inventories, Net

As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, inventories, net, consisted of the following:
 
    As of March 31,  
    2024     2023  
Raw materials and spare parts   $ 3,882     $ 4,619  
Work in process     4,769       1,105  
Finished goods     1,283       613  
Less: reserves     (2,104 )     (1,487 )
Total inventories, net   $ 7,830     $ 4,850  
 
7. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following:
 
    As of March 31,  

    2024     2023  
Computer software and hardware   $ 849     $ 802  
Machinery and equipment     807       661  
Leasehold improvements     1,357       1,249  
Furniture and fixtures     871       818  
Vehicles     70       55  
Demonstration units     222       466  

Property and equipment     4,176       4,051  
Less: accumulated depreciation     (3,646 )     (3,309 )

Property and equipment, net   $ 530     $ 742  
 
Depreciation expense totaled $302 and $66 for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
 

8. Capitalized software, net and other intangible assets, net

Capitalized software, net and other intangible assets, net as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following:
 

      2024     2023  

     
Gross Carrying 

Amount    
Accumulated 
Amortization    

Net Carrying 
Amount    

Gross Carrying 
Amount    

Accumulated 
Amortization    

Net Carrying 
Amount  

Capitalized software $ 2,131     $ —     $ 2,131     $ 2,019     $ —     $ 2,019  

Other intangible assets $ 380     $ —     $ 380     $ 380     $ —     $ 380  
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Other intangible assets include patent and technology related intangible assets of $380 acquired from the SafeGait asset acquisition discussed in 
Note 2, which represented non-cash investing activities for the year ended March 31, 2023. The weighted-average useful lives of these intangible assets are 
10 years.

Capitalized software, net and other intangible assets, net are subject to amortization when they are available for their intended use. For the years 
ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Capitalized software, net and other intangible assets are not available for intended use and thus not amortized. The 
weighted-average useful life of capitalized software is 5 years.

Estimated annual amortization for intangible assets over the next five years are as follows:
 
      2025     2026     2027     2028     2029  
Estimated annual amortization $ 90     $ 464     $ 464     $ 464     $ 464  
 

9. Other current assets

Other current assets as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following:
 
    As of March 31,  

    2024     2023  
Deferred cost of sales   $ 3,754     $ 3,505  
Value added tax (“VAT”) receivable     635       361  
Advance payments     414       726  
Other current assets     313       263  
Total other current assets   $ 5,116     $ 4,855  

 
 
10. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following:
 
    As of March 31,  

    2024     2023  
Taxes payable   $ 2,554     $ 2,114  
Other payables and current liabilities     7,381       6,517  

Total accrued expenses and other current liabilities   $ 9,935     $ 8,631  
 

11. Other Non-Current Liabilities

Other non-current liabilities as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted of the following:
 

    As of March 31,  
    2024     2023  

Provisions   $ 1,977     $ 1,576  
Pension liabilities     2,194       1,071  

Total other non-current liabilities   $ 4,171     $ 2,647  
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12. Stockholders' Equity

Authorized and Outstanding Capital Stock

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock.

 

Common Stock
 

The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes one class of common stock.

Holders of the Company’s common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held as of the record date for the determination of the shareholders 
entitled to vote on such matters, including the election and removal of directors, except as otherwise required by law. Under Delaware law, the right to vote 
cumulatively does not exist unless the certificate of incorporation specifically authorizes cumulative voting. The Company’s Amended and Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation does not authorize cumulative voting and provides that no shareholder is permitted to cumulate votes at any election of 
directors. Consequently, the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock can elect all of the directors then standing for 
election, and the holders of the remaining shares are not able to elect any directors.

Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of the Company’s preferred stock outstanding at the time, the holders of the Company’s common 
stock will be entitled to receive dividends out of funds legally available therefor if the Company’s board of directors, in its discretion, determines to 
authorize the issuance of dividends and then only at the times and in the amounts that the Company’s board of directors may determine. If the Company 
becomes subject to a liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to the Company’s shareholders would be 
distributable ratably among the holders of the Company’s common stock and any participating series of the Company’s preferred stock outstanding at that 
time, subject to prior satisfaction of all outstanding debt and liabilities and the preferential rights of, and the payment of any liquidation preferences on, any 
outstanding shares of the Company’s preferred stock.

Preferred Stock

Under the terms of our certificate of incorporation, our Board has the authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue up to 10,000,000 
shares of preferred stock in one or more series, to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in each such series, to fix the dividend, 
voting and other rights, preferences and privileges of the shares of each wholly unissued series and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereon, 
and to increase or decrease the number of shares of any such series, but not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding.

The Company’s board of directors is able to authorize the issuance of the Company’s preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could 
adversely affect the voting power or other rights of the holders of the Company’s common stock. The issuance of the Company’s preferred stock, while
providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, have the effect of delaying, 
deferring, or preventing a change in control of the Company and might adversely affect the market price of the Company’s common stock and the voting 
and other rights of the holders of the Company’s common stock. There are currently no plans to issue any shares of the Company’s preferred stock.

Earnout Shares

As described in Note 1 - Business and Organization earnout shares issued in connection with the Business Combination are subject to vesting based 
on the volume weighted average trading prices (“VWAP”) of common shares during the earnout period. If, upon the expiration of the Earnout Period, the 
vesting of any of the Earnout Shares has not occurred, then the applicable Earnout Shares that failed to vest shall terminate and no longer apply and the 
Company shall instruct the escrow agent to deliver the Earnout Shares applicable to such unachieved earnout triggers to the Company for cancellation.


 
Warrants
 

Each two warrants entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of Common Stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustment as 
discussed below. Because the warrants may only be exercised for whole numbers 
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of  Common Stock, only an even number of warrants may be exercised at any given time by a warrant holder. The warrants will expire five years after the 
completion of our initial business combination, at 5:00 p.m., New York City time, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation.
 

Additionally, once the Public Warrants become exercisable, the Company can redeem the outstanding Public Warrants:

• in whole and not in part; 

• at a price of $0.01 per warrant;

• upon not less than 30 days’ prior written notice of redemption (the “30-day redemption period”) to each warrant holder; and

• if, and only if, the reported last sale price of the Common Stock equals or exceeds $18.00 per share (as adjusted for share sub-divisions, share 
dividends, reorganizations, recapitalizations and the like) for any 20 trading days within a 30-trading day period ending three business days 
before we send the notice of redemption to the warrant holders.

 
If the Company calls the Public Warrants for redemption as previously described, the Company has the option to require all holders that wish to 

exercise the Public Warrants to do so on a cashless basis.
 
Simultaneously with ATAK’s initial public offering, ATAK consummated a private placement of 6,470,000 Private Placement Warrants with ATAK’s 

sponsor. Each two Private Placement Warrants is exercisable for one share of common stock at a price of $11.50 per share, subject to adjustment. The 
Private Placement Warrants have terms and provisions that are identical to those of the Public Warrants except that the Private Placement Warrants holder 
can exercise their Private Placement Warrants for cash or on a cashless basis when the Company call the warrants for redemption at the option of private 
placement warrant holders the Private Placement Warrants were not transferable, assignable or salable until 30 days after the completion of the Business 
Combination.
 

13. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered related to the Company if the parties, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, control, are controlled by, or 
are under common control with the Company. Related parties also include principal owners of the Company, its management, members of the immediate 
families of principal owners of the Company and its management and other parties with which the Company may deal with if one party controls or can 
significantly influence the management or operating policies of the other to an extent that one of the transacting parties might be prevented from fully 
pursuing its own separate interests. The Company discloses all related party transactions.

Reorganization and Transaction with DIH Cayman and DIH Hong Kong

While the Company’s businesses have historically functioned together with the other businesses controlled by DIH Cayman, the Company’s 
businesses are largely isolated and not dependent on corporate or other support functions.  DIH Hong Kong is a wholly-owned subsidiary of DIH Cayman 
and the Company was a wholly-owned subsidiary of DIH Cayman prior to closing of the Business Combination. 

On July 1, 2021, DIH Cayman completed a series of reorganization steps to transfer DIH US Corp and its subsidiaries and Hocoma Medical GmbH 
from Hocoma AG to DIH Holding US Inc., Nevada, effectively creating the Company as explained in the Hocoma AG and share transfers section below. 
The reorganization was accounted for as a common control transaction and the assets contributed and liabilities assumed were recorded based on their 
historical carrying values. 

Subsequent to the year ended March 31, 2022, the Company did not incur significant transactions with DIH Cayman or DIH Hong Kong. The 
balances recorded under "Due from relate party" and "Due to related party" are  derived from historical transactions. The table below summarizes related 
party balances with DIH Hong Kong excluding Hocoma AG and Motek as of March 31, 2024 and 2023
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    As of March 31,  
    2024     2023  
Due from related party   $ 2,586     $ 2,456  
Due to related party   $ 1,470     $ 1,311  

 

Hocoma AG and share transfers

On July 1, 2021, Hocoma AG entered into a series of agreements with the Company and its subsidiaries to transfer all business aspects of 
development and production of mechanical and electronic devices in the fields of medical technology and biotechnology to Hocoma Medical GmbH. 

Between July 2021 and January 2024, Hocoma AG operated as a single entity, with all business operations conducted at Hocoma AG while all 
personnel, except for two employees managing the MDR certification, were employed by Hocoma Medical. The EU MDR 2017/745 came into effect in 
May 2021. All medical devices certified under the previous Medical Device Directive (MDD) must certify to the new requirements to ensure that they can 
continue to be sold in the European market. Hocoma AG holds the MDR certification, which cannot legally be transferred to Hocoma Medical. Upon the 
lifting of the injunction, management performed a retrospective separation of these entities to account for the original transactions reinstated by the court.

Transfer ownership of DIH US Corp to DIH Nevada:

Hocoma AG and DIH Nevada entered into a share purchase agreement effective on July 1, 2021, in which Hocoma AG agreed to sell all 10,000 
shares of DIH US Corp and intercompany balances totaling $7.80 million between DIH US Corp and Hocoma AG to DIH Nevada. The purchase price was 
settled through a Note Agreement accruing interest at a rate of 1.25% annually (“Share Purchase Note”). The note has a term of 5 years, due on June 30, 
2026, with prepayment allowed.

Contribution net assets to Hocoma Medical: 

In a Contribution Agreement effective on July 1, 2021, Hocoma AG agreed to contribute its business to Hocoma Medical GmbH. The contributed 
business was valued at USD 10.47 million as amended where Hocoma Medical GmbH was a wholly owned subsidiary of Hocoma AG at the time. The 
Contribution Agreement explicitly excluded the intellectual property rights specified in the Contribution Agreement. Additionally, the assets excluded all 
10,000 shares of DIH US Corporation and certain intercompany balances. The Agreement specifically excludes from these liabilities all indebtedness of 
Hocoma AG related to the contributed business as of the effective date, as well as any liability for taxes relating to the contributed business as of the 
effective date. 

Transfer of ownership in Hocoma Medical to DIH Nevada: 

Under a separate Share Purchase Agreement effective on July 1, 2021, Hocoma AG transferred all ownership in Hocoma Medical GmbH in the form 
of 200 membership interests to DIH Nevada for $10.47 million, based on the final valuation. The purchase price was settled through a Note Agreement 
with an interest rate of 1.25% (“Membership Interest Note”). The note was agreed for a term of 5 years, due on June 30, 2026, with prepayment allowed.

Transfer of  intellectual property to DIH US Corp:

In a business/asset, share, and IP purchase agreement on July 12, 2021, which was amended on August 3, 2021 Hocoma AG transferred intellectual 
property rights as listed in the Annex to the agreement to DIH Technology Inc. (a wholly owned subsidiary of DIH US Corp) for $1.57 million through a 
note agreement. The note payable formalized in a note agreement effective July 1, 2021, with an interest rate of 1.25% (“IP Note”). The note was agreed for 
a term of 5 years, due on June 30, 2026, with prepayment allowed.

The Share Purchase Note, Membership Interest Note and IP Note together are referred to as "Related Party Notes".

Hocoma Medical GmbH has made periodically payments on the principal and interests of the Related Party Notes, resulting from the transfer of the 
business and assets above.

Additionally, the two employees who remained at Hocoma AG provided services for the business of Hocoma Medical. Historically, an immaterial 
premium was charged to the cost of the employees.
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As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the balances of Related Party Notes were $11,457 and $17,301, respectively included in Note payable - related 
party". The decrease resulted from the Company's payments of principal on  Related Party Notes owed to Hocoma AG.

In addition to the Related Party Notes, as of  March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded a related party balance of $(267) and $1,992, 
respectively, representing cash balances owed by Hocoma AG. As part of the transfer discussed above, the Company also recorded a long-term related 
party receivable for $324 as of March 31, 2024 and 2023, included in "Other assets".

Motek Group

The Company has entered into a distribution agreement with the Motek Group. The agreement, which has been historically in place, appoints the 
Company as the exclusive distributor of Motek's advanced human movement research and rehabilitation products and services designed to support efficient 
functional movement therapy within specified territories. Under the distribution agreement, Motek supplies the products and services to the Company at the 
prices detailed in the agreement, with the Company entitled to a distributor margin. Motek provides ongoing support and assistance, including training, 
marketing materials, and technical documentation to the Company.

For the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company made purchases amounting to $13,599 and $11,869, respectively, from the Motek 
Group. 

As part of these transactions, the Company made advance payments to Motek, included in "Due from related party," and also had trade payables, 
included in "Due to related party." The balances as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows: 
    As of March 31,  
    2024     2023  
Due from related party   $ 3,367     $ 1,934  
Due to related party   $ 8,667     $ 5,530  

 

14. Employee Benefit Plans

Defined Contribution Plans

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan in the United States. The Company’s obligation is limited to its contributions made in 
accordance with each plan document. Employer contributions to defined contribution plans are recognized as expense.  Expenses related to the Company’s 
plans for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were $119 and $105, respectively.
 
Defined Benefit Plans

The Company has a Swiss defined benefit plans (the “Pension Plan”) covering substantially all the employees of Hocoma Medical GmbH in 
Switzerland. The Pension Plan exceed the minimum benefit requirements under Swiss pension law. The Swiss plans offer retirement, disability and 
survivor benefits and is governed by a Pension Foundation Board. The responsibilities of this board are defined by Swiss pension law and the plan rules.

The plans offer to members at the normal retirement age of 65 a choice between a lifetime pension and a partial or full lump sum payment. 
Participants can choose to draw early retirement benefits starting from the age of 58 but can also continue employment and remain active members of the 
plan until the age of 70. Employees can make additional purchases of benefits to fund early retirement benefits. The pension amount payable to a 
participant is calculated by applying a conversion rate to the accumulated balance of the participant’s retirement savings account at the retirement date. The 
balance is based on credited vested benefits transferred from previous employers, purchases of benefits, and the employee and employer contributions that 
have been made to the participant’s retirement savings account, as well as the interest accrued. The annual interest rate credited to participants is 
determined by the Pension Foundation Board at the end of each year. 
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Although the Swiss plans are based on a defined contribution promise under Swiss pension law, it is accounted for as a defined benefit plan under 
GAAP, primarily because of the obligation to accrue interest on the participants’ retirement savings accounts and the payment of lifetime pension benefits. 

An actuarial valuation in accordance with Swiss pension law is performed regularly. Should an underfunded situation on this basis occur, the 
Pension Foundation Board is required to take the necessary measures to ensure that full funding can be expected to be restored within a maximum period of 
10 years. If a Swiss plan were to become significantly underfunded on a Swiss pension law basis, additional employer and employee contributions could be 
required. 

 The investment strategy of the Swiss plan complies with Swiss pension law, including the rules and regulations relating to diversification of plan 
assets, and is derived from the risk budget defined by the Pension Foundation Board on the basis of regularly performed asset and liability management 
analyses. The Pension Foundation Board strives for a medium- and long-term balance between assets and liabilities.

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, in respect of the Pension Plan were 
as follows:
 

    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  

Current service cost   $ 655     $ 678  
Interest cost     213       129  
Expected return on plan assets     (296 )     (194 )
Actuarial loss / (gain) recognized     (161 )     (179 )
Actuarial loss / (gain) recognized because of settlement     (341 )     (699 )
Amortization of prior service credit     (145 )     (135 )

Net charge to statement of operations   $ (75 )   $ (400 )

Details of the employee defined benefits obligations and plan assets in respect of the Pension Plan are as follows:
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  

Change in present value of defined benefit obligation:                            
Defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the year   $ 9,337     $ 9,500  
Interest on defined obligation   213     129  
Current service cost   655     678  
Contributions by plan participants   444     476  
Translation (gain) loss     534       (20 )
Benefits paid     (289 )     (1,095 )
Actuarial loss arising on projected benefit obligation     118       (331 )

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year   $ 11,012     $ 9,337  
Change in plan assets:            
Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of the year   $ 7,761     $ 7,353  
Actual return on plan assets     (68 )     457  
Contributions by the employer   530     569  
Contributions by plan participants   444     476  
Benefits paid     (289 )     (1,095 )
Translation loss     440       1  

Fair value of plan assets - at the end of the year   $ 8,818     $ 7,761  
Funded status at end of the year   $ (2,194 )   $ (1,576 )

Amounts relating to these defined benefit plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were as follows:
    As of March 31,  
    2024     2023  

Accumulated benefit obligation   $ 10,686     $ 9,049  
Fair value of plan assets   $ 8,818     $ 7,761  
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Amounts recognized in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet related to the present value of defined benefit obligations consist of the following:
    As of March 31,  
    2024     2023  

Current liabilities     —       —  
Non-current liabilities     2,194       1,576  
Total recognized in the consolidated balance sheet   $ 2,194     $ 1,576  

Amounts recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in respect of the pension plan consist of the following:
    Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  

Net gain (loss)   $ 1,633     $ 2,610  
Prior service (cost) credit   837     976  

Total recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income   $ 2,470     $ 3,586  

Amortization of prior service (cost) credit is recorded in selling, general and administrative in the consolidated statements of operations. 

The principal assumptions used for the purpose of actuarial valuation of the pension plan are as follows:
    As of March 31,  
    2024     2023  

Discount rate     1.50 %    2.10 %
Expected return on plan assets     3.50 %    3.50 %
Expected rate of salary increase     1.00 %    1.00 %

The actuarial assumptions used for the defined benefit plans are based on the economic conditions prevailing in the jurisdiction in which they are 
offered. Changes in the defined benefit obligation are most sensitive to changes in the discount rate. The discount rate is based on the yield of high-quality 
corporate bonds quoted in an active market in the currency of the respective plan. A decrease in the discount rate increases the defined benefit obligation. 
The Company regularly reviews the actuarial assumptions used in calculating the defined benefit obligation to determine their continuing relevance.

Investment Policy      

It is the objective of the plan sponsor to maintain an adequate level of diversification to balance market risk, to prudently invest to preserve capital 
and to provide sufficient liquidity while maximizing earnings for near-term payments of benefits accrued under the plan and to pay plan administrative 
expenses. The assumption used for the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on the long-term expected returns for the investment mix of 
assets currently in the portfolio. Historical return trends for the various asset classes in the class portfolio are combined with current and anticipated future 
market conditions to estimate the rate of return for each class. These rates are then adjusted for anticipated future inflation to determine estimated nominal 
rates of return for each class.

The table below represents the Company's pension plan’ weighted-average asset allocation as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 by asset category:
   As of March 31,  
   2024     2023  

Equity securities     36.58 %    33.99 %
Debt securities     28.16 %    26.43 %
Other, primarily cash and cash equivalents, senior loans and mutual funds     35.26 %    39.58 %
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The table below presents the target allocation for each major asset category for the Company's pension plan for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 
2023:

   Years Ended March 31,  
   2024     2023  

Equity securities     34.00 %    34.00 %
Debt securities     28.50 %    28.00 %
Other, primarily cash and cash equivalents, senior loans and mutual funds     37.50 %    38.00 %

The following tables provides the fair value of plan assets held by the Company’s pension plan by asset category and by fair value hierarchy level:
    As of March 31, 2024  
    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 106     $ —       $ —       $ 106  
Equity securities     3,316       —         —         3,316  
Debt securities     2,310       —         —         2,310  
Real estate     —       1,851         —         1,851  
Non-traditional assets     —       1,235         —         1,235  

Total   $ 5,732     $ 3,086       $ —       $ 8,818  

 
    As of March 31, 2023  
    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 186       —     $   —         186  
Equity securities     2,763       —         —         2,763  
Debt securities     1,987       —         —         1,987  
Real estate     —       1,855         —         1,855  
Non-traditional assets     —       970         —         970  
Total   $ 4,936     $ 2,825       $ —       $ 7,761  

For the year ending March 31, 2025, the Company expects to contribute $652 to its pension plan. 

The following table presents expected pension plan payments over the next 10 years:
   Amount  

Year Ending March 31,      
2025   $ 43  
2026     252  
2027     81  
2028     88  
2029     95  
2030-2034     1,059  

 
15. Income Taxes

The components of loss before income tax for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

 
  Year ended March 31,  
  2024     2023  

U.S. operations $ (11,652 )   $ (4,806 )
Non-U.S. operations   4,455       5,810  
Total loss before income taxes $ (7,197 )   $ 1,004  
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The provision for income taxes during the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 consists of the following:

 
  Year ended March 31,  
  2024     2023  

Current:          
State $ —     $ —  
Federal   —       —  
Foreign   347       1,435  
Deferred:   —       —  
State   —       —  
Federal   1       58  
Foreign          
           

Noncurrent:          
State   —       —  
Federal   200       525  
Foreign   698       —  

Total $ 1,246     $ 2,018  

A reconciliation of income tax expense computed at the statutory corporate income tax rate to the effective income tax rate for the years ended
March 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

 
  Year ended March 31,  
  2024     2023  

Tax expense computed at federal statutory rate   21.0 %     21.0 %
State tax   6.4 %    (12.7 )%
Change in valuation allowance   11.6 %     80.0 %
Foreign rate differential   9.2 %    (7.7 )%
Non-deductible expenses   (15.2 )%    62.6 %
Uncertain Tax Positions   (53.5 )%    52.3 %
Other   3.2 %     5.5 %

Total income tax expense   (17.3 )%    201.0 %
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The Company’s deferred tax position reflects the net tax effects of the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax reporting. Significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as 
follows:

 
  Year ended March 31,  
  2024     2023  

Deferred tax assets:          
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 6,793     $ 6,483  
Pension   422       323  
Accrued expenses   35       138  
Section 163(j) interest expense carryforward   84       165  
Capitalized R&D   332       689  
GAAP to statutory adjustments   741       686  
Other   217       152  
Total gross deferred tax assets   8,624       8,636  
Less: valuation allowance   (8,139 )     (8,264 )

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance $ 485     $ 372  
Deferred tax liabilities:          
Depreciation $ 6     $ 7  
GAAP to statutory adjustments   418       424  
Other   173       51  

Total gross deferred tax liabilities   597       482  
Net deferred tax liabilities $ 112     $ 110  

 

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 primarily relates to net operating loss and interest deduction 
limitation carryforwards that, in the judgment of the Company, are not more-likely-than-not to be realized.

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all the deferred 
tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods 
in which those temporary differences become deductible. The Company considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities (including the impact of 
available carryback and carryforward periods), projected future taxable income, and tax-planning strategies in making this assessment. Based upon the level 
of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income over the periods in which the deferred tax assets are deductible, the Company 
believes it is more-likely-than-not that it will realize the benefits of these deductible differences, net of the existing valuation allowances as of March 31, 
2024 and 2023.

As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has tax effected net operating loss carryforwards in U.S. of $5,000 and $2,453, respectively, of which 
$761 will expire starting in 2035 and the remainder which can be carried forward indefinitely. As of March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has U.S. state 
tax effected net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $1,169 and $464 that, if unused, will expire starting in 2035. As of March 31, 2024 and 
2023, the Company has other foreign tax effected net operating loss carryforwards of $912 and $4,946 of which the majority can be carried forward seven 
years.

The Company prepares its financial statements on a consolidated basis. Income tax expense is calculated in accordance with the local tax laws of 
each entity in its relevant jurisdiction on a separate company basis.
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 A reconciliation of beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax liability is presented below:

 
  Year ended March 31,  
  2024     2023  

Unrecognized Tax Liability – beginning balance $ —     $ —  
Net Increases – tax positions in current year   —       —  
Net Increases – tax positions in prior year   3,499        
Total income tax expense $ 3,499       —  

 

As of March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023, the company had unrecognized tax benefits of $3,499, and $0, respectively, which related to tax positions 
that, if recognized, would affect the annual effective tax rate.  The company recognized accrued interest and penalties in income tax expense.  As of March 
31, 2024 and March 31, 2023 accrued interest and penalties totaling to $159 thousand, and $0, respectively,  is included in other long-term liabilities. The 
Company has identified potential penalty exposure in relation to specific information reporting requirements in the United States. Although the Company is 
trying to address these issues and pursue penalty abatement, it has recorded a long-term payable for the penalties, until potential relief is granted. As of 
March 31, 2024 and 2023, the recorded accrual balances stand at $1,200 and $1,000, respectively.

The Company is subject to taxation in Switzerland, the U.S., and other jurisdictions of its foreign subsidiaries. As of March 31, 2024, tax years 2020, 
2021, and 2022 are subject to examination by the tax authorities in the U.S. The Company is not currently under examination by tax authorities in any 
jurisdiction.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Company may be involved in lawsuits, claims, investigations, and proceedings, consisting of intellectual property, 
commercial, employment, and other matters, which arise in the ordinary course of business. In accordance with ASC 450, Contingencies, the Company 
makes a provision for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

The Company is not presently a party to any litigation the outcome of which, it believes, if determined adversely to the Company, would 
individually or taken together, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results, cash flows or financial condition. The Company 
has determined that the existence of a material loss is neither probable nor reasonably possible.

17. Leases

The Company leases office space (real estate), vehicles and office equipment under operating leases. The Company did not have any finance leases 
as of March 31, 2024 and 2023.

Right-of-use lease assets and lease liabilities that are reported in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 are as
follows:
 
    As of March 31,  
    2024     2023  
Operating lease, right-of-use assets, net   $ 4,466     $ 2,604  
             
Current portion of long-term operating lease     1,572       1,005  
Long-term operating lease     2,917       1,621  

Total operating lease liabilities   $ 4,489     $ 2,626  
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Lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The expense is presented within Selling, general, and 

administrative expense. The components of lease expense related to the Company’s lease for the years ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were:
 

  Years Ended March 31,  
    2024     2023  
Fixed operating lease costs   $ 1,766     $ 1,604  
Short-term lease costs     13       —  
Total lease cost   $ 1,779     $ 1,604  
 

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:
 

  Years Ended March 31,  
  2024     2023  

Operating cash flows included in the measurement of lease liabilities   $ (1,786 )   $ (1,659 )
Non-cash lease activity related to right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease 
liabilities     406       128  
Other non-cash changes to ROU assets due to reassessment of the lease term     2,946     —  
 

The weighted average remaining lease term and discount rate for the Company’s operating leases as of March 31, 2024 and 2023 were:
 
 
   2024     2023  
Weighted-average remaining lease term (in years)     2.63       2.77  
Weighted-average discount rate     4.00 %    4.00 %
 

Lease duration was determined utilizing renewal options that the Company is reasonably certain to execute.

As of March 31, 2024, maturities of operating lease liabilities for each of the following five years ending March 31 and a total thereafter were as 
follows:
 
    Operating Leases    
2025   $ 1,717    
2026     1,181    
2027     899    
2028     893    
2029     111    
Thereafter     —    

Total lease payments     4,801    
Less: imputed interest     (312 )  
Total lease liability   $ 4,489    
 

18. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) by component are summarized below:
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Foreign Currency 

Translation   Defined Benefit Plan Items  

Total Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive (Loss) 

Income  
Balance at March 31, 2022 $ (3,372 ) $ 4,007   $ 635  
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications   (503 )   592     89  
Reclassifications to statements of earnings   —     (1,013 )   (1,013 )
Total other comprehensive loss   (503 )   (421 )   (924 )
Balance, March 31, 2023   (3,875 )   3,586     (289 )
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications   1,455     (469 )   986  
Reclassifications to statements of earnings   —     (647 )   (647 )
Total other comprehensive income (loss)   1,455     (1,116 )   339  
Balance, March 31, 2024 $ (2,420 ) $ 2,470   $ 50  

 

19. Subsequent Events

On June 6, 2024, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement, pursuant to which the Company issued $3.3 million in principal 
amount of 8% Original Issue Discount Senior Secured Convertible Debentures (the “Debentures”). The Debentures were issued with an original issue 
discount of $300 thousand, resulting in gross proceeds of approximately $3 million and net proceeds of approximately $2.5 million after deducting 
estimated offering expenses.

The Debentures are convertible into an aggregate of 660,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock at a conversion price of $5.00 per share, 
subject to adjustment. The Debentures mature on December 7, 2025, and bear interest at a rate of 8% per annum, payable monthly beginning one year from 
the issuance date.

Provided that no event of default has occurred or is continuing, and at least 33% of the principal amount of the Debentures has either previously 
been repaid or converted in accordance with the terms of the Debenture, the Company may elect, by notice to the holder of the Debentures, to extend the 
Maturity Date by six months upon the payment of six months’ interest on the then-outstanding principal amount.

The Debentures are secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company and its domestic subsidiaries, excluding certain specified assets. 
Additionally, the Company’s domestic subsidiaries have provided an unconditional guarantee of the Debentures. In connection with the issuance of the 
Debentures, the Company also issued warrants to purchase an aggregate of 330,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $5.00 per share, with a 
five-year term.

 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
 
On March 12, 2024, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors dismissed Marcum LLP (“Marcum”) as the Company’s independent registered 

public accounting firm. Marcum had served as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm from May 2, 2022 through March 12, 2024. 
Marcum continued to provide certain services to the Company in connection with the completion of the audit of the financial statements of ATAK for year 
ended December 31, 2023. Marcum had served as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm up to the completion of the Company’s 
Business Combination.
 

Marcum’s audit reports on the Company’s financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 did not contain an adverse opinion or 
a disclaimer of opinion and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles, other than an explanatory paragraph 
regarding the substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
 

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 and the subsequent interim period through March 12, 2024: (1) there were no “disagreements” (as 
defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K) with Marcum on any matter 
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of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction 
of Marcum, would have caused Marcum to make reference to the subject matter of such disagreements in connection with its reports on the financial 
statements for such periods and (2) there were no “reportable events” (as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K), except for the disclosure of the 
material weakness in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as disclosed in Part II, Item 9A of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2022
 

On March 12, 2024, the Audit Committee engaged BDO AG (“BDO”) as its new independent registered public accounting firm. The Company has 
authorized Marcum to respond fully to the inquiries of BDO, as the successor independent registered accounting firm.
 

BDO had served as independent registered public accounting firm for DIH Holding US, Inc., a Nevada corporation up through the completion of the 
Business Combination. During the two most recent fiscal years and the subsequent interim period through March 12, 2024, the Company did not consult 
with BDO with respect to (i) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed, the type of audit opinion that 
might be rendered on the Company’s financial statements, and neither a written report nor oral advice was provided to the Company that BDO concluded 
was an important factor considered by the Company in reaching a decision as to any accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue, or (ii) any matter that 
was either the subject of a disagreement (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K and the related instructions to Item 304 of 
Regulation S-K) or a reportable event (as that term is defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K).

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
 

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, 
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and 
communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial and accounting officer or persons performing similar 
functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and the Company’s Chief Financial 
Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d- 15(e) under the 
Exchange Act) as of the end of the fiscal year ended March 31, 2024. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial and 
accounting officer have concluded that during the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to material 
weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting. Specifically, the Company concluded that it had limited accounting personnel and other 
resources with which to address its internal control over financial reporting in accordance with requirements applicable to public companies. In light of the 
material weakness, we performed additional analysis as deemed necessary to ensure that our financial statements were prepared in accordance with U.S. 
generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, management believes that the financial statements included in this Annual Report present fairly in 
all material respects our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented.
 
Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

 
In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well 

designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and 
procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible 
controls and procedures relative to their costs.

 
Management’s Report on Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting 

 
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control over financial 

reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
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financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the 
United States of America. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the 
United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of 
the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

 
Any system of internal control, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility that a control can be circumvented or 

overridden and misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected in a timely manner. Also, because of changes in conditions, internal 
control effectiveness may vary over time. Accordingly, even an effective system of internal control will provide only reasonable assurance with respect to 
financial statement preparation.

 
Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2024. In making this assessment, management 

used the criteria set forth in 2013 by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) in “Internal Control-Integrated 
Framework.” Based on management’s assessment using the COSO criteria, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting 
was not effective as of March 31, 2024 as a result of the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described above.

 
This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. 

Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to the rules of the SEC that permit us to provide only 
management’s report in this Annual Report.

 
Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm
 

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm due to an exemption provided by the JOBS Act for 
“emerging growth companies” and our status as a non-accelerated filer under the Exchange Act.

 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
 

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are 
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.
 
Insider Trading Plan
 
During the year ended March 31, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a “Rule 10-b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 
10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.
 
Not Applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Proposal 1 Election of Directors,” “Corporate 
Governance,” “Executive Officers” and, “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports.” in the Proxy Statement.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics, which applies to all of our directors, officers and employees, including our principal 
executive officer, our principal financial officer, our principal accounting officer, and other persons performing similar finance functions. Our Code of 
Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our investor relations website https://ir.dih.com/ in the “Corporate Governance” section under “Governance 
Documents.” We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of our 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, as well as Nasdaq’s requirement to disclose waivers with respect to directors and executive officers, by posting such
information on our website at the address and location specified above. 

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The disclosure required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Executive Compensation” and “Director Compensation” in 
our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section entitled “Beneficial Ownership Information” in the Proxy 
Statement.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the sections entitled “Related Party Transactions” and “Corporate Governance” in 
the Proxy Statement

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Proposal 3: Ratification of Independent Registered Public 
Accounting Form - Principal Accounting Fees and Services” in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

The following documents are filed as part of this report

1. Financial Statements – See Index to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.

2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedules are omitted because the required information is inapplicable, not material, or the information is presented in the consolidated 

financial statements or related notes.

3. Exhibits

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.
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Exhibit Index
 

Exhibit
Number   Description

2.1   Business Combination Agreement, dated as of February 26, 2023, by and among Aurora Technology Acquisition Corp., Aurora 
Technology Merger Sub Corp., and DIH Holding US, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the registrant’s Current Report 
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 27, 2023).

3.1   Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of DIH Holding US, Inc.
3.2   By-Laws of DIH Holding US, Inc.
4.1   Description of Securities 
4.2   Warrant Agreement
4.3   Debenture dated June 7, 2024
4.4   Warrant Agreement dated February 7, 2022
10.1   Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement , dated as of February 7, 2024, by and among, (i) Aurora Technology 

Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation (formerly a Cayman Islands exempted company), (ii) ATAC Sponsor LLC, a Delaware 
limited liability company, (iii) Maxim Group LLC, (iv) the Sponsor equityholders as set forth on Exhibit A thereto, (v) certain 
equityholders designated on Exhibit B thereto and (vi) any other parties listed on the signature pages thereto and any other person or 
entity who thereafter becomes a party to the Agreement

10.2   Securities Purchase Agreement dated June 6, 2024
10.3   Security Agreement dated June 6, 2024
10.4   Subsidiary Guarantee Agreement dated June 6, 2024
10.5   Form of Deposit Account Control Agreement
10.6   Registration Rights Agreement dated June 6, 2024
10.7   Form of Voting Agreement
10.8   Form of Lock Up Agreement
10.9*   Subscription Agreement dated February 8, 2024
14   Code of Ethics
19   Insider Trading Policy
21*   List of Subsidiaries
24*   Power of Attorney
31.1*   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2*   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 

Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1*   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
32.2*   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002.
97   Claw-Back Policy
101.INS   Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are 

embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents
104   Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
 

*	 Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this Report 
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
  DIH HOLDING US, INC.
    
Date: July 15, 2024  By: /s/ Jason Chen
   Name:  Jason Chen
   Title: Chief Executive Officer
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on 
behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

  Name  Title  Date
       

By /s/ Jason Chen  Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board  July 15, 2024
  Jason Chen   (Principal Executive Officer)   
       

By /s/ Lynden Bass   Chief Financial Officer and Director   July 15, 2024
  Lynden Bass   (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)   
       

By /s/ Dr. Patrick Bruno   Chief Marketing Officer and Director   July 15, 2024
  Dr. Patrick Bruno     
       

By /s/ Max Baucus   Director   July 15, 2024
  Max Baucus     
       

By /s/ F. Samuel Eberts III   Director   July 15, 2024
  F. Samuel Eberts III     
       

By /s/ Ken Ludlum   Director   July 15, 2024
  Ken Ludlum     
       

By /s/ Cathryn Chen   Director   July 15, 2024
  Cathryn Chen     
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EX10.9
 

SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT
 

DIH Holding US, Inc.
77 Accord Park Drive; Suite D-1 Norwell, 
MA 02061

 
Ladies and Gentlemen:

 
The undersigned (the "Investor") has agreed to purchase shares (the "Shares") of Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 

per share (the "Common Stock"), of DIH Holding US, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("DIH"), for a purchase price of$ 10.00 per share 
(the "Per Share Purchase Price"). The aggregate purchase price to be paid by the Investor for the subscribed Shares (as set forth on the 
signature page hereto) is referred to herein as the "Subscription Amount." By executing this agreement (this "Subscription Agreement"), 
the Investor is agreeing to purchase an aggregate amount of 150,000 Shares, at a per share price equal to the Per Share Purchase Price 
for an aggregate subscription price ofUS$1,500,000.

 
In connection therewith, and in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual representations, warranties and covenants, and 

subject to the conditions, set forth herein, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Investor and DIH agree as follows:
 

1. Subscription. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Subscription Agreement, (i) the Investor hereby 
subscribes for and agrees to purchase from DIH at the Closing (as defined herein), and (ii) DIH hereby agrees to issue and sell to the 
Investor, in each case, the number of Shares set forth on the signature page of this Subscription Agreement.

 
2. Closing. The closing of the sale of the Shares contemplated hereby (the "Closing" and the date on which the Closing 

occurs, the "Closing Date") shall take place as soon as practicable after the date hereof. On the Closing Date, DIH shall issue (A) the 
number of Shares set forth on the signature page of this Subscription Agreement in book entry form, free and clear of any liens or other 
restrictions (other than those arising under applicable securities laws), in the name of the Investor (or its nominee in accordance with its 
delivery instructions) or to a custodian designated by the Investor, as applicable, and (B) no later than three business days thereafter, 
shall provide evidence from DIH's transfer agent evidencing the issuance to the Investor of such Shares on and as of the Closing Date.

 
3. Closing Conditions.The obligation of the parties hereto to consummate the purchase and sale of the Shares pursuant to 

this Subscription Agreement is subject to the satisfaction or valid waiver by each of the parties hereto of the following conditions on the 
Closing Date:

 
(i) no applicable governmental authority shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or 

entered any judgment, order, law, rule or regulation (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) which is then in 
effect and has the effect of making consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby illegal or otherwise 
restraining or prohibiting consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and no such governmental 
authority shall have instituted or threatened in writing a proceeding seeking to impose any such restraint or 
prohibition; and

 
(ii) from and after the date hereof, there shall have not occurred any Material Adverse Effect (as 

defined herein).
 

b. The obligation ofDIH to consummate the issuance and sale of the Shares pursuant to this Subscription 
Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction or valid waiver by DIH of the following additional conditions on the Closing Date:

 
(i) all representations and warranties of the Investor contained in this Subscription 

 
 
 



Agreement are true and correct in all material respects (other than representations and warranties that are qualified 
as to materiality, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct in
all respects), at and as of the Closing Date (except for these representations and warranties that speak as of a 
specified earlier date, which shall be so true and correct in all material respects (other than representations and 
warranties that are qualified as to materiality, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all 
respects as of such specified earlier date)), and consummation of the Closing shall constitute a reaffirmation by the 
Investor of each of the representations and warranties of the Investor contained in this Subscription Agreement as 
of the Closing Date or such earlier date, as applicable; and

 
(ii) the Investor shall have performed, satisfied and complied in all material respects with all 

covenants, agreements and conditions required by this Subscription Agreement to be performed, satisfied or 
complied with by it at or prior to the Closing.

 
c. The obligation of the Investor to consummate the purchase of the Shares pursuant to this Subscription 

Agreement shall be subject to the satisfaction or valid waiver by the Investor of the following additional conditions on the Closing Date:
 

(i) all representations and warranties of DIH contained in this Subscription Agreement shall be true 
and correct in all material respects (other than representations and warranties that are qualified as to materiality or 
Material Adverse Effect, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all respects) at and as of 
the Closing Date, and consummation of the Closing shall constitute a reaffirmation by DIH of each of its 
representations and warranties contained in this Subscription Agreement as of the Closing Date;

 
(ii) DIH shall have performed, satisfied and complied in all material respects with all covenants, 

agreements and conditions required by this Subscription Agreement to be performed, satisfied or complied with by 
it at or prior to the Closing;

 
(iii) all consents, waivers, authorizations or orders of, any notice required to be made to, and any 

filing or registration with, any court or other federal, state, local or other governmental authority, self-regulatory 
organization (including the Nasdaq Stock Market ("Nasdaq") and any stockholder approval required by the rules 
and regulations ofNasdaq) or other person in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this 
Subscription Agreement (including, without limitation, the issuance of the Shares) required to be made in 
connection with the issuance and sale of the Shares shall have been obtained or made, except where the failure to so 
obtain or make would not prevent DIH from consummating the transactions contemplated hereby, including the 
issuance and sale of the Shares;

 
(iv) The Shares ofDIH and the warrants ofDIH shall have been approved for listing on the Nasdaq 

Stock Market, subject to official notice of issuance;
 

(v) The gross proceeds from the trust account of Aurora Technology Acquisition Corporation, a 
Cayman Islands exempted company ("ATAK"), released to DIH and prior to the payment of any expenses shall be 
at least $5.4 million;

 
(vi) Upon Closing, the Investor shall receive from ATAC Sponsor, LLC 500,000 shares ofDIH 

Common Stock;
 

(vii) Within 10 business days of the date of this Subscription Agreement, the Investor shall receive 1.0 
million ordinary shares ofDIH Technology Ltd. from Jason Chen;

 
(viii) Upon Closing, the Investor shall receive from DIH a warrant to purchase 300,000 shares of DIH 

Common Stock at a per share exercise price of $10.00 exercisable within five (5) years of the Closing; and
 
 
 



(ix) DIH shall not have entered into any other subscription agreement, side letter or similar agreement 
with any Other Investor (as defined below) in connection with such Other Investor's direct or indirect investment in 
DIH on terms that are more favorable to such Other Investor(s) thereunder than the terms of this Subscription 
Agreement.

 
4. Further Assurances. At the Closing, each of the parties hereto shall execute and deliver such additional documents and 

take such additional actions as the parties reasonably may deem to be practical and necessary in order to consummate the subscription as 
contemplated by this Subscription Agreement. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Subscription Agreement, at 
or prior to Closing, each of the parties hereto shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to 
do, or cause to be done, and to assist and cooperate with the other party hereto in doing, all things reasonably necessary, proper or
advisable under applicable legal requirements to consummate and make effective, in the most expeditious manner practicable, the 
transactions contemplated by this Subscription Agreement.

 
5. DIH Representations and Warranties. DIH represents and warrants to the Investor, as of the date hereof and as of the 

Closing Date that:
 

a. DIH has been duly incorporated and is validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of 
Delaware (to the extent such concept exists in such jurisdiction), with corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its 
properties and conduct its business as presently conducted and to enter into, deliver and perform its obligations under this Subscription 
Agreement.

 
b. This Subscription Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by DIH and, assuming that this 

Subscription Agreement constitutes the valid and binding agreement of the Investor, this Subscription Agreement constitutes the valid 
and binding agreement of DIH and is enforceable against DIH in accordance with its terms, except as may be limited or otherwise 
affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforcement 
of creditors' rights generally and by general principles of equity, whether considered at law or equity.

 
c. The execution and delivery of this Subscription Agreement and the compliance by DIH with all of the 

provisions of this Subscription Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein will not (i) conflict with or 
result in a breach or violation of any of the terms or provisions of, or constitute a default under, or result in the creation or imposition of 
any lien, charge or encumbrance upon any of the property or assets of DIH or any of its subsidiaries or the Shares pursuant to the terms 
of any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan agreement, lease, license or other agreement or instrument to which DIH or any of its 
subsidiaries is a party or by which DIH or any of its subsidiaries is bound or to which any of the property or assets of DIH is subject, 
that would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the business, properties, 
prospects, general affairs, management, financial position, stockholders' equity or results of operations of DIH and its subsidiaries, taken 
as a whole, or materially and adversely affect: (A) the validity of the Shares; or (B) the legal authority or ability ofDIH to comply in all 
material respects with or timely perform the terms of this Subscription Agreement, including the issuance and sale of the Shares ((A)-
(B) collectively, a "Material Adverse Effect"); (ii) result in any violation of the provisions of the organizational documents ofDIH (the 
"Organizational Documents"); or (iii) result in any violation of any statute or any law, judgment, order, rule or regulation of any court or 
governmental agency or body, domestic or foreign, having jurisdiction over DIH or any of its properties that would reasonably be 
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

 
d. DIH is not required to obtain any consent, waiver, authorization or order of, give any notice to, or make any 

filing or registration with, any court or other federal, state, local or other governmental authority, self regulatory organization or other 
person in connection with the execution, delivery and performance by DIH of this Subscription Agreement (including, without 
limitation, the issuance of the Shares pursuant to this Subscription Agreement), other than (i) filings with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), (ii) filings required by applicable state securities laws, (iii) filings required by Nasdaq, or such 
other applicable stock exchange on which DIH's Common Stock may then be listed and (iv) those the failure of which to obtain would 
not be reasonably likely to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.

e. The issued and outstanding shares of DIH Common Stock are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) 
 
 
 



of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and listed for trading on Nasdaq. As of their respective dates, 
all filings filed by each ofDIH and ATAK with the SEC (collectively, the "SEC Documents") complied in all material respects with the 
applicable requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations of the SEC promulgated thereunder, 
and none of the SEC Documents, when filed (or, if amended, as of the date of such amendment), contained any untrue statement of a 
material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the 
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. A copy of each SEC Document is available to the Investor via 
the SEC's EDGAR system. There are no material outstanding or unresolved comments in comment letters received by DIH or ATAK 
from the staff of the Division of Corporation Finance of the SEC with respect to any of the SEC Documents.

 
f. Assuming the accuracy of the Investor's representations and warranties set forth in Section 7, no registration 

under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), is required for the offer and sale of the Shares by DIH to the 
Investor hereunder. The Shares offered hereby (i) were not offered by any form of general solicitation or general advertising (within the 
meaning of Regulation D of the Securities Act) and (ii) are not being offered in a manner involving a public offering under, or in a 
distribution in violation of, the Securities Act, or any state securities laws. Neither DIH, nor any person acting on its behalf has, directly 
or indirectly, made any offers or sales of any DIH security or solicited any offers to buy any security, under circumstances that would 
adversely affect reliance by DIH on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act for the exemption from registration for the transactions 
contemplated hereby or would require registration of the Shares under the Securities Act. The Shares offered hereby will not be subject 
to a lock-up agreement with DIH, or other contractual agreement restricting transfer, other than such restrictions on transfer as required 
by applicable securities laws.

 
g. Except as would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, there is no (i) action, suit, 

claim or other proceeding, in each case by or before any governmental authority pending, or, to the knowledge of DIH, threatened 
against DIH or (ii) judgment, decree, injunction, ruling or order of any governmental entity or arbitrator outstanding against DIH.

 
h. DIH is in compliance with all applicable law, except where such noncompliance would not reasonably be 

expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. DIH has not received any written communication from a governmental authority that 
alleges that DIH is not in compliance with or is in default or violation of any applicable law.

 
i. DIH has not paid, and is not under any obligation to pay, any broker's fee or commission in connection with the 

sale of the Shares hereunder.
 

j. DIH is not, and immediately after receipt of payment for the Shares, will not be, an "investment company" 
within the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

 
k. DIH has provided the Investor an opportunity to ask questions regarding DIH and made available to Investor 

all the information reasonably available to DIH that Investor has reasonably and customarily requested for deciding whether to acquire 
the Shares.

 
I. As of the date of this Subscription Agreement, the authorized share capital of DIH is 100,000,000 shares of 

Class A Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.00001 per share 
(collectively, the "DIH Securities"). All issued and outstanding DIH Securities as of the date hereof (i) have been duly authorized and 
validly issued and are fully paid and non-assessable; (ii) have been offered, sold and issued in compliance with applicable law, including 
federal and state securities laws, and all requirements set forth in (A) the Organizational Documents and (B) any other applicable 
contracts governing the issuance of such securities, and were issued free and clear of all liens other than transfer restrictions under 
applicable securities laws, contractual lock-up agreements and the Organizational Documents; and (iii) are not subject to, nor have they 
been issued in violation of, any purchase option, call option, right of first refusal, preemptive right, subscription right or any similar 
right under any provision of any applicable law, the Organizational Documents or any contract to which DIH is a party or otherwise 
bound. As of the date of this Subscription Agreement, 20,200,000
DIH public warrants, 6,470,000 DIH private placement warrants and 40,544,936 shares of Class A Common Stock of
DIH are issued and outstanding.

 
 
 



 
m. As of the date of this Subscription Agreement, except as set forth above or pursuant to the Organizational 

Documents or any other subscription agreement for DIH's securities and the 26,670,000outstanding warrants, each to purchase one-half 
of one share of DIH Common Stock at a per share price of $11.50, (i) DIH has not granted any outstanding options, stock appreciation 
rights, warrants, rights or other securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for DIH Securities or any other equity interests 
of DIH or entered into any other commitments or agreements providing for the issuance of additional shares, the sale of treasury shares, 
the repurchase or redemption of any DIH Securities or any other equity interests of DIH, (ii) there are no stockholder agreements, 
voting trusts or other agreements or understandings to which DIH is a party or by which it is bound relating to the voting of any 
securities of DIH, (iii) DIH had no outstanding indebtedness and (iv) no other capital equity or other voting securities ofDIH are issued, 
reserved for issuance or outstanding.

 
n. There has been no action taken by DIH, or, to the knowledge ofDIH, any officer, director, equityholder, 

manager, employee, agent or representative of DIH, in each case, acting on behalf of DIH, in violation of any applicable Anti-
Corruption Laws (as herein defined), and (i) DIH has not been convicted of violating any Anti Corruption Laws or subjected to any 
investigation by a governmental authority for violation of any applicable Anti Corruption Laws, (ii) DIH has not conducted or initiated 
any internal investigation or made a voluntary, directed, or involuntary disclosure to any governmental authority regarding any alleged 
act or omission arising under or relating to any noncompliance with any Anti-Corruption Laws and (iii) DIH has not received any 
written notice or citation from a governmental authority for any actual or potential noncompliance with any applicable Anti-Corruption 
Laws. As used herein, "Anti-Corruption Laws" means any applicable laws relating to corruption and bribery, including the
U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977 (as amended), the UK Bribery Act 2010, and any similar law that prohibits bribery or 
corruption.

 
o. DIH has not entered into any other subscription agreement, side letter or similar agreement with any other 

investor (each, an "Other Investor") in connection with such Other Investor's direct or indirect investment in DIH on terms that are more 
favorable to such Other Investor(s) thereunder than the terms of this Subscription Agreement.

 
6. [RESERVED]

 
7. Investor Representations and Warranties. The Investor represents and warrants to DIH that:

 
a. The Investor (i) is a "qualified institutional buyer" (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act) or an 

institutional "accredited investor" (within the meaning of Rule 50l(a)(l), (2), (3) or (7) under the Securities Act), in each case, satisfying 
the applicable requirements set forth on Schedule A, (ii) the investment adviser if any, to which the Investor has delegated decision-
making authority over investments is an "institutional account" (as defined in FINRA Rule 4512(c)), (iii) is acquiring the Shares only 
for his, her or its own account and not for the account of others, or if the Investor is subscribing for the Shares as a fiduciary or agent for 
one or more investor accounts, the Investor or the investment adviser to which Investor has delegated decision-making authority over 
investments has full investment discretion with respect to each such account, and the full power and authority to make the 
acknowledgements, representations and agreements herein on behalf of each owner of each such account, and (iv) is not acquiring the 
Shares with a view to, or for offer or sale in connection with, any distribution thereof in violation of the Securities Act (and shall provide 
the requested information on Schedule A following the signature page hereto). The Investor is not an entity formed for the specific 
purpose of acquiring the Shares.

 
b. The Investor understands that (i) DIH represents and warrants that the Shares offered hereby are being offered 

in a transaction not involving any public offering within the meaning of the Securities Act and (ii) that the Shares have not been 
registered under the Securities Act. The Investor understands that the Shares may not be resold, transferred, pledged or otherwise 
disposed of by the Investor absent an effective registration statement under the Securities Act except (i) pursuant to offers and sales that 
qualify as "offshore transactions" within the meaning of Regulation Sunder the Securities Act, (ii) pursuant to Rule 144 under the 
Securities Act, provided that all of the applicable conditions thereof(including those set out in Rule 144(i) which are applicable to DIH) 
have been met or (iii) pursuant to another applicable exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act, including
pursuant to a private sale effected under Section 4(a)(7) of the Securities Act, and in each of cases (i) and (ii) in 

 
 
 



accordance with any applicable securities laws of the states and other jurisdictions of the United States, and that any certificates 
representing the Shares offered hereby shall contain a restrictive legend to such effect, which legend shall be subject to removal as set 
forth herein. The Investor understands and agrees that the Shares offered hereby will be subject to transfer restrictions described herein, 
and, as a result, the Investor may not be able to readily offer, resell, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of the Shares and may be 
required to bear the financial risk of an investment in the Shares for an indefinite period of time. The Investor acknowledges and agrees 
that the Shares offered hereby will not immediately be eligible for offer, resale, transfer, pledge or disposition pursuant to Rule 144 
promulgated under the Securities Act until at least one year from the date that DIH files a Current Report on Form 8-K that includes the 
"Form 10" information required under applicable SEC rules and regulations. The Investor understands that it has been advised to consult 
legal counsel prior to making any offer, resale, transfer, pledge or disposition of any of the Shares. By making the representations herein, 
the Investor does not agree to hold any of the Shares offered hereby for any minimum or other specific term and reserves the right to 
assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of the Shares at any time in accordance with or pursuant to a registration statement or an 
exemption under the Securities Act.

 
c. The Investor understands and agrees that the Investor is purchasing the Shares directly from DIH. The Investor 

further acknowledges that there have been no representations, warranties, covenants and agreements made to the Investor by DIH or his 
officers or directors, expressly or by implication, other than those representations, warranties, covenants and agreements made by DIH 
and included in this Subscription Agreement and in any other documents delivered by DIH to the Investor in accordance with the terms 
hereof.

 
d. The Investor acknowledges and agrees that the Investor has received such information as the Investor deems 

necessary in order to make an investment decision with respect to the Shares offered hereby, including with respect to DIH. Without 
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Investor acknowledges that he, she or it has had the opportunity to review the SEC 
Documents. The Investor represents and agrees that the Investor and the Investor's professional advisor(s), if any (i) have had the 
opportunity to ask such questions, receive such answers and obtain such information as the Investor and such Investor's professional 
advisor(s), if any, have deemed necessary to make an investment decision with respect to the Shares and (ii) have independently made 
their own analysis and decision to invest in DIH. However, neither any such inquiries, nor any due diligence investigation conducted by 
the Investor or any of the Investor's professional advisors nor anything else contained herein, shall modify, limit or otherwise affect the 
Investor's right to rely on DIH's warranties, covenants and agreements contained in this Subscription Agreement. The Investor further 
acknowledges that any such information consisting of financial estimates, projected financial information and other forward-looking 
information provided by DIH or its affiliates or representatives is based on a number of assumptions and estimates that are inherently 
subject to significant business, economic and competitive risks, uncertainties and contingencies which are beyond the control ofDIH, 
and that it is understood that such projections, as to future events, are not to be viewed as facts, that actual results during the period or 
periods covered by any such projections may differ significantly from the projected results and that such difference may be material and 
that such projections are not a guarantee of financial performance.

 
e. The Investor became aware of this offering of the Shares offered hereby solely by means of direct contact 

between the Investor and DIH, or a representative ofDIH, and the Shares were offered to the Investor solely by direct contact between 
the Investor and DIH, or a representative ofDIH. The Investor did not become aware of this offering of the Shares, nor were the Shares 
offered to the Investor, by any other means. The Investor acknowledges DIH's representation that the Shares offered hereby were not 
offered to the Investor by any form of general solicitation or general advertising. Other than in the event of fraud, Investor 
acknowledges that it is not relying upon, and has not relied upon, any statement, representation or warranty made by any person, firm or 
corporation, or any of their respective affiliates or any of their or their respective affiliates' control persons, officers, directors, 
employees or representatives, other than (i) the SEC Documents and (ii) the representations and warranties of DIH contained in this 
Subscription Agreement, in making its investment or decision to invest in DIH.

 
f. The Investor acknowledges that it is aware that there are substantial risks incident to the purchase and 

ownership of the Shares, including those set forth in the SEC Documents. The Investor has such knowledge and experience in financial 
and business matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Shares, and the Investor has sought such
accounting, legal and tax advice as the Investor has considered necessary to make an informed investment decision.

g. Alone, or together with any professional advisor(s), the Investor has adequately analyzed and 
 
 
 



fully considered the risks of an investment in the Shares and that the Investor is able at this time and in the foreseeable future to bear the 
economic risk of a total loss of the Investor's investment in DIH. The Investor acknowledges specifically that a possibility of total loss 
of investment exists. The Investor will not look to DIH or DIH for all or part of any such investment loss or losses the Investor may 
suffer.

 
h. The Investor represents that no disqualifying event described in Rule 506(d)(l)(i)-(viii) under the Securities Act 

(a "Disqualification Event") is applicable to the Investor or any of its Rule 506(d) Related Parties (as defined below), except, if 
applicable, for a Disqualification Event as to which Rule 506(d)(2)(ii) or (iii) or (d)(3) is applicable. Investor hereby agrees that it shall 
notify DIH promptly in writing in the event a Disqualification Event becomes applicable to the Investor or any of its Rule 506(d) 
Related Parties, except, if applicable, for a Disqualification Event as to which Rule 506(d)(2)(ii) or (iii) or (d)(3) is applicable. For 
purposes of this Section 7(h), "Rule 506(d) Related Party" shall mean a person or entity that is a direct beneficial owner of the Investor's 
securities for purposes of Rule 506(d) under the Securities Act.

 
i. Assuming the accuracy ofDIH's representations and warranties set forth in Section 6, no foreign person (as 

defined in 31 C.F.R. Part 800.224) in which the national or subnational governments of a single foreign state have a substantial interest 
(as defined in 31 C.F.R. Part 800.244) will acquire a substantial interest in DIH as a result of the Investor's purchase and sale of Shares 
hereunder such that a declaration to the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States would be mandatory under 31 C.F.R. 
Part 800.401, and no foreign person will have control (as defined in 31 C.F.R. Part 800.208) over DIH from and after the Closing as a 
result of the Investor's purchase and sale of the Shares hereunder.

 
j. Except as expressly disclosed in a Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G (or amendments thereto) filed by the Investor 

with the SEC with respect to the beneficial ownership ofDIH's Common Stock prior to the date hereof, if applicable, the Investor is not 
currently a member of a "group" (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) or Section 14(d)(2) of the Exchange Act, or any successor 
provision) other than with those persons or entities of the Investor who may be deemed affiliates or control persons acting for the 
purpose of acquiring, holding or disposing of equity securities ofDIH (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5(b)(l) under the Exchange Act).

 
k. In making its decision to purchase the Shares, the Investor has relied solely upon (i) the SEC Documents, (ii) 

the representations and warranties of DIH contained in this Subscription Agreement and (iii) independent investigation made by the 
Investor or the investment adviser to which Investor has delegated decision making authority over investments.

 
I. The Investor understands that no federal or state agency has passed upon or endorsed the merits of the offering 

of the Shares or made any findings or determination as to the fairness of this investment.
 

m. The Investor has been duly formed or incorporated and is validly existing in good standing under the laws of its 
jurisdiction of incorporation or formation, with power and authority to enter into, deliver and perform its obligations under this
Subscription Agreement.

 
n. The execution, delivery and performance by the Investor of this Subscription Agreement are within the powers 

of the Investor or the investment adviser to which Investor has delegated decision-making authority over investments, have been duly 
authorized and will not constitute or result in a breach or default under or conflict with any order, ruling or regulation of any court or 
other tribunal or of any governmental commission or agency, or any agreement or other undertaking, to which the Investor is a party or 
by which the Investor is bound which would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the legal authority of the 
Investor to enter into and perform its obligations under this Subscription Agreement, and, if the Investor is not an individual, will not 
violate any provisions of the Investor's charter documents, including, without limitation, its incorporation or formation papers, bylaws, 
indenture of trust or partnership or operating agreement, as may be applicable. The signature of the Investor or the investment adviser to 
which Investor has delegated decision-making authority over investments on this Subscription Agreement is genuine, and the signatory, 
if the Investor is an individual, has legal competence and capacity to execute the same or, if the Investor is not an individual, the 
signatory has been duly authorized to execute the same, and assuming that this Subscription Agreement constitutes the valid and binding 
obligation of DIH, this Subscription Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Investor, enforceable against the

 
 
 



Investor in accordance with its terms except as may be limited or otherwise affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, 
reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally and by general principles of 
equity.

 
o. The Investor is not (i) a person or entity named on the List of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked 

Persons administered by the U.S. Treasury Department's Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") or in any Executive Order issued 
by the President of the United States and administered by OFAC ("OFAC List"), or a person or entity prohibited by any OFAC sanctions 
program, (ii) a Designated National as defined in the Cuban Assets Control Regulations, 31 C.F.R. Part 515, or (iii) a non-U.S. shell 
bank or providing banking services indirectly to a non-U.S. shell bank. The Investor agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts to 
provide law enforcement agencies, if requested thereby, such records as required by applicable law, provided that the Investor is 
permitted to do so under applicable law. If the Investor is a financial institution subject to the Bank Secrecy Act (31 U.S.C. Section 5311 
et seq.) (the "BSA"), as amended by the USA PATRIOT Act of2001 (the "PATRIOT Act"), and its implementing regulations 
(collectively, the "BSA/PATRIOT Act"), the Investor, directly or indirectly through a third-party administrator, maintains policies and 
procedures reasonably designed to comply with applicable obligations under the BSA/PATRIOT Act. To the extent required by 
applicable law, the Investor, directly or indirectly, maintains policies and procedures reasonably designed for the screening of its 
investors against the OFAC sanctions programs, including the OFAC List. To the extent required by applicable law, the Investor, directly 
or indirectly through a third-party administrator, maintains policies and procedures reasonably designed to ensure that the funds held by 
the Investor and used to purchase the Shares were legally derived.

 
p. The Investor acknowledges that no disclosure or offering document has been provided to the Investor in 

connection with the offer and sale of the Shares.
 

q. No broker, finder or other financial consultant has acted on behalf of the Investor in connection with this 
Subscription Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby in such a way as to create any liability on DIH.

 
8. Registration Rights.

 
a. DIH agrees that, on or prior to April 8, 2024 (the "Filing Deadline"), DIH will file with the SEC (at its sole 

cost and expense) a registration statement to register under and in accordance with the provisions of the Securities Act, the resale of all 
Registrable Securities (as defined below) on Form S-1, or any similar or successor long form registration registering the resale of the 
Shares and DIH warrants (the "Registration Statement"), and it shall use its best efforts to have the Registration Statement declared 
effective as soon as practicable after the filing thereof, but no later than the earlier of (1) 90 calendar days after the filing thereof, if the 
SEC notifies DIH that it will "review" the Registration Statement, and (2) the five (5) business days after the date DIH is notified (orally 
or in writing, whichever is earlier) by the SEC that the Registration Statement will not be "reviewed" or will not be subject to further 
review (the "Effectiveness Date"). DIH will use its best efforts to provide a draft of the Registration Statement to the Investor for review 
at least three (3) business days in advance of the filing of the Registration Statement; provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, in no 
event shall DIH be required to delay or postpone the filing of such Registration Statement as a result of or in connection with the 
Investor's review. Any failure by DIH to file the Registration Statement by the Filing Deadline or to cause such Registration Statement 
to be declared effective by the SEC by the Effectiveness Date shall not otherwise relieve DIH of its obligations to file a Registration 
Statement as set forth above.

 
b. DIH shall promptly notify the Investor of the effectiveness of the Registration Statement. DIH shall file with 

the SEC a final form of prospectus pursuant to Rule 424 (or successor thereto) under the Securities Act no later than the second business 
day after the Registration Statement becomes effective. The Registration Statement shall include a "plan of distribution" that permits all 
lawful means of disposition of the Registrable Securities by the Investor, including block sales, agented transactions, sales directly into 
the market and other customary provisions (but, excluding for the avoidance of doubt, underwritten offerings).

 
c. DIH agrees to cause such Registration Statement, or another shelf registration statement that includes the 

Registrable Securities, to remain effective, except for such times as DIH is expressly permitted hereunder to suspend the use of the 
prospectus forming part of the Registration Statement, until the earliest of (i) the second 

 
 
 



anniversary of the Closing, (ii) the date on which the Investor ceases to hold any Registrable Securities, or (iii)
on the first date on which the Investor can sell all of its Registrable Securities under Rule 144 of the Securities Act without volume or 
manner of sale limitations and without the requirement DIH to be in compliance with the current public information required under 
Rule 144(c)(2) (or Rule l 44(i)(2), if applicable).

 
d. In no event shall the Investor be identified as a statutory underwriter in the Registration Statement; provided, 

that if the SEC requires that the Investor be identified as a statutory underwriter in the Registration Statement, the Investor will have the 
option, in its sole and absolute discretion, to either (i) have the opportunity to withdraw from the Registration Statement upon its prompt 
written request to DIH, in which case DIH's obligation to register the Registrable Securities will be deemed satisfied or (ii) be included 
as such in the Registration Statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the SEC prevents DIH from including any or all of the Shares 
proposed to be registered under the Registration Statement due to limitations on the use of Rule 415 of the Securities Act for the resale 
of the Shares by the applicable shareholders or otherwise, DIH shall use its best efforts to ensure that the SEC determines that (1) the 
offering contemplated by the Registration Statement is a bona fide secondary offering and not an offering "by or on behalf of the issuer" 
as defined in Rule 415 of the Securities Act and (2) the Investor is not a statutory underwriter. If DIH is unsuccessful in the efforts 
described in the preceding sentence, then DIH shall cause such Registration Statement to register for resale such number of Shares 
which is equal to the maximum number of Shares as is permitted by the SEC. In such event, the number of Shares to be registered for 
each selling shareholder named in the Registration Statement shall be reduced pro rata among all such selling shareholders and as 
promptly as practicable after being permitted to register additional Shares under Rule 415 under the Securities Act, DIH shall amend the 
Registration Statement or file a new Registration Statement (such amendment or new Registration Statement shall also be deemed to be 
a "Registration Statement" hereunder) to register such additional Shares and cause such Registration Statement to become effective as 
promptly as practicable after the filing thereof, but in any event no later than sixty (60) calendar days after the filing of such Registration 
Statement (the "Additional Effectiveness Date"); provided, that the Additional Effectiveness Date shall be extended to ninety (90) 
calendar days after the filing of such Registration Statement if such Registration Statement is reviewed by, and comments thereto are 
provided from, the SEC; provided, further, DIH shall have such Registration Statement declared effective within ten (10) business days 
after the date DIH is notified in writing by the SEC that such Registration Statement will not be "reviewed" or will not be subject to 
further review. DIH's obligations to include the Registrable Securities for resale in the Registration Statement are contingent upon the 
Investor furnishing in writing to DIH such information regarding the Investor, the securities of DIH held by the Investor and the 
intended method of disposition of such Registrable Securities as shall be reasonably requested by DIH in advance to effect the 
registration of such Registrable Securities, and shall execute such documents in connection with such registration as DIH may 
reasonably request in advance that are customary of a selling stockholder in similar situations. Investor shall not be entitled to use the 
Registration Statement for an underwritten offering.

 
e. For as long as the Registration Statement is required to remain effective pursuant to Section 8(c), DIH will use 

its commercially reasonable efforts to (1) qualify the Registrable Securities for listing on Nasdaq or such other national securities 
exchange upon which the Shares are then listed, and (2) update or amend the Registration Statement as necessary to include all of the 
Shares offered hereby. For as long as the Investor holds the Registrable Securities being offered hereby, DIH will use its commercially 
reasonable efforts to (A) make and keep public information available, as those terms are understood and defined in Rule 144, (B) file in 
a timely manner all reports and other documents with the SEC required under the Exchange Act, as long as DIH remains subject to such 
requirements, and (C) provide all customary and reasonable cooperation necessary, in each case, to enable the Investor to resell 
Registrable Securities pursuant to the Registration Statement or Rule 144 of the Securities Act (when Rule 144 of the Securities Act 
becomes available to the Investor), as applicable, including providing any legal opinions to DIH's transfer agent. DIH shall cause any 
restrictive legends related to the book-entry account holding the Shares acquired pursuant to this Subscription Agreement (or certificates 
related thereto) to be removed in connection with a sale, assignment or other transfer (and such Shares shall not be subject to any stop-
transfer instructions) if (i) such Shares are registered for resale under the Securities Act (provided that, if the Investor is selling pursuant 
to an effective registration statement registering the Shares for resale, the Investor agrees to only sell such Shares during such time that 
such registration statement is effective and not withdrawn or suspended, and only as permitted by such registration statement), or (ii) to 
the extent such legend is no longer required, the Investor provides DIH with an opinion of counsel, in customary form, to the effect that 
the sale, assignment or transfer of the Shares may be made without registration under the applicable requirements of the Securities Act. 
DIH agrees that, following such time as any of the foregoing 

 
 
 



conditions is met, it will, no later than the earlier of(x) four (4) Trading Days and (y) the number of Trading Days comprising the 
Standard Settlement Period following the delivery by the Investor to DIH or the transfer agent for the
Shares (the "Transfer Agent") of a book-entry account or certificate representing Shares issued with a restrictive legend, deliver or cause 
the Transfer Agent to deliver to the Investor a book-entry account or certificate representing such Shares or, at the request of the 
Investor, deliver or cause to be delivered the Shares to the Investor by crediting the account of the Investor's prime broker with DTC 
through its Deposit/Withdrawal at Custodian (DWAC) system, in each case, free from all restrictive and other legends and stop transfer 
instructions (or similar notations).

 
f. For purposes hereof, "Trading Day" means any day on which the Shares are traded for any period on Nasdaq or, 

if Nasdaq is not the principal trading market for the Shares, on the principal trading market or other securities exchange or market on 
which the Shares are then being traded; provided,  however, that during any period in which the Shares are not listed or quoted on 
Nasdaq or any other securities exchange or market, the term "Trading Day" shall mean a business day, and "Standard Settlement Period" 
means, as of any date, the standard settlement period for equity trades effected on securities exchanges in the United States, expressed in 
a number of Trading Days, as in effect on such date. "Registrable Securities" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the Shares, the
DIH warrants and any other equity security issued or issuable with respect to the Shares or DIH warrants, including by way of share 
split, dividend, distribution, recapitalization, merger, exchange, replacement or similar event. For purposes of this Section 8 only, an 
"Investor" shall include any person to whom the Investor has assigned its rights under Section l l(a).

 
g. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, DIH may delay or postpone filing an acceleration 

request in respect of such Registration Statement, and from time to time require the Investor not to sell under the Registration Statement 
or suspend the use or effectiveness of any such Registration Statement, if the board of directors of DIH reasonably determines in good 
faith upon the advice of counsel that in order for the Registration Statement to not contain a material misstatement or omission, an 
amendment thereto would be needed to include information that would at that time not otherwise be required in a current, quarterly or 
annual report under the Exchange Act, or if such filing or use would materially adversely affect a significant bona fide financing, 
acquisition or similar transaction of DIH or would require premature disclosure of material information that could materially adversely 
affect DIH and DIH has a bona fide business purpose for preserving as confidential (each such circumstance, a "Suspension Event"); 
provided, that, (i) DIH shall not so delay filing or so suspend the use of the Registration Statement for a period of more than forty five 
(45) consecutive days, not more than twice or more than a total of ninety
(90) calendar days, in each case in any three hundred sixty (360) day period and (ii) DIH shall use its best efforts to make such 
Registration Statement available for the sale by the Investor of such securities as soon as practicable thereafter. If so directed by DIH, 
the Investor will destroy all copies of the prospectus covering the Shares in the Investor's possession; provided, however, that this 
obligation to deliver or destroy all copies of the prospectus covering the Shares shall not apply (i) to the extent the Investor is required to 
retain a copy of such prospectus (A) in order to comply with applicable legal or regulatory requirements or (B) in accordance with a 
bona fide pre-existing document retention policy or (ii) to copies stored electronically on archival servers as a result of automatic data 
back-up. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, DIH shall cause its transfer agent to deliver unlegended Shares to a transferee of an 
Investor in connection with any sale of Shares with respect to which an Investor has entered into a contract for sale, prior to such 
Investor's receipt of the notice of a Suspension Event and for which such Investor has not yet settled.

 
h. At its expense, DIH shall advise the Investor within five (5) business days: (i) when a Registration Statement or 

any post-effective amendment thereto has been filed with the SEC and when such Registration Statement or post-effective amendment 
thereto has become effective; (ii) after it shall receive notice or obtain knowledge thereof, of any request by the SEC for amendments or 
supplements to any Registration Statement or the prospectus included therein or for additional information; (iii) after it shall have 
received notice or obtained knowledge thereof, of the issuance by the SEC of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of any 
Registration Statement or the initiation of any proceedings for such purpose; (iv) of the receipt by DIH of any notification with respect 
to the suspension of the qualification of the Shares included therein for sale in any jurisdiction or the initiation or threatening of any 
proceeding for such purpose; and (v) subject to the provisions in this Subscription Agreement, of the occurrence of any event that 
requires the making of any changes in any Registration Statement or prospectus so that, as of such date, the statements therein do not 
include any untrue statements of a material fact and do not omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make 
the statements therein (in the case of a prospectus, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading. Upon 
receipt of any written notice from DIH (which notice shall not 

 
 
 



contain any material non-public information and which notice shall not be subject to any duty of confidentiality) of the happening of any 
of the foregoing or of a Suspension Event during the
period that the Registration Statement is effective or if as a result of a Suspension Event the Registration Statement or related prospectus 
contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the 
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made (in the case of the prospectus) not misleading, the Investor 
agrees that it will promptly discontinue offers and sales of the Shares under the Registration Statement (excluding, for the avoidance of 
doubt, sales conducted pursuant to Rule 144 or the consummation of any sale pursuant to a contract entered into, or order placed, by the 
Investor prior to receipt of notice described in this sentence) until the Investor receives copies of a supplemental or amended prospectus 
(which DIH agrees to promptly prepare) that corrects the misstatement( s) or omission(s) referred to above and receives notice that any 
post-effective amendment has become effective or unless otherwise notified by DIH that it may resume such offers and sales (which
notice shall not contain any material non-public information and which notice shall not be subject to any duty of confidentiality). Upon 
the occurrence of any event contemplated in clauses (i) through (v) above, except for such times as DIH is permitted hereunder to 
suspend, and has suspended, the use of a prospectus forming part of a Registration Statement, DIH shall use its best efforts to as soon as 
reasonably practicable prepare a post-effective amendment to such Registration Statement or a supplement to the related prospectus, or 
file any other required document so that, as thereafter delivered to purchasers of the Shares included therein, such prospectus will not 
include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of 
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. The Investor may deliver written notice (an "Opt-Out Notice") to DIH 
requesting that the Investor not receive notices from DIH otherwise required by this Section 8(h); provided, however, that the Investor 
may later revoke any such Opt-Out Notice in writing. Following receipt of an Opt-Out Notice from the Investor (unless subsequently 
revoked), (i) DIH shall not deliver any such notices to the Investor and the Investor shall no longer be entitled to the rights associated 
with any such notice and (ii) the Investor will notify DIH in writing at least two (2) business days in advance of each intended use of an 
effective Registration Statement, and if a notice of a Suspension Event (as defined below) was previously delivered (or would have been 
delivered but for the provisions of this Section 8(h)) and the related suspension period remains in effect, DIH will so notify Investor, 
within one (1) business day of the Investor's notification to DIH, by delivering to the Investor a copy of such previous notice of 
Suspension Event, and thereafter will provide the Investor with the related notice of the conclusion of such Suspension Event promptly 
following its availability.

 
i. For purposes of this Section 8 only, "Shares" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the Shares and DIH 

warrants beneficially owned by the Investor and any other equity security issued or issuable with respect to such Shares and DIH 
warrants, including by way of share split, dividend, distribution, recapitalization, merger, exchange, replacement or similar event, 
"Investor" shall include the person to whom the Investor has duly assigned its rights pursuant to the terms of this Subscription 
Agreement.

 
j. DIH shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Investor (to the extent a seller under the Registration 

Statement) and its officers, directors, agents, partners, members, stockholders, affiliates, managers, investment advisers and employees, 
and each person who controls the Investor (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act or Section 20 of the Exchange Act), 
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs (including, 
without limitation, reasonable external attorneys' fees and expenses incurred in connection with defending or investigating any such 
action or claim) and expenses (collectively, "Losses"), as incurred, that arise out of, are based upon, or result from (i) any untrue or 
alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement, any prospectus included in the Registration 
Statement or any form of prospectus or in any amendment or supplement thereto or in any preliminary prospectus, or relating to any 
omission or alleged omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of 
any prospectus or form of prospectus or supplement thereto, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made) not 
misleading, or (ii) any violation or alleged violation by DIH of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act or any state securities law or any 
rule or regulation thereunder, in connection with the performance of its obligations under this Section 8; provided, however, that the 
indemnification contained in this Section 8(j) shall not apply to amounts paid in settlement of any Losses if such settlement is effected 
without the consent of DIH (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed); provided, further, that DIH 
shall not be liable for any Losses to the extent they arise out of, are based upon, or result from a violation which occurs (A) in 
connection with any failure of the Investor to deliver or cause to be delivered a prospectus made available by DIH in a timely manner, 
(B) as a result of offers or sales effected by or on behalf of the Investor by means of a "free 

 
 
 



writing prospectus" (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) that was not authorized in writing by DIH, or (C) in connection 
with any offers or sales effected by or on behalf of such Investor in violation of Section 8(g) hereofafter having received notice as set 
forth in Section 8(h). DIH shall notify the Investor promptly of the institution,
threat or assertion of any proceeding arising from or in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Section of which DIH is 

aware. Such indemnity shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by
or on behalf of an indemnified party and shall survive the transfer of the Shares by the Investor.

 
k. The Investor shall, severally and not jointly with any Other Investor, indemnify and hold harmless DIH, its 

directors, officers, agents and employees, and each person who controls DIH (within the meaning of Section 15 of the Securities Act and 
Section 20 of the Exchange Act), to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, from and against all Losses, as incurred, that arise out 
of, are based upon, or result from any untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement, any prospectus 
included in the Registration Statement, or any form of prospectus, or in any amendment or supplement thereto or in any preliminary 
prospectus, or any omission of a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of 
any prospectus, or any form of prospectus or supplement thereto, in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not 
misleading, but only to the extent that such untrue statement or omission is contained in any information or affidavit furnished in writing 
to DIH by such Investor expressly for use therein; provided, however, that the indemnification contained in this Section 8(k) shall not 
apply to amounts paid in settlement of any Losses if such settlement is effected without the consent of such Investor (which consent 
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). In no event shall the liability of such Investor be greater in amount than the 
dollar amount of the net proceeds received by such Investor upon the sale of the Shares giving rise to such indemnification obligation. 
Investor shall notify DIH promptly of the institution, threat or assertion of any proceeding arising from or in connection with the 
transactions contemplated by this Section 8 of which such Investor is aware, provided that a failure by Investor to provide such notice 
shall not impact Investor's right to be indemnified hereunder unless DIH is actually prejudiced thereby. Such indemnity shall remain in 
full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of an indemnified party and shall survive the transfer of the 
Shares by Investor.

 
I. If the indemnification provided under this Section 8 from the indemnifying party is unavailable or insufficient 

to hold harmless an indemnified party in respect of any Losses, then the indemnifying party, in lieu of indemnifying the indemnified 
party, shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by the indemnified party as a result of such Losses in such proportion as is 
appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the indemnifying party and the indemnified party, as well as any other relevant equitable 
considerations. The relative fault of the indemnifying party and indemnified party shall be determined by reference to, among other 
things, whether any action in question, including any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or omission or alleged 
omission to state a material fact, was made by, or relates to information supplied by, such indemnifying party or indemnified party, and 
the indemnifying party's and indemnified party's relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent 
such action. The amount paid or payable by a party as a result of the losses or other liabilities referred to above shall be deemed to 
include, subject to the limitations set forth in this Section 8, any legal or other fees, charges or expenses reasonably incurred by such 
party in connection with any investigation or proceeding. No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of 
Section l l(t) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution pursuant to this Section 8 from any person who was not guilty of 
such fraudulent misrepresentation. Each indemnifying party's obligation to make a contribution pursuant to this Section 8(1) shall be 
several, and not joint with any Other Investor, and in no event shall the liability of Investor hereunder be greater in amount than the 
dollar amount of the net proceeds received by such Investor upon the sale of the Shares giving rise to such indemnification obligation.

 
9. Termination. This Subscription Agreement shall terminate and be void and ofno further force and effect, and all rights 

and obligations of the parties hereunder shall terminate without any further liability on the part of any party in respect thereof: (x) upon 
the mutual written agreement of each of the parties hereto to terminate this Subscription Agreement or (y) if any of the conditions to 
Closing set forth in Section 3 of this Subscription Agreement are not satisfied or waived, or are not capable of being satisfied, on or 
prior to the Closing and, as a result thereof, the transactions contemplated by this Subscription Agreement will not be and are not 
consummated at the Closing; provided that nothing herein will relieve any party from liability for any willful breach hereof prior to the 
time of termination, and each party will be entitled to any remedies at law or in equity to recover reasonable and documented losses, 
liabilities or damages arising from any such breach. Upon the occurrence of any event described in clause (x) 

 
 
 



or (y) above, except for the proviso in the first sentence of this Section 9, this Subscription Agreement shall be void and ofno further 
effect and any monies paid by the Investor to DIH in connection herewith shall promptly (and in any event within one business day) 
following such termination event be returned to the Investor by wire transfer of U.S.
dollars in immediately available funds to the account specified by Investor, without any deduction for or on account of any tax 
withholding, charges or set-off.

 
10. [RESERVED]

 
11. Miscellaneous.

 
a. Neither this Subscription Agreement nor any rights that may accrue to the Investor (other than the Shares 

acquired hereunder, if any, and the rights set forth in Section 8) or DIH hereunder may be transferred or assigned without the prior 
written consent of each of the other parties hereto, other than an assignment by the Investor to any fund or account managed or advised 
by the same general partner, managing member or investment manager as the Investor or an affiliate thereof, subject to, if such transfer 
or assignment is prior to the Closing Date, such transferee or assignee, as applicable, executing a joinder to this Subscription Agreement 
or a separate subscription agreement in substantially the same form as this Subscription Agreement, including with respect to the 
Subscription Amount and other terms and conditions.

 
b. DIH may request from the Investor such additional information as DIH may deem in good faith reasonably

necessary to evaluate the eligibility of the Investor to acquire the Shares, and the Investor shall promptly provide such information as 
may reasonably be requested to the extent readily available and to the extent consistent with its internal policies and procedures; 
provided, that, DIH agrees to keep any such information provided by the Investor confidential. The Investor acknowledges that DIH 
may file a copy of the form of this Subscription Agreement with the SEC as an exhibit to a periodic report ofDIH or a registration 
statement ofDIH.

 
c. The Investor acknowledges that DIH, and others will rely on the acknowledgments, understandings, 

agreements, representations and warranties contained in this Subscription Agreement. Prior to the Closing, the Investor agrees to 
promptly notify DIH if any of the acknowledgments, understandings, agreements, representations and warranties set forth herein are no 
longer accurate in any material respect (other than those acknowledgments, understandings, agreements, representations and warranties 
qualified by materiality, in which case the Investor shall notify DIH if they are no longer accurate in all respects).

 
d. DIH and the Investor are each entitled to rely on this Subscription Agreement and are each irrevocably 

authorized to produce this Subscription Agreement or a copy hereof to any interested party in any administrative or legal proceeding or 
official inquiry with respect to the matters covered hereby.

 
e. All of the agreements, representations and warranties made by each party hereto in this Subscription Agreement 

shall survive the Closing, in each case, until the expiration of any applicable statute of limitations under applicable law.
 

f. This Subscription Agreement may not be modified, waived or terminated (other than pursuant to the terms of 
Section 9 hereto) except by an instrument in writing, signed by DIH; provided, however, that this Subscription Agreement may not be 
modified or waived without the prior written consent oflnvestor unless such modification or waiver does not modify or waive the 
Subscription Amount or the Per Share Purchase Price therefor. No failure or delay of either party in exercising any right or remedy 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or 
discontinuance of steps to enforce such right or power, or any course of conduct, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the 
exercise of any other right or power. The rights and remedies of the parties hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights 
or remedies that they would otherwise have hereunder.

 
g. This Subscription Agreement (including the schedule hereto) constitutes the entire agreement, and supersedes 

all other prior agreements, understandings, representations and warranties, both written and oral, among the parties, with respect to the
subject matter hereof. Except as otherwise set forth herein, this Subscription Agreement shall not confer any rights or remedies upon 
any person other than the parties hereto and their respective 

 
 
 



successors and assigns.
h. Except as otherwise provided herein, this Subscription Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the 

benefit of the parties hereto and their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, legal representatives and permitted assigns, and the 
agreements, representations, warranties, covenants and acknowledgments contained herein shall be deemed to be made by, and be 
binding upon, such heirs, executors, administrators, successors, legal representatives and permitted assigns.

 
i. If any provision of this Subscription Agreement shall be adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 

invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Subscription Agreement shall 
not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and shall continue in full force and effect so long as this Subscription Agreement as so 
modified continues to express, without material change, the original intentions of the parties as to the subject matter hereof and the 
prohibited nature, invalidity or unenforceability of the provision(s) in question does not substantially impair the respective expectations 
or reciprocal obligations of the parties or the practical realization of the benefits that would otherwise be conferred upon the parties. The 
parties will endeavor in good faith negotiations to replace the prohibited, invalid or unenforceable provision(s) with a valid provision(s), 
the effect of which comes as close as possible to that of the prohibited, invalid or unenforceable provision(s).

 
j. This Subscription Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or any other 

form of electronic delivery (including .pdf or any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., 
www.docusign.com or other transmission method)) and by different parties in separate counterparts, with the same effect as if all parties 
hereto had signed the same document. All counterparts so executed and delivered shall be construed together and shall constitute one 
and the same agreement.

 
k. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur in the event that any of the provisions of this 

Subscription Agreement were not performed in accordance with their specific terms or were otherwise breached. It is accordingly 
agreed that the parties shall be entitled to an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Subscription Agreement, without 
posting a bond or undertaking and without proof of damages, to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Subscription 
Agreement, this being in addition to any other remedy to which such party is entitled at law, in equity, in contract, in tort or otherwise. 
The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that DIH shall be entitled to specifically enforce the provisions of the Subscription 
Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.

 
I. This Subscription Agreement, and any claim or cause of action hereunder based upon, arising out of or related 

to this Subscription Agreement (whether based on law, in equity, in contract, in tort or any other theory) or the negotiation, execution,
performance or enforcement of this Subscription Agreement, shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of New York, without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of law thereof.

 
m. THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY SUBMIT TO THE EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK AND THE SUPREME COURT OF THE 
STATE OF NEW YORK AND THE FEDERAL COURTS OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA LOCATED IN THE STATE OF 
NEW YORK IN NEW YORK COUNTY IN RESPECT OF THE INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF THE PROVISIONS 
OF THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT AND THE DOCUMENTS REFERRED TO IN THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT 
AND IN RESPECT OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY, AND HEREBY WAIVE, AND AGREE NOT TO 
ASSERT, AS A DEFENSE IN ANY ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING FOR INTERPRETATION OR ENFORCEMENT HEREOF 
OR ANY SUCH DOCUMENT THAT IS NOT SUBJECT THERETO OR THAT SUCH ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING MAY 
NOT BE BROUGHT OR IS NOT MAINTAINABLE IN SAID COURTS OR THAT VENUE THEREOF MAY NOT BE 
APPROPRIATE OR THAT THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT OR ANY SUCH DOCUMENT MAY NOT BE ENFORCED IN 
OR BY SUCH COURTS, AND THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY AGREE THAT ALL CLAIMS WITH RESPECT TO 
SUCH ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING SHALL BE HEARD AND DETERMINED BY SUCH A NEW YORK STATE OR 
FEDERAL COURT. THE PARTIES HEREBY CONSENT TO AND GRANT ANY SUCH COURT JURISDICTION OVER THE 
PERSON OF SUCH PARTIES AND OVER THE SUBJECT MATTER OF 

 
 
 



SUCH DISPUTE AND AGREE THAT MAILING OF PROCESS OR OTHER PAPERS IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH ACTION, 
SUIT OR PROCEEDING IN THE MANNER PROVIDED IN SECTION l l(n) OF THIS
SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT OR IN SUCH OTHER MANNER AS MAY BE PERMITTED BY LAW SHALL BE VALID AND 
SUFFICIENT SERVICE THEREOF.

 
EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS 
SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE 
COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND 
UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY 
LITIGATION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT OR 
THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND
ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (I) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, 
EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO 
ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER; (II) SUCH PARTY UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF 
THE FOREGOING WAIVER; (III) SUCH PARTY MAKES THE FOREGOING WAIVER VOLUNTARILY AND (IV) SUCH PARTY 
HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL 
WAIYER AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION l l(m).

 
n. All notices, requests, demands, claims and other communications hereunder shall be in writing. Any notice, 

request, demand, claim, or other communication hereunder shall be deemed duly given (i) when delivered personally to the recipient; 
(ii) when sent by electronic mail, with no mail undeliverable or other rejection notice, on the date of transmission to such recipient; (iii) 
one business day after being sent to the recipient by reputable overnight courier service (charges prepaid); or (iv) five (5) business days 
after being mailed to the recipient by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested and postage prepaid, and, in each case,
addressed to the intended recipient at its address specified on the signature page hereof or to such electronic mail address or address as 
subsequently modified by written notice given in accordance with this Section 11(n).

 
All communications sent to DIH shall be sent to:

 
DIH Holding US, Inc.
77 Accord Park Drive; Suite D-1 Norwell, 
MA 02061
Attention: Jason Chen, Chief Executive Officer With a copy 
(which shall not constitute notice) to:
Loeb & Loeb LLP 345 
Park Avenue New York, 
NY 10154
Attention: Mitchell Nussbaum, Esq.

 
All communications sent to the Investor shall be sent to:

 
c/o OrbiMed Advisors LLC 
Attention: General Counsel
601 Lexington Avenue, 54th Floor New 
York, NY 10022
Email: legal@orbimed.com

Each of the parties hereto shall pay all of its own expenses in connection with this Subscription Agreement and the transactions 
contemplated hereby.

 
12. Disclosure. DIH shall, within two (2) business days of the date hereof, issue one or more press 

 
 
 



releases or furnish or file with the SEC a Current Report on Form 8-K (collectively, the "Disclosure Document") disclosing, to the 
extent not previously publicly disclosed, all material terms of the transactions contemplated hereby, all material terms of the this 
Subscription Agreement and any other material, non-public information that DIH or its
employees, agents or representatives has provided to the Investor or any of the Investor's affiliates, attorneys, agents or representatives at 
any time prior to the filing of the Disclosure Document. As of such filing of the Disclosure Document, the Investor and the Investor's 
affiliates, attorneys, agents or representatives shall not be in possession of any material, non-public information received from DIH or 
any of its officers, directors, employees, agents or representatives and the Investor shall no longer be subject to any confidentiality or 
similar obligations under any then current agreement, whether written or oral, with DIH or any of its affiliates in connection this 
Subscription Agreement. DIH understands and confirms that the Investor and the Investor's affiliates, attorneys, agents or 
representatives will rely on the foregoing representations and covenants in effecting transactions of securities in DIH. Notwithstanding 
the foregoing, DIH shall not publicly disclose the name of the Investor or any affiliate or investment adviser of the Investor to any 
person, or include the name of the Investor or any affiliate or investment adviser of the Investor (i) in any press release or marketing 
materials without the prior written consent (including by e-mail) of the Investor (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or 
conditioned), or (ii) or in any filing with the SEC or any regulatory agency or trading market, without the prior written consent 
(including by e-mail) of the Investor (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or conditioned), except as required by the 
federal securities laws, rules or regulations, and to the extent such disclosure is required by other laws, rules or regulations, at the 
request of the staff of the SEC or regulatory agency or under the regulations of any national securities exchange on which DIH's 
securities are listed for trading, in which case DIH shall provide the Investor with prior written notice (including by e-mail) of such 
disclosure, and shall reasonably consult with the Investor regarding such disclosure.

 
13. Non-Reliance and Exculpation. The Investor acknowledges that it is not relying upon, and has not relied upon, any 

statement, representation or warranty made by any person, firm or corporation (including, without limitation, DIH or any of its affiliates 
or any of its affiliates' control persons, officers, directors and employees), other than the SEC Documents and the statements, 
representations and warranties of DIH expressly contained in this Subscription Agreement, in making its investment or decision to 
invest in DIH. The Investor agrees that no person (including any such person's representatives, affiliates or any of its or their control 
persons, officers, directors or employees) that is not a party hereto shall be liable to the Investor pursuant to this Subscription Agreement 
related to the private placement of the Shares, the negotiation hereof or thereof or the subject matter hereof or thereof, or the 
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, including, without limitation, with respect to any action heretofore or hereafter taken or 
omitted to be taken by any of them in connection with the purchase of the Shares or with respect to any claim (whether in tort, contract 
or otherwise) for breach of this Subscription Agreement or in respect of any written or oral representations made or alleged to be made 
in connection herewith, as expressly provided herein, or for any actual or alleged inaccuracies, misstatements or omissions with respect 
to any information or materials of any kind furnished by any Non-Party Affiliate concerning DIH, any of their controlled affiliates, this 
Subscription Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. For purposes of this Subscription Agreement, "Non-Party Affiliates" 
means each former, current or future officer, director, employee, partner, member, manager, direct or indirect equityholder or affiliate 
ofDIH or any ofDIH's controlled affiliates or any family member of the foregoing.

 
14. Other Investors. For the avoidance of doubt, all obligations of the Investor hereunder are separate and several from the 

obligations of any other investor that may determine to commit to an investment in DIH. The decision of Investor to purchase the Shares 
pursuant to this Subscription Agreement has been made by Investor independently of any other investor or any other investor and 
independently of any information, materials, statements or opinions as to the business, affairs, operations, assets, properties, liabilities, 
results of operations, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of DIH or any of its subsidiaries which may have been made or 
given by any other investor or investor or by any agent or employee of any other investor or investor, and neither Investor nor any of its 
agents or employees shall have any liability to any other investor or investor (or any other person) relating to or arising from any such 
information, materials, statements or opinions. Nothing contained herein or in any other subscription agreement, and no action taken by 
Investor or other investors pursuant hereto or thereto, shall be deemed to constitute Investor or other investors as a partnership, an 
association, a joint venture or any other kind of entity, or create a presumption that Investor or other investors are in any way acting in 
concert or as a group with respect to such obligations or the transactions contemplated by this Subscription Agreement or any other 
subscription agreement. The Investor acknowledges that no other investor has acted as agent for Investor in connection with making its 
investment hereunder and no other investor will be acting as agent of Investor in connection with monitoring its investment in the 

 
 
 



Shares or enforcing its rights under this Subscription Agreement. The Investor shall be entitled to independently protect and enforce its 
rights, including without limitation the rights arising out of this Subscription Agreement, and it shall not be necessary for any other 
investor to be joined as an additional party in any proceeding for such purpose.

15. Stock Splits, etc. If any change in DIH's common stock shall occur between the date hereof and immediately prior to the 
Closing by reason of any reclassification, recapitalization, stock split (including reverse stock split) or combination, exchange or readjustment 
of shares, or any stock dividend, the number and type of Shares issued to the Investor and the Subscription Amount shall be appropriately 
adjusted to reflect such change.

 
[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF DIR has accepted this Subscription Agreement as of the date set forth below.

DIR HOLDING US, INC.
 
 

By /s/ Jason Chen	
Name: Jason Chen
Title:	 Chief Executive Officer

 
The undersigned is signing for the purpose of confirming its 
obligation under Section 3(c)(vi) of this Subscription 
Agreement:

 
ATAC SPONSOR, LLC

 
 
 
 
 
 

Date: February 8, 2024
By:	 _ Name:
Title:

DocuSign Envelope ID: F4BD5FD8-3CB0-4BC9-9962-C9C91A24D5F4
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, DIH has accepted this Subscription Agreement as of the date set forth below.

DIH HOLDING US, INC.

 
By:	 _ Name: Jason Chen

 
 
 



Title:	 Chief Executive Officer

 
The undersigned is signing for the purpose of confirming its 
obligation under Section 3(c)(vi) of this Subscription 
Agreement:

 
ATAC SPONSOR, LLC

 
 

By:  /s/ Zachary Wang	  Name: Zachary 
Wang
Title: Manager

Date:  February 8, 2024
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the lnvestor bas executed or caused this Subscription Agreement to be executed by its duly 
authorized representative as of the date set fo1th below.

 
ORBIMED ASIA PAR1NERS 11, L.P.	 Domicile: Cayman Islands By: OrbiMed Asia GP II, L.P., its 
General Partner
By: OrbiMed Advisors I1 Limited, its General Partner
 
By: /s/ David G. Wang
Name: David G. Wang
Title: Director

Date: Februruy 	 	 2024

Investor’s EIN: 98-1125517

 
Business & Mailing Address:

 
c/o OrbiMed Advisors LLC Attention: 
General Counsel
601 Lexington Avenue, 54th Floor  New 

York, NY I 0022
 
 
 



Email: Legal@OrbiMed.com Phone: +l 
(212) 739-6400

 

 
Number of Shares subscribed for: 150 000

 
Aggregate Subscription Amount: $1,500,000 U D	 Price Per Share: $ 10
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SCHEDULE A

 
ELIGIBILITY REPRESENTATIONS OF THE INVESTOR

 
A. QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER STATUS

(Please check the applicable subparagraphs):
 

□x We are a "qualified institutional buyer" (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act (a "QIB")).
 

**OR**
 

B. INSTITUTIONAL ACCREDITED INVESTOR STATUS
(Please check the applicable subparagraphs):

 
1. □X	 We are an "accredited investor" within the meaning of Rule 50l(a)(l), (2), (3) or (7) under the Securities Act, and 

have marked and initialed the appropriate box below indicating the provision under which we qualify as an "accredited 
investor."

2. □ We are not a natural person.
 

Rule 50l(a), in relevant part, states that an "accredited investor" shall mean any person who comes within any of the below listed 
categories, or who the issuer reasonably believes comes within any of the below listed categories, at the time of the sale of the securities 
to that person. The Investor has indicated, by marking and initialing the appropriate box below, the provision(s) below which apply to 
the Investor and under which the Investor accordingly qualifies as an "accredited investor."

□ Any bank, registered broker or dealer, insurance company, registered investment company, business 
 
 
 



development company, or small business investment company;
 

□ Any plan established and maintained by a state, its political subdivisions, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or its 
political subdivisions for the benefit of its employees, if such plan has total assets in excess of$5,000,000;

 
□ Any employee benefit plan, within the meaning of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, if a bank, 
insurance company, or registered investment adviser makes the investment decisions, or if the plan has total assets in excess 
of$5,000,000;

 
□X	 Any organization described in Section 50l(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, corporation, limited liability company, 
similar business trust, or partnership, not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring the securities offered, with total assets 
in excess of $5,000,000;

□ Any trust with assets in excess of$5,000,000, not formed to acquire the securities offered, whose purchase is 
directed by a sophisticated person; or

 
□ Any entity in which all of the equity owners are accredited investors meeting one or more of the above tests.

 
**AND**

 
C. INSTITUTIONAL ACCOUNTS STATUS

□X	 We or the investment adviser that has been delegated decision-making authority over our account are an "institutional account" (as 
defined in FINRA RULE 4512(c)).

 
This page should be completed by the Investor and 

constitutes a part of the Subscription Agreement.
 
 
 



EXHIBIT 21

 

Subsidiaries of DIH Holding US, Inc

 

Legal Entities State or Country of Incorporation or Organization
   

DIH Holding US, Inc. Delaware
DIH Holding US, Inc. Nevada
DIH US Corp. Delaware
DIH Technology, Inc. Delaware
DIH PTE. LTD. Singapore
DIH Technology d.o.o. Slovenia
DIH S.p.a. Chile
DIH GmbH Germany
Hocoma Medical GmbH Switzerland

 



 

Exhibit 24.1

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Jason Chen and Lyndon Bass, and each of them, any of whom may act 
without joinder of the other, the individual’s true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for the person 
and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign the Annual Report on Form 10-K and any or all amendments thereto, and all other 
documents in connection therewith to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of 
them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all 
intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact as agents or any of them, or 
their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. This Power of Attorney may be signed in any number of counterparts, 
each of which shall constitute an original and all of which, taken together, shall constitute one Power of Attorney.

​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​ ​

​  Signature  Title  Date
​
By

​
/s/Jason Chen

​ ​
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

​ ​
June 24, 2024

​ ​ Jason Chen ​ (Principal Executive Officer) ​ ​
​
By

​
/s/Lynden Bass

​ ​
Chief Financial Officer and Director

​ ​
June 24, 2024

​ ​ Lynden Bass ​ (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) ​ ​
​
By

​
/s/Dr. Patrick Bruno

​ ​
Chief Marketing Officer and Director

​ ​
June 24, 2024

​ ​ Dr. Patrick Bruno ​   ​ ​
​
By

​
/s/Max Baucus

​ ​
Director

​ ​
June 24, 2024

​ ​ Max Baucus ​ ​ ​ ​
​
By

​
/s/F. Samuel Eberts II

​ ​
Director

​ ​
June 24, 2024

​ ​ F. Samuel Eberts III ​ ​ ​ ​
​
By

​
/s/Ken Ludlum

​ ​
Director

​ ​
June 24, 2024

​ ​ Ken Ludlum ​ ​ ​ ​
​
By

​
/s/Cathryn Chen

​ ​
Director

​ ​
June 24, 2024

​ ​ Cathryn Chen ​ ​ ​ ​
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Jason Chen, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of DIH Holding US, Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2024;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date: July 15, 2024  By: /s/ Jason Chen
   Jason Chen
   Chief Executive Officer

 
 



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Lynden Bass, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of DIH Holding US, Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2024;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the 
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this 
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to 
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent 
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to 
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal 
control over financial reporting.

 
Date: July 15, 2024  By: /s/ Lynden Bass
   Lynden Bass
   Chief Financial Officer
 

 



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of DIH Holding US, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Jason Chen, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) of the 
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 
Company.

 
Date: July 15, 2024  By: /s/ Jason Chen
   Jason Chen
   Chief Executive Officer
 

 



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of DIH Holding US, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2024, as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Lynden Bass, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) of the 
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 
Company.

 
Date: July 15, 2024  By: /s/ Lynden Bass
   Lynden Bass
   Chief Financial Officer

 
 




